REGULATION IN FORCE FROM MAY 5, 2015 TO NOVEMBER 16, 2015

Last amendment in force on May 5, 2015
This document has official status

chapter V-1.1,r. 21

REGULATION 45-106 RESPECTING PROSPECTUS EXEMPTIONS

M.O. 2009-05, Title; M.O. 2015-05, s. 1. Q<O

Securities Act A
NO

(chapter V-1.1, s. 331.1)

X0 2.5, 2.7t0 2.21, 2.24,
102 respecting Resale of
s do not form part of this

Text boxes in this Regulation located above sections
2.26, 2.27, and 2.30 to 2.43 refer to Regulatio
Securities (chapter V-1.1, r. 20). These tex

Regulation and have no official status. O

PART 1 DEFINITIONS AND INTERPR@TION
1.1. Definitions (19
In this Regulation \\6 K
“accredited investor” ns
(@) exceptin @rio, a Canadian financial institution, or a Schedule Ill bank;

(b) exg n Ontario, the Business Development Bank of Canada
incorporatedé r the Business Development Bank of Canada Act (S.C., 1995, c. 28);
c

(c ept in Ontario, a subsidiary of any person referred to in paragraphs (a)
or (b), ik person owns all of the voting securities of the subsidiary, except the voting
sec& required by law to be owned by directors of that subsidiary;

% (d)  except in Ontario, a person registered under the securities legislation of a
}u isdiction of Canada as an adviser or dealer;

(e) an individual registered under the securities legislation of a jurisdiction of
Canada as a representative of a person referred to in paragraph (d);
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(e.1) an individual formerly registered under the securities legislation of a
jurisdiction of Canada, other than an individual formerly registered solely as a
representative of a limited market dealer under one or both of the Securities Act
(R.S.0., 1990, chapter S.5) of Ontario or the Securities Act (R.S.N.L., 1990,
chapter S-13) of Newfoundland and Labrador,

() except in Ontario, the Government of Canada or a jurisdiction of Cana
or any crown corporation, agency or wholly owned entity of the Government of C
or a jurisdiction of Canada; q/

(@)  except in Ontario, a municipality, public board or commissi rQy‘Canada
and a metropolitan community, school board, the Comité de gestion de la taxe scolaire
de Ile de Montréal or an intermunicipal management board in Québ%

(h) except in Ontario, any national, federal, state, cial, territorial or
municipal government of or in any foreign jurisdiction, ny agency of that

government; A

(1) except in Ontario, a pension fund tha Qulated by the Office of the
Superintendent of Financial Institutions (Canad enS|on commission or similar
regulatory authority of a jurisdiction of Canada

() an individual who, either a;@ or with a spouse, beneficially owns
financial assets having an aggregate re le value that, before taxes but net of any
related liabilities, exceeds $1,000,000;

(.1) an individual who \g@ually owns financial assets having an aggregate
realizable value that, before ta ut net of any related liabilities, exceeds $5 000 000;

of the 2 most recent ¢ ar years or whose net income before taxes combined with
that of a spouse ex d $300,000 in each of the 2 most recent calendar years and
who, in either c asonably expects to exceed that net income level in the current
calendar year;

(k) an individu %§ $ se net income before taxes exceeded $200,000 in each

)] C%individual who, either alone or with a spouse, has net assets of at
least $ ,000;

(m) a person, other than an individual or investment fund, that has net assets
%t least $5,000,000 as shown on its most recently prepared financial statements;

N

(n)  aninvestment fund that distributes or has distributed its securities only to

0] a person that is or was an accredited investor at the time of the
distribution;

Regulation 45-106 May 5, 2015 PAGE 2



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM MAY 5, 2015 TO NOVEMBER 16, 2015

(i) a person that acquires or acquired securities in the circumstances
referred to in sections 2.10 [Minimum amount investment], or 2.19 [Additional
investment in investment funds], or

(i)  a person described in paragraph (i) or (ii) that acquires or acquired
securities under section 2.18 [Investment fund reinvestment];

(o) an investment fund that distributes or has distributed securities ur@;
prospectus in a jurisdiction of Canada for which the regulator or, in Que
securities regulatory authority, has issued a receipt;

«

(p)  a trust company or trust corporation registered or authorigzedMo carry on
business under the Trust and Loan Companies Act (S.C. 199 @5) or under
comparable legislation in a jurisdiction of Canada or a foreign py¥gtction, acting on
behalf of a fully managed account managed by the trust comp trust corporation,

as the case may be; Q/

person, if that person is registered or authorized to n business as an adviser or
the equivalent under the securities legislation of guNsdiction of Canada or a foreign

jurisdiction; &

n a registered charity under thfé@:ome Tax Act (R.S.C. 1985, c. 1 (5th
Supp.)) that, in regard to the trade, has ed advice from an eligibility adviser or an
adviser registered under the securitie Islation of the jurisdiction of the registered

charity to give advice on the securit'esb‘e ng traded;

(@) a person acting on behalf of a fully m@account managed by that

(s) an entity organiz a foreign jurisdiction that is analogous to any of the
entities referred to in paragra a) to (d) or paragraph (i) in form and function;

(® a person %&spect of which all of the owners of interests, direct, indirect
or beneficial, except oting securities required by law to be owned by directors, are
persons that are ited investors;

(u) @nvestment fund that is advised by a person registered as an adviser or
a person g@ exempt from registration as an adviser, or

a person that is recognized or designated by the securities regulatory
agt&nty or, except in Ontario and Québec, the regulator as an accredited investor;

(w) a trust established by an accredited investor for the benefit of the
accredited investor’s family members of which a majority of the trustees are accredited
investors and all of the beneficiaries are the accredited investor's spouse, a former
spouse of the accredited investor or a parent, grandparent, brother, sister, child or
grandchild of that accredited investor, of that accredited investor’s spouse or of that
accredited investor’s former spouse;
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“acquisition date” has the same meaning as in the issuer's GAAP;
“‘AlF” means

(@ an AlF as defined in Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Obligations
(chapter V-1.1, r. 24); QJ

(b) a prospectus filed in a jurisdiction, other than a prospectus filed @@er a
CPC instrument, if the issuer has not filed or been required to file an AIF or ual
financial statements under Regulation 51-102 respecting Contlnuou& isclosure
Obligations, or

financial statements under Regulation 51-102 respecting nuous Disclosure

(c) a QT circular if the issuer has not filed or been rg to file annual

Obligations subsequent to filing a QT circular; Q/
“asset pool” means a pool of cash-flow generatin ts in which an issuer of a
securitized product has a direct or indirect ownership urity interest;

“asset transaction” means a transactio @enes of transactions in which a
conduit acquires a direct or indirect ownersg security interest in an asset pool in

connection with issuing a short-term securit roduct;

“bank” means a bank nﬁ’@d in Schedule | or Il of the Bank Act
(S.C. 1991, c. 46); QJ

“Canadian financial insti " means

(@ an associ % verned by the Cooperative Credit Associations Act
(S.C. 1991, c. 48) or tral cooperative credit society for which an order has been
made under section ) of that Act, or

(b) a Qn , loan corporation, trust company, trust corporation, insurance
company, tr y branch, credit union, caisse populaire, financial services cooperative,
or league ayp,'In each case, is authorized by an enactment of Canada or a jurisdiction
of Can Qﬁo carry on business in Canada or a jurisdiction of Canada,

Q “conduit” means an issuer of a short-term securitized product
\E (@) created to conduct one or more asset transactions, and
(b) in respect of which it is reasonable for the issuer to expect that, in the

event of a bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding under the Bankruptcy and Insolvency
Act (R.S.C. 1985, c. B-3), the Companies Creditors’ Arrangement Act (R.S.C. 1985,
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c. C-36) or a proceeding under similar legislation in Canada, a jurisdiction of Canada or
a foreign jurisdiction,

0] none of the assets in an asset pool of the issuer in which the issuer
has an ownership interest will be consolidated with the assets of a third party that
transferred or participated in the transfer of assets to the issuer prior to satisfaction in
full of all securitized products that are backed in whole or in part by the ass%
transferred by the third party, or '\Q

(i) for the assets in an asset pool of the issuer in which the issUr has
a security interest, the issuer will realize against the assets in that asset g\ ™ priority
to the claims of other persons;

“CPC instrument” means a rule, regulation or policy @e TSX Venture
Q

Exchange Inc. that applies only to capital pool companies, an uebec, includes
Policy Statement 41-601Q, Capital Pool Companies sion 2011-C-0209,

2011-12-14); Q

“credit enhancement” means a method used t@ce the credit risk of a series
or class of securitized product;

“debt security” means any bond, nture note or similar instrument
representing indebtedness, whether secure nsecured

“designated rating” has the san@eaning as in Regulation 81-102 respecting
Investment Funds (chapter V-1.1, r@g)ﬂ

“designated rating orga ion” has the same meaning as in Regulation 81-102
respecting Investment Fund %

“director” means@

@ a r of the board of directors of a company or an individual who
performs similarsgdn tlons for a company, and

(b th respect to a person that is not a company, an individual who performs
functlo llar to those of a director of a company;

“DRO affiliate” has the same meaning as in section 1 of Regulation 25-101
@wecting Designated Rating Organizations (chapter V-1.1, r. 8.1);

N

“eligibility adviser” means

(@) a person that is registered as an investment dealer and authorized to give
advice with respect to the type of security being distributed, and
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(b) in Saskatchewan or Manitoba, also means a lawyer who is a practicing
member in good standing with a law society of a jurisdiction of Canada or a public
accountant who is a member in good standing of an institute or association of chartered
accountants, certified general accountants or certified management accountants in a
jurisdiction of Canada provided that the lawyer or public accountant must not

(1) have a professional, business or personal relationship with QS
issuer, or any of its directors, executive officers, founders, or control persons, and '\Q

(i) have acted for or been retained personally or otherwise ¥s an
employee, executive officer, director, associate or partner of a person that acted for
or been retained by the issuer or any of its directors, executive officgrs, Younders or
control persons within the previous 12 months; &

“eligible investor” means

(@) aperson whose AQ/Q

(1) net assets, alone or with a spo@ the case of an individual,
exceed $400,000,

(i) net income before taxes f&seded $75,000 in each of the 2 most
recent calendar years and who reasonably@ects to exceed that income level in the
current calendar year, or Q

(i)  netincome bef%n(z}{es, alone or with a spouse, in the case of an
individual, exceeded $125,000 inj e of the 2 most recent calendar years and who
reasonably expects to exceed %a\ income level in the current calendar year,

(b)  a person of %a majority of the voting securities are beneficially owned
by eligible investors or &jority of the directors are eligible investors,

(© ag partnership of which all of the partners are eligible investors,

(d) @mited partnership of which the majority of the general partners are
S,

eligible inysty
&

a trust or estate in which all of the beneficiaries or a majority of the

trSQes or executors are eligible investors,

() an accredited investor,

(g0 a person described in section 2.5 [Family, friends and business
associates], or
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(h) a person that has obtained advice regarding the suitability of the
investment and, if the person is resident in a jurisdiction of Canada, that advice has
been obtained from an eligibility adviser;

“executive officer” means, for an issuer, an individual who is

(@) a chair, vice-chair or president, QJ

(b) a vice-president in charge of a principal business unit, division orqﬁstlon
including sales, finance or production, or

©°
(c) performing a policy-making function in respect of the issuaE otker than the

individuals referred to in subparagraphs (a) to (c); Q/
“financial assets” means \&%
€) cash, AQ/

(b) securities, or éo

(© a contract of insurance, a deposit&@evidence of a deposit that is not a
security for the purposes of securities Iegislat%;

“financial statements” includes inte@\nancial reports;

“founder” means, in respect %Sr?{suer, a person who,

(@) acting alone, in F)?}unction, or in concert with one or more persons,
directly or indirectly, take %8 initiative in founding, organizing or substantially

reorganizing the businesg 0ONNe issuer, and

(b) atthe ti@ f the distribution or trade is actively involved in the business of
the issuer;

“fully @ged account” means an account of a client for which a person makes
the invesjient”decisions if that person has full discretion to trade in securities for the
accou out requiring the client’s express consent to a transaction;

“Investment fund” has the same meaning as in Regulation 81-106 respecting
&stment Fund Continuous Disclosure (chapter V-1.1, r. 42);

“issuer's GAAP” has the same meaning as in Regulation 52-107 respecting
Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards (chapter V-1.1, r. 25);
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“liquidity provider” means a person that is obligated to provide funds to a conduit
to enable the conduit to pay principal or interest in respect of a maturing securitized
product;

“marketplace” has the same meaning as in Regulation 21-101 respecting
Marketplace Operation (chapter V-1.1, r. 5);

“MD&A” has the same meaning as in Regulation 51-102 respecting Conti;@?
Disclosure Obligations; q/

“non-redeemable investment fund” has the same mea iﬁb‘sas in
Regulation 81-106 respecting Investment Fund Continuous Disclosure;

“private enterprise” has the same meaning as in Part 3 ulation 52-107
respecting Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Stand

“publicly accountable enterprise” has the same&ing as in Part 3 of

Regulation 52-107 respecting Acceptable Accoun@ Principles and Auditing

Standards; é

“QT circular’ means an information circ&er filing statement in respect of a
gualifying transaction for a capital pool compayny ™Med under a CPC instrument;

“qualifying issuer” means a reportir@&uer in a jurisdiction of Canada that
@) is a SEDAR filer, QJ“

(b) has filed all dom@ﬁs required to be filed under the securities legislation

of that jurisdiction, and \&

(© if not requegMo file an AlF, has filed in the jurisdiction,

0] Qﬁ AIF for its most recently completed financial year for which
annual statemer&a e required to be filed, and

[ copies of all material incorporated by reference in the AIF not
previo wed;

Q “related liabilities” means

\E (@) liabilities incurred or assumed for the purpose of financing the acquisition
or ownership of financial assets, or

(b) liabilities that are secured by financial assets;
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“retrospective” has the same meaning as in Canadian GAAP applicable to
publicly accountable enterprises;

“retrospectively” has the same meaning as in Canadian GAAP applicable to
publicly accountable enterprises;

“‘RRIF” means a registered retirement income fund as defined in the Income T%
Act; '\Q

“RRSP” means a registered retirement savings plan as defined in the%ome
Tax Act; '\Q) .\

“Schedule Il bank” means an authorized foreign bank name QSchedule [l of
the Bank Act;

“securitized product” means a security that &

@) is governed by a trust indenture or similar @nent setting out the rights
and protections applicable to a holder of the security;

(b) provides a holder with a direct or ig@t ownership or security interest in
one or more asset pools, and <C)

(c) entitles a holder to one or n@ ayments of principal or interest primarily
obtained from one or more of the followtn

(1) the proceediﬁoqn? ﬂ1e distribution of securitized products;

(i) the ca@ generated by one or more asset pools;

@iy  th eeds obtained on the liquidation of one or more assets in

one or more asset 5(@

“SEDAR \%r means an issuer that is an electronic filer under Regulation 13-101
respecting t ystem for Electronic Document Analysis and Retrieval (SEDAR)

(chapteré .r. 2);
@ -directed RESP” means an educational savings plan registered under the

Igc%e Tax Act
\ (@) that is structured so that a contribution by a subscriber to the plan is
deposited directly into an account in the name of the subscriber, and

(b) under which the subscriber maintains control and direction over the plan to

direct how the assets of the plan are to be held, invested or reinvested subject to
compliance with the Income Tax Act;

Regulation 45-106 May 5, 2015 PAGE 9



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM MAY 5, 2015 TO NOVEMBER 16, 2015

“short-term securitized product” means a securitized product that is a negotiable
promissory note or commercial paper that matures not more than one year from the
date of issue;

“spouse” means, an individual who,
@) is married to another individual and is not living separate and apart'v\bﬁr?
er

the meaning of the Divorce Act (R.S.C. 1985, c. 3 (2nd Supp.)), from t
individual,

4
(b) is living with another individual in a marriage-like relation i{),\including a
marriage-like relationship between individuals of the same gender, or

(c) in Alberta, is an individual referred to in paragraph (b), or is an adult
interdependent partner within the meaning of the Adult Int ndent Relationships
Act (S.A. 2002, c. A-4.5); A

“subsidiary” means an issuer that is controlle&ctly or indirectly by another
issuer and includes a subsidiary of that subsidiary;

“TFSA” means a tax-free savings accoeg’t%e described in the Income Tax Act.

M.O. 2009-05, s. 1.1; M.O. 2010-17, S.Q"\/I.O. 2013-09, s. 1; M.O. 2015-05, s. 2;
M.O. 2015-06, s. 1.

1.2. Interpretation of indirect\'m@eﬂst
For the purposes of graph (t) of the definition of the expression “accredited

investor” in section 1.1, n W¥tish Columbia, an indirect interest means an economic
interest in the person r@bd to in that paragraph.

M.O. 2009-05, s. R &=M.O. 2015-05, s. 3.

1.3. Affilica)@

e purpose of this Regulation, an issuer is an affiliate of another issuer if

Q (@) one of them is the subsidiary of the other, or

\é (b)

M.O. 2009-05, s. 1.3.

each of them is controlled by the same person.
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1.4. Control

For the purpose of this Regulation, except in Parts 2, Division 4, a person (first
person) is considered to control another person (second person) if

(@) the first person beneficially owns or directly or indirectly exercises control
or direction over securities of the second person carrying votes which, if exerc
would entitle the first person to elect a majority of the directors of the second p &
unless that first person holds the voting securities only to secure an obligation,

(b) the second person is a partnership, other than a limited par,{(éys‘hlp and
the first person holds more than 50% of the interests of the partnership,

(c) the second person is a limited partnership and the | partner of the

limited partnership is the first person. §

M.O. 2009-05, s. 1.4; M.O. 2015-05, s. 4.

1.5. Registration requirement é

(1) An exemption in this Regulation that refer, &@ registered dealer is only available
for a trade in a security if the dealer is reglsé0 in a category that permits the trade

described in the exemption. ,\

(2)  (paragraphe repealed). (19

M.O. 2009-05, s. 1.5; M.O. 2015&5@3.

1.6. Definition of distrib@“— Manitoba

For the purpose@his Regulation, in Manitoba, “distribution” means a primary
distribution to the pul@

M.O. 2009-05, s? g
Dgg % of trade — Québec

r the purpose of this Regulation, in Québec, “trade” refers to any of the

gll&lng activities:

(@) the activities described in the definition of “dealer” in section 5 of the
Securltles Act (chapter V-1.1), including the following activities:

(1) the sale or disposition of a security by onerous title, whether the
terms of payment be on margin, installment or otherwise, but does not include a transfer
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or the giving in guarantee of securities in connection with a debt or the purchase of a
security, except as provided in paragraph (b);

(i) participation as a trader in any transaction in a security through the
facilities of an exchange or a quotation and trade reporting system;

(i)  the receipt by a registrant of an order to buy or sell a security; QJ

(b) a transfer or the giving in guarantee of securities of an issuer ksl/%st e
holdings of a control person in connection with a debt. Q)
\ 4

&
DIVISION 1 Capital Raising Exemptions A@@

M.O. 2009-05, s. 1.7.

PART 2 PROSPECTUS EXEMPTIONS

2.1. Rights offering O

Refer to Appendix E of Regulation 4 1@ respecting Resale of Securities
(chapter V-1.1, r. 20). First trades ar ct to a seasoning period on resale.
This text box does not form part of th& gulatlon and has no official status.

The prospectus requwemen@gs not apply to a distribution by an issuer of a
right granted by the issuer to p a security of its own issue to a security holder of
the issuer if

(@ the issuer en the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory
authority, prior written @ce stating the date, amount, nature and conditions of the
distribution, includi approximate net proceeds to be derived by the issuer on the
basis of the addit} ecurities being fully taken up,

(b)

@? regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority, has not
objected JAA\wpi

ng to the distribution within 10 days of receipt of the notice referred to in
paragr, a) or, if the regulator or securities regulatory authority objects to the
disty n, the issuer has delivered to the regulator or securities regulatory authority
infoNpation relating to the securities that is satisfactory to and accepted by the regulator
\é

curities regulatory authority, and

(c) the issuer has complied with the applicable requirements of
Regulation 45-101 respecting Rights Offerings (chapter V-1.1, r. 19).

M.O. 2009-05, s. 2.1.
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2.2. Reinvestment plan

Refer to Appendix E of Regulation 45-102 respecting Resale of Securities
(chapter V-1.1, r. 20). First trades are subject to a seasoning period on resale.
This text box does not form part of this Regulation and has no official status.

4
(1) The prospectus requirement does not apply to the following distributionsy by an

issuer, or by a trustee, custodian or administrator acting for or on behalf of the is3der, to
a security holder of the issuer if the distributions are permitted by a plan of& uer:

(@) a distribution of a security of the issuer's own iss Qﬁ dividend or
distribution out of earnings, surplus, capital or other sources pay. %n respect of the
issuer’s securities is applied to the purchase of the security, and

(b) a distribution of a security of the issuer’'s own gﬁe if the security holder
makes an optional cash payment to purchase the secur@ he issuer that trades on a

marketplace. %

(2)  Subsection (1) does not apply unless thg@egate number of securities issued
under the optional cash payment referred to ip sudsection (1)(b) does not exceed, in the
financial year of the issuer during which th zﬁtribution takes place, 2% of the issued
and outstanding securities of the class t(Qsh h the plan relates as at the beginning of
the financial year.

A
(3) A plan that permits a dist\r'\t:?a)n described in subsection (1)(a) or (b) must be
available to every security hoI§r~ Canada to which the dividend or distribution out of
earnings, surplus, capital o r sources is available.

(4) Subsection (1) not apply to a distribution of a security of an investment
fund.

(5) If the s cQty distributed under a plan described in subsection (1) is of a different
class or s than the class or series of the security to which the dividend or

distMuted under the plan or notice of a source from which the participant can obtain the
\ mation without charge.

M.O. 2009-05, s. 2.2.
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2.3. Accredited investor

Refer to Appendix D of Regulation 45-102 respecting Resale of Securities
(chapter V-1.1, r. 20). First trades are subject to a restricted period on resale.
This text box does not form part of this Regulation and has no official status.

{
QJ

(0.1) In this section, “accredited investor exemption” means qi\

(@) in a jurisdiction other than Ontario, the prospectus exeR@h under
subsection (1); and

(b) in Ontario, the prospectus exemption under subsecti é(;) of the
Securities Act (R.S.0., 1990, chapter S.5). %

(1) The prospectus requirement does not apply to a di tion of a security if the
purchaser purchases the security as principal and is an @' ited investor.

(2) For the purpose of the accredited investor ﬁption, a trust company or trust
corporation described in paragraph (p) of th @nition of “accredited investor” in
section 1.1 [Definitions] is deemed to be purc a;ﬁ?g as principal.

under the laws of Prince Edward Isla t is not registered or authorized under the
Trust and Loan Companies Act (Pﬁ; 91, c. 45) or under comparable legislation in
another jurisdiction of Canada. \\

(3)  Subsection (2) does not apply troﬁy&t company or trust corporation registered

4) For the purpose of tRe¥accredited investor exemption, a person described in
paragraph (q) of the de{{n of “accredited investor” in section 1.1 [Definitions] is
deemed to be purchagj principal.

(5) The accre nvestor exemption does not apply to a distribution of a security to
a person if th &s n was created, or is used, solely to purchase or hold securities as
i ipvestor described in paragraph (m) of the definition of “accredited
ion 1.1 [Definitions].

investor” j

(6) @e accredited investor exemption does not apply to a distribution of a security to
dividual described in paragraphs (j), (k) or (I) of the definition of “accredited
%stor” in section 1.1 [Definitions] unless the person distributing the security obtains
m the individual a signed risk acknowledgement in the required form at the same time

or before that individual signs the agreement to purchase the security.

(7) A person relying on the accredited investor exemption to distribute a security to
an individual described in paragraphs (j), (k) or (I) of the definition of “accredited
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investor” in section 1.1 [Definitions] must retain the signed risk acknowledgement
required in subsection (6) of this section for 8 years after the distribution.

(8)  Subsection (1) does not apply in Ontario.

M.O. 2009-05, s. 2.3; M.O. 2015-05, s. 6.

2.4. Private issuer Qb

N
v
Refer to Appendix E of Regulation 45-102 respecting Resale ,@%urities
(chapter V-1.1, r. 20). First trades are subject to a seasoning ggrio¥ on resale
This text box does not form part of this Regulation and has no fal status.

A_

(1) In this section, “private issuer” means an issuer Q/
(@) thatis not a reporting issuer or an mvestm@r
(b)  the securities of which, other than n060 vertlble debt securities,

0] are subject to restrictio transfer that are contained in the
issuer’s constating documents or security hg@s agreements, and

(i) are beneficially o y not more than 50 persons, not including
employees and former employee Jhe issuer or its affiliates, provided that each
person is counted as one bene ner unless the person is created or used solely
to purchase or hold securities |ssuer in which case each beneficial owner or each

beneficiary of the person, a@ case may be, must be counted as a separate beneficial

owner, and @
O

(c) that

) ;as distributed its securities only to persons described in
subsection

(i) has completed a transaction and immediately following the completion
of t nsaction, its securities were beneficially owned only by persons described in
sybMction (2) and since the completion of the transaction has distributed its securities

\é to persons described in subsection (2).

(2)  The prospectus requirement does not apply to a distribution of a security of a
private issuer to a person who purchases the security as principal and is

(@) a director, officer, employee, founder or control person of the issuer,
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(b) a director, officer or employee of an affiliate of the issuer,

(© a spouse, parent, grandparent, brother, sister, child or grandchild of a
director, executive officer, founder or control person of the issuer,

(d) a parent, grandparent, brother, sister, child or grandchild of the spouse of
a director, executive officer, founder or control person of the issuer, QJ

(e) a close personal friend of a director, executive officer, founder opﬁntrol

person of the issuer,
\

() a close business associate of a director, executive offj e'r,\founder or
control person of the issuer, @

(9) a spouse, parent, grandparent, brother, sister, cht grandchild of the
selling security holder or of the selling security holder’'s spousg,

(h)  asecurity holder of the issuer, A

0] an accredited investor, Os

() a person of which a majority of t e’Soting securities are beneficially owned
by, or a majority of the directors are, person& cribed in paragraphs (a) to (i),

(k) a trust or estate of whidﬁﬁ of the beneficiaries or a majority of the
trustees or executors are persons d%:q ed in paragraphs (a) to (i), or

()  apersonthatis r@e public.
(2.1) The following pero re prescribed for purposes of subsection 73.4(2) of the
Securities Act (R.S.O. @O chapter S.5) of Ontario:

(@) adi Qer officer, employee, founder or control person of the issuer,

(b) C)@irector, officer or employee of an affiliate of the issuer,

a spouse, parent, grandparent, brother, sister, child or grandchild of a
dire&t ecutive officer, founder or control person of the issuer,

(d) a parent, grandparent, brother, sister, child or grandchild of the spouse of
\ irector, executive officer, founder or control person of the issuer,

(e) a close personal friend of a director, executive officer, founder or control
person of the issuer,
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() a close business associate of a director, executive officer, founder or
control person of the issuer,

() a spouse, parent, grandparent, brother, sister, child or grandchild of the
selling security holder or of the selling security holder’s spouse,

(h) a security holder of the issuer, QQJ
0] an accredited investor, qi\
()] a person of which a majority of the voting securities are ben if@ly owned

by, or a majority of the directors are, persons described in paragraphs (g) to¥),

(k) a trust or estate of which all of the beneficiaries %;majority of the
trustees or executors are persons described in paragraphs (a) to&ar

)] a person that is not the public. AQ/

3) Except for a distribution to an accredited inve@o commission or finder’s fee
may be paid to any director, officer, founder or co erson of an issuer in connection
with a distribution under subsection (2) or, in g@o, a distribution under subsection
73.4(2) of the Securities Act. <C)

(4)  Subsection (2) does not apply Q distribution of a short-term securitized
product.

(5) Subsection (2) does not aqjy«a‘bntario.

M.O. 2009-05, s. 2.4; M.O.@k -05, s. 7; M.O. 2015-06, s. 2.

2.5.  Family, friends business associates

Refer to%Sendix D of Regulation 45-102 respecting Resale of Securities

(cha @-1.1, r. 20). First trades are subject to a restricted period on resale.
Tﬁe} box does not form part of this Regulation and has no official status.

( Q Except in Ontario, the prospectus requirement does not apply to a distribution of
\ curity to a person who purchases the security as principal and is

(@) adirector, executive officer or control person of the issuer, or of an affiliate
of the issuer,

(b) a spouse, parent, grandparent, brother, sister, child or grandchild of a
director, executive officer or control person of the issuer, or of an affiliate of the issuer,
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(c) a parent, grandparent, brother, sister, child or grandchild of the spouse of
a director, executive officer or control person of the issuer or of an affiliate of the issuer,

(d) a close personal friend of a director, executive officer or control person of
the issuer, or of an affiliate of the issuer,

(e) a close business associate of a director, executive officer or c’o\@
person of the issuer, or of an affiliate of the issuer, ‘]/

0] a founder of the issuer or a spouse, parent, grandparent, l?%n %, sister,
child, grandchild, close personal friend or close business associate of der of the

issuer,
(9) a parent, grandparent, brother, sister, child or gra %)faspouse of a
founder of the issuer,

(h)  a person of which a majority of the voting |es are beneficially owned
by, or a majority of the directors are, persons described\Mgaragraphs (a) to (g), or

(1) a trust or estate of which all o@eneflmanes or a majority of the

trustees or executors are persons described i % graphs (a) to (g).

control person of an issuer or an affili the issuer in connection with a distribution

(2) No commission or finder's fee ar‘?&'t}e paid to any director, officer, founder, or
under subsection (1). QJ“

or, in Ontario, a distribution I subsection 73.4(2) of the Securities Act (R.S.0. 1990,

c. S.5).
M.O. 2009-05, s. 2.5@2015-06, s. 3.

2.6. Family f‘én s and business associates — Saskatchewan

(3)  Subsection (1) does g&ﬁly to a distribution of a short-term securitized product

apply y {@os the person making the distribution obtains a signed risk acknowledgement
fror& rchaser in the required form for a distribution to

(1) In §€s’gﬁhewan, section 2.5 [Family, friends and business associates] does not

§ (@) a person described in section 2.5(1) (d) or (e) [Family, friends and
siness associates],

(b)  a close personal friend or close business associate of a founder of the
issuer, or
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(© a person described in section 2.5(1)(h) or (i) [Family, friends and business
associates] if the distribution is based in whole or in part on a close personal friendship
or close business association.

(2) The person making the distribution must retain the required form referred to in
subsection (1) for 8 years after the distribution.

(3)  Subsection (1) does not apply to a distribution of a short-term secu;i\%?g

product. q/

M.O. 2009-05, s. 2.6; M.O. 2015-06, s. 4. '\(b«

2.7. Founder, control person and family — Ontario &

Refer to Appendix D of Regulation 45-102 resp %l;&esale of Securities
(chapter V-1.1, r. 20). First trades are subject to a g icted period on resale.
This text box does not form part of this Regulatlo as no official status.

RS,

(2) In Ontario, the prospectus requwement @ not apply to a distribution to a
person who purchases the security as principgal is one of the following:

(@) afounder of the issuer; Q\

(b)  an affiliate of a foundeosf,the issuer;

(c) a spouse, pare “Pandparent, brother, sister, child or grandchild of an
executive officer, director o@er of the issuer;

(d) a person @s a control person of the issuer.

(2) Subsectio Q-)v does not apply to a distribution of a short-term securitized
product. Q

M.0. 200209 %. 2.7; M.O. 2015-06, s. 5.

2.8, @flliates

é Refer to Appendix D of Regulation 45-102 respecting Resale of Securities
\ (chapter V-1.1, r. 20). First trades are subject to a restricted period on resale.
This text box does not form part of this Regulation and has no official status.
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The prospectus requirement does not apply to a distribution by an issuer of a
security of its own issue to an affiliate of the issuer that is purchasing as principal.

M.O. 2009-05, s. 2.8.

2.9. Offering memorandum

<
Refer to Appendix D of Regulation 45-102 respecting Resale of S {Ntles

(chapter V-1.1, r. 20). First trades are subject to a restricted period_on Wsale.
This text box does not form part of this Regulation and has no officiq@ms.
Y

(1) In British Columbia, New Brunswick, Nova Scotia an%} foundland and
Labrador, the prospectus requirement does not apply to a distri by an issuer of a
security of its own issue to a purchaser if Q/

(@) the purchaser purchases the security as prj [, and

(b)  at the same time or before the purch rr:igns the agreement to purchase
the security, the issuer &6

(1) delivers an offering mqé@andum to the purchaser in compliance
with subsections (5) to (13), and Q

(i) obtains a sign@Sqisk acknowledgement from the purchaser in
compliance with subsection (15).

(2) In Alberta, Manitob@?rthwest Territories, Nunavut, Prince Edward Island,
Québec, Saskatchewan gn¥\¥ukon, the prospectus requirement does not apply to a
distribution by an iSSUé security of its own issue to a purchaser if

(@) the aser purchases the security as principal,

(b) purchaser is an eligible investor or the acquisition cost to the

purchaseé @ not exceed $10,000,

@ at the same time or before the purchaser signs the agreement to purchase

churity, the issuer
A\

(1) delivers an offering memorandum to the purchaser in compliance
with subsections (5) to (13), and

(i) obtains a signed risk acknowledgement from the purchaser in
compliance with subsection (15), and
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(d) if the issuer is an investment fund, the investment fund is
(1) a non-redeemable investment fund, or
(i) a mutual fund that is a reporting issuer.

3) In Alberta, Manitoba, Northwest Territories, Nunavut, Prince Edward Islar@
Québec, Saskatchewan and Yukon, this section does not apply to a distributio Q}
security to a person described in paragraph (a) of the definition of “eligible iny, 7in
section 1.1 [Definitions] if that person was created, or is used, solely to purchase &f hold
securities in reliance on the exemption from the prospectus requireme’KQget out in
subsection (2).

(3.1) Subsections (1) and (2) do not apply to a distribution of a@ﬁerm securitized
product.

4) No commission or finder’s fee may be paid to any pe %{other than a registered
dealer, in connection with a distribution to a purchas the Northwest Territories,
Nunavut, Saskatchewan and Yukon under subsectio

(5)  An offering memorandum delivered und&@ section must be in the required
form.

comparable right, an offering memora delivered under this section must provide
the purchaser with a contractual riglt to Cancel the agreement to purchase the security
by delivering a notice to the issu%kn later than midnight on the 2nd business day after
the purchaser signs the agree to purchase the security.

(6) If the securities legislation Wherngﬁtf\)urchaser is resident does not provide a

statutory rights of actiomdy¥he event of a misrepresentation in an offering memorandum
delivered under this ibn, the offering memorandum must contain a contractual right
of action against sssuer for rescission or damages that

(7 If the securities@on where the purchaser is resident does not provide

(@) %available to the purchaser if the offering memorandum, or any
informatiQu{ o Bdocuments incorporated or deemed to be incorporated by reference into
the off emorandum, contains a misrepresentation, without regard to whether the
pur@@r relied on the misrepresentation,

(b)

0] in the case of an action for rescission, within 180 days after the
purchaser signs the agreement to purchase the security, or

is enforceable by the purchaser delivering a notice to the issuer

(i) in the case of an action for damages, before the earlier of

Regulation 45-106 May 5, 2015 PAGE 21



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM MAY 5, 2015 TO NOVEMBER 16, 2015

A) 180 days after the purchaser first has knowledge of the facts
giving rise to the cause of action, or

B) 3 years after the date the purchaser signs the agreement to
purchase the security,

(© is subject to the defence that the purchaser had knowledge of th)
misrepresentation, '\Q

(d) in the case of an action for damages, provides that the qmount
recoverable '\Q) .\

(1) must not exceed the price at which the security ered, and

(i) does not include all or any part of the d s that the issuer
proves does not represent the depreciation in value of the ty resulting from the
misrepresentation, and A

(e) is in addition to, and does not detr% m, any other right of the
purchaser.

(8)  An offering memorandum delivered u |s section must contain a certificate
that states the following: “This offer memorandum does not contain a
misrepresentation.”

(9) If the issuer is a company, a%tffk\te under subsection (8) must be signed

@) by the issuer’s xecutlve officer and chief financial officer or, if the
issuer does not have a chi ecutlve officer or chief financial officer, an individual

acting in that capacity,
(b)  onbeh s he directors of the issuer, by

')Q ny 2 directors who are authorized to sign, other than the persons
referred to i graph (a), or

Q~ (i) all the directors of the issuer, and
Q (© by each promoter of the issuer.
® If the issuer is a trust, a certificate under subsection (8) must be signed by

(@ the individuals who perform functions for the issuer similar to those
performed by the chief executive officer and the chief financial officer of a company, and

(b) each trustee and the manager of the issuer.
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(10.1) If a trustee or the manager that is signing the certificate of the issuer is
(@ anindividual, the individual must sign the certificate,
(b)  acompany, the certificate must be signed

0] by the chief executive officer and the chief financial officer K@?Q
trustee or the manager, and ‘]/

(i) on behalf of the board of directors of the trustee or the@é:ger, by

(A) any 2 directors of the trustee or the man ~eother than the
persons referred to in subparagraph (i), or

(B)  all of the directors of the trustee o&anager

(c) a limited partnership, the certificate mu signed by each general
partner of the limited partnership as described in s tion (11.1) in relation to an
issuer that is a limited partnership, or

(d) not referred to in paragraphs ( or (c), the certificate may be signed
by any person with authority to act on behal e trustee or the manager.

(10.2) Despite subsections (10) and (1@ if the issuer is an investment fund and the
declaration of trust, trust indenture %tg‘u t agreement establishing the investment fund
delegates the authority to do so, erwise authorizes an individual or company to do
so, the certificate may be sign@y the individual or company to whom the authority is
delegated or that is authori@ sign the certificate.

(10.3) Despite subsectt (10) and (10.1), if the trustees of an issuer, other than an
investment fund, dQ erform functions for the issuer similar to those performed by
the directors of pany, the trustees are not required to sign the certificate of the
issuer if at le individuals who perform functions for the issuer similar to those
performed b directors of a company sign the certificate.

(11) §he Tssuer is a limited partnership, a certificate under subsection (8) must be
signg§

(@) each individual who performs a function for the issuer similar to any of
\h se performed by the chief executive officer or the chief financial officer of a company,
and
(b) each general partner of the issuer.

(11.1) If a general partner of the issuer is

Regulation 45-106 May 5, 2015 PAGE 23



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM MAY 5, 2015 TO NOVEMBER 16, 2015

(@ anindividual, the individual must sign the certificate,
(b)  acompany, the certificate must be signed

0] by the chief executive officer and the chief financial officer of the
general partner, and QJ

(i) on behalf of the board of directors of the general partner, by(]i\

(A) any 2 directors of the general partner, other tha&%‘persons
referred to in subparagraph (i), or

(B) all of the directors of the general partne Q/

(c) a limited partnership, the certificate must be d by each general
partner of the limited partnership and, for greater certain& %5 subsection applies to

each general partner required to sign, O

partner as described in subsection 10 in relation issuer that is a trust, or

(d) a trust, the certificate must be sig:ﬁ/ the trustees of the general

(e) not referred to in paragraphs g{)o (d), the certificate may be signed by
any person with authority to act on behalf general partner.
(12) If an issuer is not a compa%(yst or limited partnership, a certificate under
subsection (8) must be signed b persons that, in relation to the issuer, are in a
similar position or perform ilar function to any of the persons referred to in
subsections (9), (10), (10.1@), (10.3), (11) and (11.1).
(13) A certificate und bsection (8) must be true

(@) att e the certificate is signed, and

(b) @he date the offering memorandum is delivered to the purchaser.

(14) rtificate under subsection (8) ceases to be true after it is delivered to the
r, the issuer cannot accept an agreement to purchase the security from the

g &aser unless

(@) the purchaser receives an update of the offering memorandum,

(b)  the update of the offering memorandum contains a newly dated certificate
signed in compliance with subsection (9), (10), (10.1), (10.2), (10.3), (11) or (11.1) and

(© the purchaser re-signs the agreement to purchase the security.

Regulation 45-106 May 5, 2015 PAGE 24



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM MAY 5, 2015 TO NOVEMBER 16, 2015

(15) A risk acknowledgement under subsection (1) or (2) must be in the required form
and an issuer relying on subsection (1) or (2) must retain the signed risk
acknowledgment for 8 years after the distribution.

(16) The issuer must

@) hold in trust all consideration received from the purchaser in conn&%?

with a distribution of a security under subsection (1) or (2) until midnight on nd

business day after the purchaser signs the agreement to purchase the securi% a

\

(b) return all consideration to the purchaser promptly if tf% purchaser

exercises the right to cancel the agreement to purchase the securi cribed under
subsection (6).

(17) The issuer must file a copy of an offering memora@delivered under this
section and any update of a previously filed offering mem um with the securities
regulatory authority on or before the 10th day after th@é«ibution under the offering
memorandum or update of the offering memorandum%

(18) (paragraph revoked) &O

M.O. 2009-05, s. 2.9; M.O. 2011-02, s. 1, M@OlS-O& S. 6.

2.10. Minimum amount investment (19

s
v

Refer to Appendix D egulation 45-102 respecting Resale of Securities
(chapter V-1.1, r. 20)\K¥'st trades are subject to a restricted period on resale.
This text box doe& rm part of this Regulation and has no official status.

)

(1) The pros requirement does not apply to a distribution of a security to a
person if all of th{following apply:

(a: C%at person is not an individual;

Q® that person purchases as principal;

$ (c) the security has an acquisition cost to that person of not less than
\3 50 000 paid in cash at the time of the distribution;

(d)  the distribution is of a security of a single issuer.
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(2)  Subsection (1) does not apply to a distribution of a security to a person if the
person was created, or is used, solely to purchase or hold securities in reliance on the
exemption from the prospectus requirement set out in subsection (1).

M.O. 2009-05, s. 2.10; M.O. 2015-05, s. 8.
DIVISION 2 Transaction Exemptions QQJ

2.11. Business combination and reorganization (i\

©O°
Refer to Appendix E of Regulation 45-102 respecting Res '8? Securities
(chapter V-1.1, r. 20). First trades are subject to a seasonin *0od on resale.
This text box does not form part of this Regulation and has %’mial status.

N

AN
The prospectus requirement does not apply to a@bution of a security in
connection with

(@) an amalgamation, merger, reorgani 'oi or arrangement that is under a
statutory procedure, &

(b) an amalgamation, merger, req@izaﬂon or arrangement that

(1) is described in Qinformation circular made pursuant to
Regulation 51-102 respecting Contggous Disclosure Obligations (chapter V-1.1, r. 24)
or in a similar disclosure record apd #e information circular or similar disclosure record
is delivered to each securityegoMer whose approval of the amalgamation, merger,
reorganization or arrangem@equired before it can proceed, and

(i) 5 @bved by the security holders referred to in subparagraph (i),
or

(c) &solution or winding-up of the issuer.

M.0. 200205 %. 2.11.

2.1 @set acquisition

\J

Refer to Appendix D of Regulation 45-102 respecting Resale of Securities
(chapter V-1.1, r. 20). First trades are subject to a restricted period on resale.
This text box does not form part of this Regulation and has no official status.

The prospectus requirement does not apply to a distribution by an issuer of a
security of its own issue to a person as consideration for the acquisition, directly or
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indirectly, of the assets of the person, if those assets have a fair value of not less than
$150,000.

M.O. 2009-05, s. 2.12.

2.13. Petroleum, natural gas and mining properties

<
Refer to Appendix D of Regulation 45-102 respecting Resale of S {Ntles

(chapter V-1.1, r. 20). First trades are subject to a restricted period_on Wsale.
This text box does not form part of this Regulation and has no officiq@ms.
Y

an issuer of a

The prospectus requirement does not apply to a distributj
&2ty or indirectly, of

security of its own issue as consideration for the acquisition,
petroleum, natural gas or mining properties or any interest in

M.O. 2009-05, s. 2.13. A

2.14. Securities for debt s
0O

"N
Refer to Appendix D of Regulatio,(@)i-loz respecting Resale of Securities
(chapter V-1.1, r. 20). First trad%sh%

esubject to a restricted period on resale.
This text box does not form part s Regulation and has no official status.

A~
T

of a security of its own is a creditor to settle a bona fide debt of that reporting

issuer. §

M.O. 2009-05, s. 2,

The prospectus requi@\g does not apply to a distribution by a reporting issuer

2.15. Issuezcﬁlisition or redemption

Y d

/
v

&provision is not cited in any Appendix of Regulation 45-102 respecting
Q sale of Securities (chapter V-1.1, r. 20). This text box does not form part of this

E Regulation and has no official status.

The prospectus requirement does not apply to a distribution of a security to the
issuer of the security.

M.O. 2009-05, s. 2.15.
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2.16 Take-over bid and issuer bid

Refer to section 2.11 or Appendix E of Regulation 45-102 respecting Resale of
Securities (chapter V-1.1, r. 20). First trades are subject to a seasoning period on
resale unless the requirements of section 2.11 of Regulation 45-102 are met.
This text box does not form part of this Regulation and has no official status. QJ

The prospectus requirement does not apply to a distribution of a sef;lﬁty in
connection with a take-over bid in a jurisdiction of Canada or an is bid in a

jurisdiction of Canada. 2

M.O. 2009-05, s. 2.16. %

2.17. Offer to acquire to security holder outside local ju@on

-

Refer to Appendix E of Regulation 45- 102&cting Resale of Securities
(chapter V-1.1, r. 20). First trades are subj a seasoning period on resale.
This text box does not form part of this R ion and has no official status.

The prospectus requirement doe %pply to a distribution by a security holder
outside the local jurisdiction to a perso the local jurisdiction if the distribution would
have been in connection with a takg&RQugr bid or issuer bid made by that person were it
not for the fact that the security h\d{ IS out5|de of the local jurisdiction.

M.O. 2009-05, s. 2.17. @?‘

DIVISION 3 Invest @\md Exemptions

2.18. Investm e&@ﬂd reinvestment

y4

R 0 Appendix E of Regulation 45-102 respecting Resale of Securities
ter V-1.1, r. 20). First trades are subject to a seasoning period on resale.
Q is text box does not form part of this Regulation and has no official status.

}1; The prospectus requirement does not apply to the following distributions by an
investment fund, and the investment fund manager of the fund, to a security holder of
the investment fund if the distributions are permitted by a plan of the investment fund:

(@) a distribution of a security of the investment fund’s own issue if a dividend
or distribution out of earnings, surplus, capital or other sources payable in respect of the
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investment fund’s securities is applied to the purchase of the security that is of the same
class or series as the securities to which the dividend or distribution out of earnings,
surplus, capital or other sources is attributable, and

(b) a distribution of a security of the investment fund’'s own issue if the
security holder makes an optional cash payment to purchase the security of the
investment fund that is of the same class or series of securities described in paragrags
(a) that trade on a marketplace.

(2) The aggregate number of securities issued under the optional cash r‘)lyment
referred to in subsection (1)(b) must not exceed, in any financial year of t vestment
fund during which the distribution takes place, 2% of the issued utstanding
securities of the class to which the plan relates as at the beginning of @mancial year.

to every security holder in Canada to which the dividend or WUtion out of earnings,

(3) A plan that permits the distributions described in subsecti must be available
surplus, capital or other sources is available. A

(4) A person must not charge a fee for a distributio&ribed in subsection (1).

(5)  An investment fund that is a reporting |s§@nd in continuous distribution must
set out in its current prospectus:

(@)  details of any deferred or c ent sales charge or redemption fee that is
payable at the time of the redemption o security,

(b) any right that the s %e holder has to make an election to receive cash
instead of securities on the p% nt of a dividend or making of a distribution by the

investment fund, and \&

instructio how the right referred to in paragraph (b) can be exercised.

(6) An invest %Q‘]d that is a reporting issuer and is not in continuous distribution
must provide t ihformation required by subsection (5) in its prospectus, annual
information f or a material change report.

,S. 2.18.

2 1Q Additional investment in investment funds

\J

Refer to Appendix D of Regulation 45-102 respecting Resale of Securities
(chapter V-1.1, r. 20). First trades are subject to a restricted period on resale.
This text box does not form part of this Regulation and has no official status.
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The prospectus requirement does not apply to a distribution by an investment
fund, or the investment fund manager of the fund, of a security of the investment fund’s
own issue to a security holder of the investment fund if

€) the security holder initially acquired securities of the investment fund as
principal for an acquisition cost of not less than $150,000 paid in cash at the time of the

distribution, QJ

(b) the distribution is of a security of the same class or series as the S@ﬁines
initially acquired, as described in paragraph (a), and
4

(c) the security holder, as at the date of the distribution, holds secWrities of the
investment fund that have é‘

(1) an acquisition cost of not less than $150,00

(i) a net asset value of not less than $15(Q&/

M.O. 2009-05, s. 2.19. \:O

2.20. Private investment club &O
y 4

(chapter V-1.1, r. 20). First trad e subject to a seasoning period on resale.

\®)
Refer to Appendix E of Reguélg}&'w\%-lw respecting Resale of Securities
This text box does not form p%qf this Regulation and has no official status.

4

The prospectus req@e‘nt does not apply to a distribution of a security of an
investment fund if the invgstent fund

(@) has n @ than 50 beneficial security holders,

(b) o& not seek and has never sought to borrow money from the public,
(c

@ does not pay or give any remuneration for investment management or
é\&%istraﬂon advice in respect of trades in securities, except normal brokerage fees,

es not distribute and has never distributed its securities to the public,

(e) for the purpose of financing the operations of the investment fund,
requires security holders to make contributions in proportion to the value of the
securities held by them.

M.O. 2009-05, s. 2.20; M.O. 2015-05, s. 9.
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2.21. Private investment fund - loan and trust pools

Refer to Appendix E of Regulation 45-102 respecting Resale of Securities
(chapter V-1.1, r. 20). First trades are subject to a seasoning period on resale.

This text box does not form part of this Regulation and has no official status. QQJ
f an

|

L
(1) The prospectus requirement does not apply to a distribution of a se uri‘t)/o
investment fund if the investment fund '\é)"

(@) is administered by a trust company or trust corporation Qﬁ registered or
authorized by an enactment of Canada or a jurisdiction of Canad rry on business
in Canada or a jurisdiction of Canada,

(b) has no promoter or investment fund meq&( other than the trust
company or trust corporation referred to in paragraph (a)@w

(c) co-mingles the money of different ¢ %and trusts for the purpose of
facilitating investment.

(2) Despite subsection (1), a trust compg\&)ar trust corporation registered under the
laws of Prince Edward Island that is registered under the Trust and Loan
Companies Act (S.C. 1991, c. 45) or un@&aomparable legislation in another jurisdiction
of Canada is not a trust CO”@S&}/ or trust corporation for the purpose of
subparagraph (1)(a). \\

M.O. 2009-05, 5. 2.21. \&?‘

DIVISION 4 Employ ecutive Officer, Director and Consultant Exemptions
2.22. Definitio
In thi ision

- late”, when used to indicate a relationship with a person, means
Q (@) an issuer of which the person beneficially owns or controls, directly or
i%rectly, voting securities entitling the person to more than 10% of the voting rights
\At ached to outstanding voting securities of the issuer,
(b) any partner of the person,

(© any trust or estate in which the person has a substantial beneficial interest
or in respect of which the person serves as trustee or executor or in a similar capacity,
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or
(d) in the case of an individual, a relative of that individual, including

0] a spouse of that individual, or

(i) a relative of that individual’s spouse '\QQJ
if the relative has the same home as that individual; ‘]/

2N
“associated consultant” means, for an issuer, a consultant of t !S\Suer or of a
related entity of the issuer if

(@) the consultant is an associate of the issuer or @Iated entity of the

issuer, or Q/

(b)  the issuer or a related entity of the issuer iS@ sociate of the consultant;

“compensation” means an issuance of :ﬁ'tles in exchange for services
provided or to be provided and includes an is ﬁe of securities for the purpose of
providing an incentive; <C)

“consultant” means, for an issuer, \rson, other than an employee, executive
officer, or director of the issuer or of a rél entity of the issuer, that

: . N : .
(@) is engaged to pro deolerwces to the issuer or a related entity of the
issuer, other than services pro@& in relation to a distribution,

(b) provides th %ces under a written contract with the issuer or a related
entity of the issuer, a%&

(© spe, r will spend a significant amount of time and attention on the
affairs and busir™&gs’of the issuer or a related entity of the issuer

an @ des
&

for an individual consultant, a corporation of which the individual
c antant is an employee or shareholder, and a partnership of which the individual
ésultant is an employee or partner, and

(e)  for a consultant that is not an individual, an employee, executive officer, or
director of the consultant, provided that the individual employee, executive officer, or
director spends or will spend a significant amount of time and attention on the affairs
and business of the issuer or a related entity of the issuer.
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“holding entity” means a person that is controlled by an individual;

“investor relations activities” means activities or communications, by or on behalf
of an issuer or a security holder of the issuer, that promote or could reasonably be
expected to promote the purchase or sale of securities of the issuer, but does not
include

(@) the dissemination of information or preparation of records in the or@

course of the business of the issuer q/
(1) to promote the sale of products or services of the iSSU?\I@“
(i) to raise public awareness of the issuer Q~
that cannot reasonably be considered to promote tr@chase or sale of
securities of the issuer, Q/
(b)  activities or communications necessary to y with the requirements of

0] securities legislation of any jur] i&\'on of Canada,

(i) the securities laws of angéeign jurisdiction governing the issuer,

or \
(i)  any exchange or mﬁ@ on which the issuer’s securities trade, or
(© activities or communlc?a)ons necessary to follow securities directions of

any jurisdiction of Canada;

“investor relations n” means a person that is a registrant or that provides
services that include in r relations activities;

“issuer bi Irements” means the requirements under securities legislation
that apply to a éu r bid;
“li @)s uer’” means an issuer, any of the securities of which
Q® are listed and not suspended, or the equivalent, from trading on
\é ()  TSXInc,
(i) TSX Venture Exchange Inc.,
(i)  NYSE Amex Equities,

(iv)  The New York Stock Exchange,
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(v) the London Stock Exchange, or
(b)  are quoted on the Nasdaq Stock Market;

“permitted assign” means, for a person that is an employee, executive officer,
director or consultant of an issuer or of a related entity of the issuer, QJ

(@) a trustee, custodian, or administrator acting on behalf of, or for thyﬁnefit

of the person,
)
o
(d) the spouse of the person, &

(e)  atrustee, custodian, or administrator actin@)ehalf of, or for the benefit
of the spouse of the person, é

(b)  a holding entity of the person,

(c) a RRSP, RRIF, or TFSA of the person,

() a holding entity of the spouse of th,K on, or
(9) a RRSP, RRIF, or TFSA of the}é@use of the person,;
“plan” means a plan or program @Iished or maintained by an issuer providing
for the acquisition of securities of% issuer by persons described in section 2.24(1)
0

[Employee, executive officer, direst nd consultant] as compensation;

“related entity” means! an issuer, a person that controls or is controlled by the
issuer or that is controlled b\he same person that controls the issuer;

“related perso@ ans, for an issuer,

@ a &e tor or executive officer of the issuer or of a related entity of the

&

ﬁ an associate of a director or executive officer of the issuer or of a related
enti h

issuer,

e issuer, or

(c) a permitted assign of a director or executive officer of the issuer or of a
\e ated entity of the issuer;

“security holder approval” means an approval for the issuance of securities of an
issuer as compensation or under a plan
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(@) given by a majority of the votes cast at a meeting of security holders of the
issuer other than votes attaching to securities beneficially owned by related persons to
whom securities may be issued as compensation or under that plan, or

(b) evidenced by a resolution signed by all the security holders entitled to vote
at a meeting, if the issuer is not required to hold a meeting; and

“support agreement” includes an agreement to provide assistance %vb
maintenance or servicing of indebtedness of the borrower and an agreement tm Ide
consideration for the purpose of maintaining or servicing indebtedness of the borrédver.

)
M.O. 2009-05, s. 2.22; M.O. 2015-05, s. 11. E '\

2.23. Interpretation Q/

(1) In this Division, a person (first person) is considered trol another person
(second person) if the first person, directly or indirectly, e power to direct the

management and policies of the second person by virtu
(@  ownership of or direction over voting 6:§|tles in the second person,
(b)  awritten agreement or indentur%o/&

(c) being the general partner o@%trolling the general partner of the second
person, or

(d) being a trustee of tﬂt@and person.
(2) In this Division, parti@fn in a distribution is considered voluntary if

€) in the ca%vf an employee or the employee’s permitted assign, the
employee or the e ee’s permitted assign is not induced to participate in the
distribution by e tion of employment or continued employment of the employee
with the issuer 0 lated entity of the issuer,

(b pT the case of an executive officer or the executive officer's permitted
assign xecutive officer or the executive officer's permitted assign is not induced to
partj in the distribution by expectation of appointment, employment, continued
a ntment or continued employment of the executive officer with the issuer or a

\éled entity of the issuer,

(c) in the case of a consultant or the consultant's permitted assign, the
consultant or the consultant’s permitted assign is not induced to participate in the
distribution by expectation of engagement of the consultant to provide services or
continued engagement of the consultant to provide services to the issuer or a related
entity of the issuer, and
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(d) in the case of an employee of a consultant, the individual is not induced by
the issuer, a related entity of the issuer, or the consultant to participate in the distribution
by expectation of employment or continued employment with the consultant.

M.O. 2009-05, s. 2.23.

2.24. Employee, executive officer, director and consultant

o
oA

v
Refer to Appendix E of Regulation 45-102 respecting Resale ,@%urities
(chapter V-1.1, r. 20). First trades are subject to a seasoning gerio®¥ on resale.
This text box does not form part of this Regulation and has no fal status.

D

(1)  The prospectus requirement does not apply to a distrit@

(@) by an issuer in a security of its own issue, (O

(b) by a control person of an issuer of grlty of the issuer or of an option
to acquire a security of the issuer, &

with ,\<0
(© an employee, executive oﬁ@ director or consultant of the issuer,

4
(d) an employee, exe%\fg)ﬁicer, director or consultant of a related entity of
the issuer, or

(e) apermitted $\ of a person referred to in paragraphs (c) or (d)
if participation in the digtgQdhtion is voluntary.

O

(2) For the p s of subsection (1), a person referred to in paragraph (c), (d)
or (e) include a%u tee, custodian or administrator acting as agent for that person for
the purpose @cilitating a trade.

M.O. 5, s. 2.24.
2 2& Unlisted reporting issuer exception

Xg For the purpose of this section, “unlisted reporting issuer” means a reporting
issuer in a jurisdiction of Canada that is not a listed issuer.

(2)  Section 2.24 [Employee, executive officer, director and consultant] does not

apply to a distribution to an employee or consultant of the unlisted reporting issuer who
is an investor relations person of the issuer, an associated consultant of the issuer, an
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executive officer of the issuer, a director of the issuer, or a permitted assign of those
persons if, after the distribution,

(@) the number of securities, calculated on a fully diluted basis, reserved for
issuance under options granted to

(1) related persons, exceeds 10% of the outstanding securities of tQS

issuer, or
,\Q

(i) a related person, exceeds 5% of the outstanding securitiesWéf the
issuer, or )

(b) the number of securities, calculated on a fully dil Q-ba&s issued
within 12 months to

0] related persons, exceeds 10% of the o @lng securities of the
issuer, or

(i) a related person and the as@es of the related person,
r

exceeds 5% of the outstanding securities of the iss
(3)  Subsection (2) does not apply to a distr%’tﬁbn if the unlisted reporting issuer
(@)  obtains security holder appr@ and

(b) before obtaining secug ﬂh Ider approval, provides security holders with
the following information in sufficignt éetail to permit security holders to form a reasoned
judgment concerning the matt$~

0] the NPty of employees, executive officers, directors, and
consultants to be issue@\gramed securities as compensation or under a plan;

(i) maximum number of securities that may be issued, or in the
case of options, e humber of securities that may be issued on exercise of the options,
as compensz@ or under a plan;

(i)  particulars relating to any financial assistance or support agreement

to b ded to participants by the issuer or any related entity of the issuer to facilitate

urchase of securities as compensation or under a plan, including whether the
Ql\gstance or support is to be provided on a full-, part-, or non-recourse basis;

(iv)  in the case of options, the maximum term and the basis for the
determination of the exercise price;

(v) particulars relating to the options or other entitlements to be
granted as compensation or under a plan, including transferability; and
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(vi)  the number of votes attaching to securities that, to the issuer’s
knowledge at the time the information is provided, will not be included for the purpose of
determining whether security holder approval has been obtained.

M.O. 2009-05, s. 2.25.

2.26. Distributions among current or former employees, executive officers, QQJ
directors, or consultants of non-reporting issuer (i\

Refer to Appendix E of Regulation 45-102 respecting Res '\ Securities
(chapter V-1.1, r. 20). First trades are subject to a seasoni d on resale.
This text box does not form part of this Regulation and has %\:lal status.

(1) The prospectus requirement does not apply to a d@tion of a security of an
issuer by

(@) a current or former employee, exec@%ﬁcer director, or consultant of
the issuer or related entity of the issuer, or

(b) a permitted assign of a persor),é’fbrred to in paragraph (a),
to (19

(© an employee, exe g <Qofflcer director, or consultant of the issuer or a
related entity of the issuer, or

(d) a permitte an of the employee, executive officer, director, or
consultant.

(2) The exem&@qn subsection (1) is only available if

(@) %ptlmpatlon in the distribution is voluntary,

& the issuer of the security is not a reporting issuer in any jurisdiction of
Ca and

(c) the price of the security being distributed is established by a generally
plicable formula contained in a written agreement among some or all of the security
holders of the issuer to which the transferee is or will become a party.

M.O. 2009-05, s. 2.26.
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2.27. Permitted transferees

Refer to Appendix E of Regulation 45-102 respecting Resale of Securities
(chapter V-1.1, r. 20). First trades are subject to a seasoning period on resale.
This text box does not form part of this Regulation and has no official status.

Yo
O~
(1) The prospectus requirement does not apply to a distribution of a securj an
issuer acquired by a person described in section 2.24(1) [Employee, executive Hificer,
director and consultant] under a plan of the issuer if the distribution '\ 4
(@) is between &
(1) a person who is an employee, executi fficer, director or

consultant of the issuer or a related entity of the issuer, and Q/

(i) the permitted assign of that person, O

or O%

(b) is between permitted assigns ofég’i&)erson.

(2)  The prospectus requirement doe '}apply to a distribution of a security of an
issuer by a trustee, custodian or adm ator acting on behalf, or for the benefit, of
employees, executive officers, direcqi,ss,‘or consultants of the issuer or a related entity of

the issuer, to !

(@) an employee%&cutive officer, director or consultant of the issuer or a
related entity of the issu

(b) a perai assign of a person referred to in paragraph (a),

if the sé&y was acquired from

(c employee, executive officer, director or consultant of the issuer or a
relate iy of the issuer, or

(d)  the permitted assign of a person referred to in paragraph (c).
§ For the purposes of the exemptions in subsection (1) and paragraphs (2) (c)

and (d), all references to employee, executive officer, director, or consultant include a
former employee, executive officer, director, or consultant.

M.O. 2009-05, s. 2.27.
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2.28. Limitation re: permitted transferees

The exemption from the prospectus requirement under subsection 2.27(1) or (2)
is only available if the security was acquired

(@) by a person described in section 2.24(1) [Employee, executive officer,
director, and consultant] under any exemption that makes the resale of the secu
subject to section 2.6 of Regulation 45-102 respecting Resale of Sec
(chapter V-1.1, r. 20), or (]/

(b) in Manitoba, by a person described in section 2.24(1}\@?\ployee,
executive officer, director, and consultant]. E
M.O. 2009-05, s. 2.28. %Q/

2.29. Issuer bid &

The issuer bid requirements do not apply to th@ uisition by an issuer of a

security of its own issue that was acquired by a p escribed in section 2.24(1)
[Employee, executive officer, director, and consult

(@) the purpose of the acquisition b% issuer is to

0] fulfill withholding tax @}ations, or
(i) provide payme%ffﬂt(](e exercise price of a stock option,

plan that specifies how the v of the securities acquired by the issuer is determined,

(b) the acquisitio@ issuer is made in accordance with the terms of a

(© in the ca@ securities acquired as payment of the exercise price of a
stock option, the dat ercise of the option is chosen by the option holder, and

month perio er this section does not exceed 5% of the outstanding securities of the

class or () t the beginning of the period.
M.()Qé §-05, s. 2.29.

N

(d) tg%g regate number of securities acquired by the issuer within a 12
e
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DIVISION 5 Miscellaneous Exemptions

2.30. Isolated distribution by issuer

Refer to Appendix D of Regulation 45-102 respecting Resale of Securities
(chapter V-1.1, r. 20). First trades are subject to a restricted period on resa(b
This text box does not form part of this Regulation and has no official statu

The prospectus requirement does not apply to a distribution by a& uer of a
security of its own issue if the distribution is an isolated distribution and j 5 made

(@) in the course of continued and successive transac% f a like nature,

and §

(b) by a person whose usual business is trading in rities.

M.O. 2009-05, s. 2.30. éo
O

2.31. Dividends and distributions &

Subsection (1) is cited in Append|®f Regulation 45-102 respecting Resale of
Securities (chapter V-1.1, r 20) trades are subject to a seasoning period on

resale. QJ

Subsection (2) is cited '\kppendix D and Appendix E of Regulation 45-102.
Resale restriction i@mined by the exemption under which the previously

issued security v& acquired.

This text bo é: @ not form part of this Regulation and has no official status.

Q) The @pectus requirement does not apply to a distribution by an issuer of a
security é)own issue to a security holder of the issuer as a dividend or distribution
out of gs, surplus, capital or other sources.

( The prospectus requirement does not apply to a distribution by an issuer to a

rity holder of the issuer of a security of a reporting issuer as an in specie dividend
\r distribution out of earnings or surplus.

M.O. 2009-05, s. 2.31.
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2.32. Distribution to lender by control person for collateral

This provision is not cited in any Appendix of Regulation 45-102 respecting
Resale of Securities (chapter V-1.1, r. 20). Trades by a lender, pledge, mortgage
or other encumbrancer to realize on a debt are regulated by section 2.8 of
Regulation 45-102. This text box does not form part of this Regulation and I”QS
no official status. Q
AN

4
The prospectus requirement does not apply to a distribution of a g{ggmy of an
issuer to a lender, pledgee, mortgagee or other encumbrancer from the hdldings of a
control person of the issuer for the purpose of giving collateral for fide debt of
the control person. Q/

W
M.O. 2009-05, s. 2.32. @
N

2.33. Acting as underwriter O

Refer to Appendix F of Regulation 4 1@ respecting Resale of Securities
(chapter V-1.1, r. 20). First trades are a didribution. This text box does not form
part of this Regulation and has no off& status.

QO

( l/v
The prospectus requireme Qes not apply to a distribution of a security
between a person and a purchdseracting as an underwriter or between or among

persons acting as underwriters?~

M.O. 2009-05, s. 2.33. §®

2.34. Specified (:5@
Zz

This ision is not cited in any Appendix of Regulation 45-102 respecting
R of Securities (chapter V-1.1, r. 20). These securities are free trading. This
§'on does not form part of this Regulation and has no official status.

@ In this section, “permitted supranational agency” means
(@) the African Development Bank, established by the Agreement Establishing

the African Development Bank which came into force on September 10, 1964, that
Canada became a member of on December 30, 1982;
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(b) the Asian Development Bank, established under a resolution adopted by
the United Nations Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific in 1965;

(c) the Caribbean Development Bank, established by the Agreement
Establishing the Caribbean Development Bank which came into force on January 26,
1970, as amended, that Canada is a founding member of;

(d)  the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development, establishe
the Agreement Establishing the European Bank for Reconstruction and Devqﬁé ent

and approved by the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development Agrd€ment
Act (L.C. 1991, c. 12), that Canada is a founding member of; '\ N

(e) the Inter-American Development Bank, established Q'he Agreement
establishing the Inter-American Development Bank whic ame effective
December 30, 1959, as amended from time to time, that Canaday ember of;

) the International Bank for Reconstruction an elopment, established

by the Agreement for an International Bank for Re uction and Development
approved by the Bretton Woods and Related Agreem@ct (R.S.C. 1985, c. B-7); and

() the International Finance Cor @m, established by Articles of
Agreement approved by the Bretton Woods aeo lated Agreements Act.

(2)  The prospectus requirement does @pply to a distribution of

(@) a debt security issuedﬁg guaranteed by the Government of Canada or
the government of a jurisdiction of Cadada

(b) a debt secur@ﬁed by or guaranteed by a government of a foreign
jurisdiction if the debt ge®QWMty has a designated rating from a designated rating
organization or its DRO@Mate,

(© a Oecurity issued by or guaranteed by a municipal corporation in
Canada, or secwed by or payable out of rates or taxes levied under the law of a
jurisdiction o%anada on property in the jurisdiction and collectable by or through the

municipa!':tﬁp hich the property is situated,

a debt security issued by or guaranteed by a Canadian financial institution
o] QSchedule [l bank, other than debt securities that are subordinate in right of
é’nent to deposits held by the issuer or guarantor of those debt securities,

(d.1) in Ontario, a debt security issued by or guaranteed by a loan corporation,
trust company, trust corporation, insurance company, treasury branch, credit union,
caisse populaire, financial services cooperative, or league that, in each case, is
authorized by an enactment of a jurisdiction of Canada other than Ontario to carry on
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business in a jurisdiction of Canada, other than debt securities that are subordinate in
right of payment to deposits held by the issuer or guarantor of those debt securities,

(e) a debt security issued by the Comité de gestion de la taxe scolaire de Ile
de Montréal, or

0] a debt security issued by or guaranteed by a permitted supranatio
agency if the debt securities are payable in the currency of Canada or the United

of America. (]/

3) Paragraphs (2)(a), (c) and (d) do not apply in Ontario. '\Q)ﬂ
M.O. 2009-05, s. 2.34; M.O. 2013-09, s. 2. &
2.35. Short-term debt %

/A

\

This provision is not cited in any Appendix of@ lation 45-102 respecting
Resale of Securities (chapter V-1.1, r. 20). Th urities are free trading. This
text box does not form part of this Regulatio as no official status.

(1) The prospectus requirement does N‘?ﬂpply to a distribution of a negotiable
promissory note or commercial paper if al@ e following apply:

(@ the note or commerci%o@per matures not more than one year from the

date of issue; \\

(b) the note or c@?cial paper has a credit rating from a designated rating
organization, or its DR liate, that is at or above one of the following rating

categories or that is bove a rating category that replaces one of the following
rating categories: 6

')Q :;-1 (low) if issued by DBRS Limited;
QI F1 if issued by Fitch, Inc.;

X

(iv)  A-1(Low) (Canada national scale) if issued by Standard & Poor’s
t

\; ings Services (Canada);

(© the note or commercial paper has no credit rating from a designated rating
organization, or its DRO affiliate, that is below one of the following rating categories or
that is below a rating category that replaces one of the following rating categories:

(i)  P-1ifissued by Moody’s Canada Inc.;
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(1) R-1 (low) if issued by DBRS Limited;
(i) F2 if issued by Fitch, Inc.;
(i)  P-2ifissued by Moody’s Canada Inc.;

(iv)  A-1(Low) (Canada national scale) or A-2 (global scale) if issued%
Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services (Canada). '\Q

(2)  Subsection (1) does not apply to a distribution of a negotiable promissory #bte or
commercial paper if either of the following applies: '\ )

(@) the note or commercial paper is a securitized product; &

(b) the note or commercial paper is convertible or angeable into or
accompanied by a right to purchase another security other t Security described in
subsection (1). A

M.O. 2009-05, s. 2.35; M.O. 2013-09, s. 3; M.O. 2015@ 7
2.35.1. Short-term securitized products&o

The prospectus requirement does &'}apply to a distribution of a short-term
securitized product if all of the following a@.‘

(@  the short-term securiti@%duct is a security described in section 2.35.2;

(b)  the conduit isss@\the short-term securitized product complies with

section 2.35.4; \&

(© the shortﬁh securitized product is not convertible or exchangeable into
or accompanied by to purchase another security other than a security described
in paragraph (a) &Q-for which disclosure is provided pursuant to paragraph (b).

M.O. 2015-0&x, 8.
Q‘é/

2.35.2 Q~ Limitations on short-term securitized product exemption

All of the following must apply to a short-term securitized product distributed
r section 2.35.1:

(@) the short-term securitized product is of a series or class of securitized
product to which all of the following apply:

0] it has a credit rating from not less than 2 designated rating
organizations, or their respective DRO affiliate, and at least one of the credit ratings is at
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or above one of the following rating categories or is at or above a rating category that
replaces one of the following rating categories:

(A)  R-1 (high) (sf) if issued by DBRS Limited;

(B) F1+sfifissued by Fitch, Inc.;

(C)  P-1(sf) if issued by Moody’s Canada Inc.; '\QQJ
(D)  A-1(High)(sf) (Canada national scale) or A-l-kg) lobal

scale) if issued by Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services (Canada); '\ )

DRO affiliate, that is below one of the following rating categories o, tS below a rating
category that replaces one of the following rating categories:

(A)  R-1(low)(sf) if issued by DBRS @

(B) F2sfif issued by Fitch, Inc,'l \:O

(i) it has no credit rating from a designated rating g@nization, or its

(C) P-2(sf) if issued by I\/I& s Canada Inc.;

(D) A-1(Low)(sf) (C @a national scale) or A-2(sf) (global
scale) if issued by Standard & Poor’s Rat@s ervices (Canada);

(i) the conduit hasgg{ekd into one or more agreements that, subject
to section 2.35.3, obligate one or\w liquidity providers to provide funds to the conduit
to enable the conduit to satisfigamof its obligations to pay principal or interest as that
series or class of short-term %tized product matures;

(iv) all @»e following apply to each liquidity provider:
QQA the liquidity provider is a deposit-taking institution;

(B) the liquidity provider is regulated or approved to carry on

business ':r((%ﬁda by one or both of the following:

1. the Office of the Superintendent of Financial

@@%s (Canada);

\ 2. a government department or regulatory authority of
Canada, or of a jurisdiction of Canada responsible for regulating deposit-taking
institutions;

(C) the liquidity provider has a rating from each of the
designated rating organizations providing a rating on the short-term securitized product
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under subparagraph 2.35.2(a)(i), or their respective DRO affiliate, for its senior,
unsecured short-term debt, none of which is dependent upon a guarantee by a third
party, and each rating from such designated rating organizations, or their respective
DRO affiliate, is at or above the following rating categories or is at or above a rating
category that replaces one of the following rating categories:

1. R-1(low) if issued by DBRS Limited; QJ
2. F2ifissued by Fitch, Inc.; QL\Q

3.  P-2ifissued by Moody's Canada Inc.; '\Q)‘s

4, A-1(Low) (Canada national sca&)/@? A-2 (global

scale) if issued by Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services (Canada);

(b) if the conduit has issued more than one ser”@ class of short-term
securitized product, the short-term securitized produc be distributed under
section 2.35.1, when issued, will not in the event of ba \%cy, insolvency or winding-
up of the conduit be subordinate in priority of claim @ other outstanding series or
class of short-term securitized product issued by onduit in respect of any asset
pool backing the short-term securitized product @ﬁstributed under section 2.35.1;

(c) the conduit has provided an rﬁBrtaking to or has agreed in writing with
the purchaser of the short-term securiti roduct or an agent, custodian or trustee
appointed to act on behalf of purchase hat series or class of short-term securitized
product, that any asset pool of t co duit will consist only of one or more of the

following: \\
0] a bond; ?‘

(i) a n@age;

(iii%@ase;
O® a loan;
OQ~ (V) a receivable;

Q (vi)  aroyalty;
\é (vii)

pool.

any real or personal property securing or forming part of that asset

M.O. 2015-06, s. 8.
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2.35.3. Exceptions relating to liquidity agreements

(2) Despite subparagraph 2.35.2(a)(iii), an agreement with a liquidity provider may
provide that a liquidity provider is not obligated to advance funds in respect of a series
or class of short-term securitized product distributed under section 2.35.1 if the conduit
is subject to any of the following:

(@) bankruptcy, or insolvency proceedings under the Bankruptcy, %?9
Insolvency Act (R.S.C. 1985, c. B-3); (]/

(b)  an arrangement under the Companies Creditors’ Arrangemept\('@b(R.S.C.
1985, c. C-36);

(c) proceedings similar to those referred to in paragrap r (b) under the
laws of Canada or a jurisdiction of Canada or a foreign jurisdict'@

(2) Despite subparagraph 2.35.2(a)(iii), an agreemen% liquidity provider may
provide that a liquidity provider is not obligated to adva nds in respect of a series
or class of short-term securitized product distributed@ section 2.35.1 that exceed
the sum of the following:

(@) the aggregate value of the non- &Ited assets in the asset pool to which
the agreement relates;

(b)  the amount of credit enhﬁ?[ggment applicable to the asset pool to which
the agreement relates. QJ“

M.O. 2015-06, s. 8. Nk

2.35.4. Dlsclosure§r$ements

(1) A conduit tha ibutes a short-term securitized product under section 2.35.1
must, on or befo date a purchaser purchases the short-term securitized product,

do all of the fo%o/ n
(a C)) ovide to or make reasonably available to the purchaser an information
memor, prepared in accordance with Form 45-106F7;

(b) provide an undertaking to or agree in writing with the purchaser, or with an
%ﬁt, custodian or trustee appointed to act on behalf of purchasers of that series or
ss of securitized product, to

0] for so long as a short-term securitized product of that class remains

outstanding, prepare the documents specified in subsections (5) and (6) within the time
periods specified in those subsections, and
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(i) provide to or make reasonably available to each holder of a short-
term securitized product of that series or class, the documents specified in
subsections (5) and (6).

(2)  Subsection (1) does not apply to a conduit distributing a short-term securitized
product under section 2.35.1 if

(@) the conduit has previously distributed a short-term securitized pro%u\
the same series or class as the short-term securitized product to be distributed; ‘]/

(b) in connection with that previous distribution the conduit @ared an
information memorandum that complied with paragraph (1)(a), and E

(c) the conduit, on or before the time each purc in the current
distribution purchases a short-term securitized product, does ea@ he following:

(1) provides to or makes reasonably avag to the purchaser the
information memorandum prepared in connection with t ious distribution;

(i) provides to or makes reaso@ available to the purchaser all

documents specified in subsections (5) and (6) have been prepared in respect of
that series or class of short-term securitized pyodost.

(3) A conduit must, on or before the ‘Nay following a distribution of a short-term
securitized product under section 2.35.3, g each of the following:

(@) provide to or make\(eggﬁ‘ﬂably available to the securities regulator either
of the following: ?“

0] the i?cﬁtion memorandum required under paragraph (1)(a);

(i) i conduit is relying on subsection (2), the documents referred to
in paragraph (c) @bsection (2);

(b) @ject to subsection (4), deliver to the securities regulator an undertaking
that it will pect of that series or class of short-term securitized product,

O ! 0] provide to or make reasonably available to the securities regulator
t e%cuments specified in subsections (5) and (6), and

\ (i) promptly deliver to the securities regulator each document specified
in subsections (5) and (6) that is requested by the securities regulator.

(4) Paragraph (3)(b) does not apply if
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(@) the conduit has delivered an undertaking to the securities regulator under
paragraph (3)(b) in respect of a previous distribution of a securitized product that is of
the same series or class as the short-term securitized product currently being
distributed, and

(b)  the undertaking referred to in paragraph (a) applies in respect of the

current distribution. QJ
(5) For the purpose of subsection 2.35.4(1), the undertaking or agreemq«;i\uust
require the conduit to prepare a monthly disclosure report relating to the series o¥/class
of short-term securitized product that is '\ A

(@) prepared in accordance with Form 45-106F8, Q~

(b) current as at the last business day of each month, @

(© no later than 50 days from the end of the r@ecent month to which it
relates, made reasonably available to each holder of tha@ s or class of the conduit’s
short-term securitized product. é

(6) For the purpose of subsection 2.35.4(1&\@ undertaking or agreement must
require the conduit to prepare a timely disgcloswre report, providing the information
specified in subsection (7), in each of the fo g circumstances:

(@) a downgrade in one or mcﬁ& the conduit’s credit ratings;

(b)  failure by the condirktg}%lke any required payment of principal or interest
on the series or class of short-$~ securitized product;

(c) the occurregc a change or event that the conduit would reasonably
expect to have a signifi&adverse effect on the payment of principal or interest on the
series or class of sh m securitized product.

(7)  The timel igclosure report referred to in subsection (6) must

or pot effect on any payment of principal or interest to a holder of that series or
cIasQ ort-term securitized product, and

ﬁ (b) be provided to or made reasonably available to holders of that series or
ss of short-term securitized product no later than the second business day after the
conduit becomes aware of the change or event.

(a; scribe the nature and substance of the change or event and the actual

M.O. 2015-06, s. 8.

Regulation 45-106 May 5, 2015 PAGE 50



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM MAY 5, 2015 TO NOVEMBER 16, 2015

2.36. Mortgages

This provision is not cited in any Appendix of Regulation 45-102 respecting
Resale of Securities (chapter V-1.1, r. 20). These securities are free trading. This
text box does not form part of this Regulation and has no official status.

4
(2) In this section, “syndicated mortgage” means a mortgage in which 2 pizﬁore

persons participate, directly or indirectly, as a lender in a debt obligation that is s€€Cured
by the mortgage. '\é) 4

(2) Except in Ontario, the prospectus requirement does not appl an~distribution of
a mortgage on real property in a jurisdiction of Canada by a persog % is registered or
licensed, or exempted from registration or licensing, under age brokerage or
mortgage dealer legislation of that jurisdiction.

subsection (2) does not apply to a distribution of a sy d mortgage.

(3) In Alberta, British Columbia, Manitoba@c and Saskatchewan,

M.O. 2009-05, s. 2.36. &O

2.37. Personal property security Iegisla@éb

This provision is not cited %a\ny Appendlx of Regulation 45-102 respecting
Resale of Securities (cha 1.1, r. 20). These securities are free trading. This
text box does not form % f this Regulation and has no official status.

Except in Ontayj prospectus requirement does not apply to a distribution to
a person, other th individual, in a security evidencing indebtedness secured by or
under a securit ement, secured in accordance with personal property security
legislation of &

{(risdiction of Canada that provides for the granting of security in

2324 Not for profit issuer

N

This provision is not cited in any Appendix of Regulation 45-102 respecting
Resale of Securities (chapter V-1.1, r. 20). These securities are free trading. This
text box does not form part of this Regulation and has no official status.
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The prospectus requirement does not apply to a distribution by an issuer that is
organized exclusively for educational, benevolent, fraternal, charitable, religious or
recreational purposes and not for profit in a security of its own issue if

(@) no part of the net earnings benefit any security holder of the issuer, and

(b) no commission or other remuneration is paid in connection with the sale(o:‘)

the security. '\Q

M.O. 2009-05, s. 2.38. ‘]/

2.39. Variable insurance contract

This provision is not cited in any Appendix of Regula'
Resale of Securities (chapter V-1.1, r. 20). These sec
text box does not form part of this Regulation and hQ

O

S¥
(1) In this section, O

(@  “contract” “group insurance nce company”, “life insurance” and
“policy” have the respective meanings q&ned to them in the legislation for a
jurisdiction referenced in Appendix A. Q

(b)  “variable insurance c%@ct means a contract of life insurance under
[

which the interest of the purcha%b alued for purposes of conversion or surrender by
reference to the value of a pro nate interest in a specified portfolio of assets.

insurance contract by urance company if the variable insurance contract is

(2) The prospectus r‘ﬁﬁment does not apply to a distribution of a variable

(@) ac Qaet of group insurance,

(b) @hole life insurance contract providing for the payment at maturity of an
amount Ge} than 75% of the premium paid up to age 75 years for a benefit payable
at mat:o@*,

(c) an arrangement for the investment of policy dividends and policy proceeds
1'% separate and distinct fund to which contributions are made only from policy
\ch idends and policy proceeds, or

(d) a variable life annuity.

M.O. 2009-05, s. 2.39.

Regulation 45-106 May 5, 2015 PAGE 52



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM MAY 5, 2015 TO NOVEMBER 16, 2015

2.40. RRSP/RRIF/TFSA
Refer to Appendix D and Appendix E of Regulation 45-102 respecting Resale of
Securities (chapter V-1.1, r. 20). The resale restriction is determined by the
exemption under which the security was first acquired. This text box does not
form part of this Regulation and has no official status.
The prospectus requirement does not apply to a distribution of a sgc\@
between
(@ anindividual or an associate of the individual, and '\Q)"
(b) aRRSP, RRIF, or TFSA &
(1) established for or by the individual, or %

(i) under which the individual is a benefic@

M.O. 2009-05, s. 2.40. éo

2.41.

Schedule Ill banks and cooperative as;{@ions - evidence of deposit

This provision is not cited in anQA pendix of Regulation 45-102 respecting
Resale of Securities (chapter V- 20). These securities are free trading. This
text box does not form part o@S& egulation and has no official status.

Except in Ontario, t)@gpectus requirement does not apply to a distribution of

an evidence of deposit i 3 by a Schedule Il bank or an association governed by the

Cooperative Credit As

ions Act (S.C. 1991, c. 48).

M.O. 2009-05. sézr

2.42.

Con&n, exchange, or exercise
N

<
\}

@bsection (1)(a) is cited in Appendix D and Appendix E of Regulation 45-102
respecting Resale of Securities (chapter V-1.1, r. 20). Resale restriction is
determined by the exemption under which the previously issued security was first
acquired.

Subsection (1)(b) is cited in Appendix E of Regulation 45-102. First trades are
subject to a seasoning period on resale, unless the requirements of section 2.10
of Regulation 45-102 are met.
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This text box does not form part of this Regulation and has no official status.

(1)  The prospectus requirement does not apply to a distribution by an issuer if

(@) the issuer distributes a security of its own issue to a security holder of the
issuer in accordance with the terms and conditions of a security previously issued%

that issuer, or
,\Q

(b)  the issuer distributes a security of a reporting issuer held by it t a‘;!curity
holder of the issuer in accordance with the terms and conditions of a secugyPreviously

issued by that issuer. 2

(2)  Subsection (1)(b) does not apply unless %

(@) the issuer has given the regulator or, in Québ@securities regulatory
authority, prior written notice stating the date, amount, p and conditions of the
distribution, and O

objected in writing to the distribution within 10 d receipt of the notice referred to in
paragraph (a) or, if the regulator or secujitie» regulatory authority objects to the
distribution, the issuer must deliver to the &Jlator or securities regulatory authority
information relating to the securities that Eﬁa isfactory to and accepted by the regulator
or securities regulatory authority.

(b)  the regulator or, in Québec, the&% regulatory authority, has not

M.O. 2009-05, s. 2.42. \\QJ“

2.43. Self-directed regist@?gducational savings plans

\»
§ot cited in any Appendix of Regulation 45-102 respecting

This provisi
Resale of ities (chapter V-1.1, r. 20). These securities are free trading. This
text bo s not form part of this Regulation and has no official status.

~ /

rospectus requirement does not apply to a distribution of a self-directed
RE a subscriber if

\é (@)  the distribution is conducted by

0] a dealing representative of a mutual fund dealer who is acting on
behalf of the mutual fund dealer,

(i) a Canadian financial institution or,
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(i) in Ontario, a financial intermediary, and

(b) the self-directed RESP restricts its investments in securities to securities
in which the person who distributes the self-directed RESP is permitted to distribute.

M.O. 2009-05, s. 2.43.

PART 3 Repealed Qb

N
v

Under section 8.5 of this Regulation, Part 3 was no longer available 'r@\y
jurisdiction. In British Columbia, Part 3 was repealed by B.C. Reg.22%2009. In
Québec, Part 3 will be repealed by Regulation to amend Regu %45-106
respecting Prospectus and Registration Exemptions (M.O. éﬂ , 2015 G.O.
2, 745). All other jurisdictions will repeal Part 3 in these a ents. This text
box does not form part of this Regulation and has no o@status.

<
3.0. Repealed éo

M.O. 2009-05, s. 3.0; M.O. 2015-05, s. 12. &O
DIVISION 1 Repealed ,\<C)

3.1. Repealed (19

M.O. 2009-05, s. 3.1; M.O. 20154@12

3.2. Repealed &

M.O. 2009-05, s. 32 015-05, s. 12.

3.3. RepealedQQ~

M.O. 2009&5@ 3.3: M.O. 2015-05, s. 12.

3.4. aled

g. 2009-05, s. 3.4; M.O. 2015-05, s. 12.
\3. . Repealed

M.O. 2009-05, s. 3.5; M.O. 2015-05, s. 12.
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3.6. Repealed

M.O. 2009-05, s. 3.6; M.O. 2015-05, s. 12.

3.7. Repealed

M.O. 2009-05, s. 3.7; M.O. 2015-05, s. 12.

3.8. Repealed

M.O. 2009-05, s. 3.8: M.O. 2015-05, s. 12. '\(b«

3.9. Repealed

M.O. 2009-05, s. 3.9; M.O. 2015-05, s. 12. \&%

3.10. Repealed

M.O. 2009-05, s. 3.10; M.O. 2015-05, s. 12. \:O

DIVISION 2 Repealed &O
3.11. Repealed ,\<C)

M.O. 2009-05, s. 3.11; M.O. 2015-05, S@

3.12. Repealed \\%ﬂ

M.O. 2009-05, s. 3.12; M.O. 5-05, s. 12.

3.13. Repealed @
M.O. 2009-05, sé@. 0. 2015-05. s. 12.

3.14. Repe

, S. 3.14; M.O. 2015-05, s. 12.

3 1& Repealed

[Q

\\]‘.O. 2009-05, s. 3.15; M.O. 2015-05, s. 12.

3.16. Repealed

M.O. 2009-05, s. 3.16; M.O. 2015-05, s. 12.
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3.17. Repealed

M.O. 2009-05, s. 3.17; M.O. 2015-05, s. 12.
DIVISION 3 Repealed

3.18. Repealed

M.O. 2009-05, s. 3.18; M.O. 2015-05, s. 12.

3.19. Repealed '\Q)ﬂ

M.O. 2009-05, s. 3.19; M.O. 2015-05, s. 12.

Q.
3.20. Repealed &%
&

M.O. 2009-05, s. 3.20; M.O. 2015-05, s. 12.

N
3.21. Repealed éo

M.O. 2009-05, s. 3.21; M.O. 2015-05, s. 12. &O
DIVISION 4 Repealed ,\<C)
3.22. Repealed (19

M.O. 2009-05, s. 3.22; M.O. 2013{)&2?12.

3.23. Repealed \&?\

M.O. 2009-05, s. 3.23; » 2015-05, s. 12.

3.24. Repealed
(<&

M.O. 2009-0(@ 3.24: M.O. 2015-05, s. 12.

3.25. aled

g. 2009-05, s. 3.25; M.O. 2015-05, s. 12.
\& 6. Repealed

M.O. 2009-05, s. 3.26; M.O. 2015-05, s. 12.
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3.27. Repealed

M.O. 2009-05, s. 3.27; M.O. 2015-05, s. 12.

3.28. Repealed

M.O. 2009-05, s. 3.28; M.O. 2015-05, s. 12.

DIVISION 5 Repealed

3.29. Repealed '\Q)ﬂ

M.O. 2009-05, s. 3.29; M.O. 2015-05, s. 12.

Q.
3.30. Repealed &%
&

M.O. 2009-05, s. 3.30; M.O. 2015-05, s. 12.

N
3.31. Repealed éo

M.O. 2009-05, s. 3.31; M.O. 2015-05, s. 12. &O

3.32. Repealed ,\<C)

M.O. 2009-05, s. 3.32: M.O. 2015-05, 5(19

3.33. Repealed \\%ﬂ

M.O. 2009-05, s. 3.33; M.O. 5-05, s. 12.

3.34. Repealed @

M.O. 2009-05. s& 0. 2013-09, s. 4: M.O. 2015-05, s. 12.

Repe

M.O. 2 , S. 3.35; M.O. 2013-09, s. 5; M.O. 2015-05, s. 12.
B:BQ Repealed

\\]‘.O. 2009-05, s. 3.36; M.O. 2015-05, s. 12.

3.37. Repealed

M.O. 2009-05, s. 3.37; M.O. 2015-05, s. 12.
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2009-05, s. 3.38; M.O. 2015-05, s.

2009-05, s. 3.39; M.O. 2015-05, s.

2009-05, s. 3.40; M.O. 2015-05, s.

2009-05, s. 3.41; M.O. 2015-05, s.

2009-05, s. 3.42; M.O. 2015-05, s.

2009-05, s. 3.43; M.O. 2015-05, s

2009-05, s. 3.44; M.O. ZOZIEK()?A

Repealed &

2009-05, s. 3.45; » 2015-05, s

12. Q:\(bﬂ
12, &Q/
S
12 %O
12,8
N
:I/Q

.12,

2009-0(@ 3.46: M.O. 2015-05, s. 12.

3.38. Repealed
M.O.

3.39. Repealed
M.O.

3.40. Repealed
M.O.

3.41. Repealed
M.O.

3.42. Repealed
M.O.

3.43. Repealed
M.O.

3.44. Repealed
M.O.

3.45.

M.O.

3.46. RepealedQQ~
M.O.

3.47. aled

2009-05, s. 3.47; M.O. 2015-05, s. 12.

Repealed

M.O.
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3.49. Repealed

M.O. 2009-05, s. 3.49; M.O. 2015-05, s. 12.

3.50. Repealed

M.O. 2009-05, s. 3.50; M.O. 2015-05, s. 12. QQJ
PART 4 CONTROL BLOCK DISTRIBUTIONS (i\
4.1. Control block distributions '\Q)ﬂ

(2) In this Part “control block distribution” means a trade to whic Qe'provisions of
securities legislation listed in Appendix B apply.

(2) Terms defined or interpreted in Regulation 62-103 re @g the Early Warning
System and Related Takeover Bid and Insider Reporting_ | (chapter V-1.1, r. 34)
and used in this Part have the same meaning as is assi them in that Regulation.

(3) The prospectus requirement does not appl og control block distribution by an
eligible institutional investor of a reporting issuer, urities if

(@) the eligible institutional investq@

0] has filed the repor&&uired under the early warning requirements
or files the reports required under, at’4 of Regulation 62-103 respecting the Early
Warning System and Related Takgower Bid and Insider Reporting Issues,

(i) does noNXwve knowledge of any material fact or material change
with respect to the report§' uer that has not been generally disclosed,

(i) not receive in the ordinary course of its business and
investment activiy owledge of any material fact or material change with respect to
the reporting%{ r that has not been generally disclosed, and

[

Q either alone or together with any joint actors, does not possess
effectiy trol of the reporting issuer,

(b)  there are no directors or officers of the reporting issuer who were, or could
%onably be seen to have been, selected, nominated or designated by the eligible
\ titutional investor or any joint actor,

(c) the control block distribution is made in the ordinary course of business or
investment activity of the eligible institutional investor,
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(d) securities legislation would not require the securities to be held for a
specified period of time if the trade was not a control block distribution,

(e) no unusual effort is made to prepare the market or to create a demand for
the securities, and

() no extraordinary commission or consideration is paid in respect of th
control block distribution. '\Q

(4)  An eligible institutional investor that makes a distribution in relian on
subsection (3) must file a letter within 10 days after the distribution that @ﬂbes the
date and size of the distribution, the market on which it was made and the pNce at which
the securities being distributed were sold. g

M.O. 2009-05, s. 4.1.
4.2. Distributions by a control person after a take-ov%&d’

(1)  The prospectus requirement does not apply to@ibution in a security from the
holdings of a control person acquired under a taka.oWer bid for which a take-over bid
circular was issued and filed if &

(@) the issuer whose securities z’ﬁ?eing acquired under the take-over bid
has been a reporting issuer for at least 4 @n s at the date of the take-over bid,

(b)  the intention to mak distribution is disclosed in the take-over bid
circular issued in respect of the E{G' er bid,

(c) the distributio@?nade within the period beginning on the date of the
expiry of the bid and end'gg days after that date,

d a notic intention to distribute securities in Form 45-102F1, Notice of
Intention to Disty Securities under Section 2.8 of Regulation 45-102 respecting
Resale of Secu&e (chapter V-1.1, r. 20) under Regulation 45-102 is filed before the
distribution,

% an insider report of the distribution in Form 55-102F2, Insider Report or
For 02F6, Insider Report, as applicable, under National Instrument 55-102,
S m for Electronic Disclosure by Insiders (SEDI), (chapter V-1.1, r. 30), is filed
\éhin 3 days after the completion of the distribution,

) no unusual effort is made to prepare the market or to create a demand for
the security, and

(9) no extraordinary commission or consideration is paid in respect of the
distribution.
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(2) A control person referred to in subsection (1) is not required to comply with
subsection (1) (b) if

(@) another person makes a competing take-over bid for securities of the
issuer for which the take-over bid circular is issued, and

(b)  the control person sells those securities to that other person f@
consideration that is not greater than the consideration offered by that otheq-ﬁ«son
under its take-over bid. Q)

'\ )

Q.

PART 5 OFFERINGS BY TSX VENTURE EXCHANGE OFF@Z DOCUMENT

M.O. 2009-05, s. 4.2.

5.1. Application and interpretation &

(1)  This Part does not apply in Ontario. &
(2) In this Part Os

“exchange policy” means Exchange P, @4.6 - Public Offering by Short Form
Offering Document and Exchange Form A@Short Form Offering Document, of the
TSX Venture Exchange as amended fron@'n to time;

“gross proceeds” means theﬁ?:sl/proceeds that are required to be paid to the
issuer for listed securities distribu der a TSX Venture exchange offering document;

“listed security” mea@kﬁcurity of a class listed on the TSX Venture Exchange;

“prior exchange %ing” means a distribution of securities by an issuer under a
TSX Venture excha ffering document that was completed during the 12-month
period immediat Qﬁeceding the date of the TSX Venture exchange offering document;

“subs@ntly triggered report” means a material change report that must be filed
no later t days after a material change under securities legislation as a result of a
materigl{< sange that occurs after the date the TSX Venture exchange offering
doc t is certified but before a purchaser enters into an agreement of purchase and

S§|
“TSX Venture exchange offering document” means an offering document that
complies with the exchange policy;

“TSX Venture Exchange” means the TSX Venture Exchange Inc.;
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“‘warrant” means a warrant of an issuer distributed under a TSX Venture
exchange offering document that entitles the holder to acquire a listed security or a
portion of a listed security of the same issuer.

M.O. 2009-05, s. 5.1.

5.2. TSX Venture Exchange offering QJ

L)
Refer to Appendix D of Regulation 45-102 respecting Resale of S‘e1ﬁrities
(chapter V-1.1, r. 20). These securities are free trading unless t e@‘eurity IS

acquired by

0] a purchaser that, at the time the security was acqui, as an insider or
promoter of the issuer of the security, an underwriter of t uer, or a member
of the underwriter's professional group, or Q/

(i) any other purchaser in excess of $40,000 e portion of the securities
in excess of $40,000. é

The first trade by purchasers under (i) an;@re subject to a restricted period.

This text box does not form part of th}é@gulation and has no official status.
Q

4

The prospectus requiremenvj}gs not apply to a distribution by an issuer in a
security of its own issue if \\

(a) theissuer ha@n AIF in a jurisdiction of Canada,
(b) the issuerRs¥* SEDAR filer,

(© th%%er is a reporting issuer in a jurisdiction of Canada and has filed in a
a

jurisdiction ofé/
QI a TSX Venture exchange offering document,

O (i) all documents required to be filed under the securities legislation of

@@risdiction, and
A\

(i)  any subsequently triggered report,

(d)  the distribution is of listed securities or units consisting of listed securities
and warrants,

Regulation 45-106 May 5, 2015 PAGE 63



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM MAY 5, 2015 TO NOVEMBER 16, 2015

(e) the issuer has filed with the TSX Venture Exchange a TSX Venture
exchange offering document in respect of the distribution, that

0] incorporates by reference the following documents of the issuer
filed with the securities regulatory authority in any jurisdiction of Canada:

A)  the AIF,

B) the most recent annual financial statements and th?ﬁ&A

relating to those financial statements,

to those financial reports, filed after the date of the AIF but before oy, e date of the

©°
C) all unaudited interim financial reports and th‘é I\%B&A relating
TSX Venture exchange offering document, %

D) all material change reports filed a date of the AIF but
before or on the date of the TSX Venture exchange offerin ment, and

E) all documents required u egulation 43-101 respecting
Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Proje chapter V-1.1, r. 15) and

Regulation 51-101 respecting Standards of %‘ ure for Oil and Gas Activities
(chapter. V-1.1, r. 23), filed on or after the dgte O the AIF but before or on the date of
the TSX Venture exchange offering documq@O

(i) deems any subsedﬁ@ly triggered report required to be delivered
to a purchaser under this Part to be%qr orated by reference,

(i)  grants to \rlhasers contractual rights of action in the event of a
misrepresentation, as requir y the exchange policy,

(iv) gr@lo purchasers contractual rights of withdrawal, as required
by the exchange poIi@a d

%)/Q ontains all the certificates required by the exchange policy,
() O e distribution is conducted in accordance with the exchange policy,

@ the issuer or the underwriter delivers the TSX Venture exchange offering
dgchent and any subsequently triggered report to each purchaser

0] before the issuer or the underwriter enters into the written
confirmation of purchase and sale resulting from an order or subscription for securities
being distributed under the TSX Venture exchange offering document, or

(i) not later than midnight on the 2nd business day after the
agreement of purchase and sale is entered into,
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(h)  the listed securities issued under the TSX Venture exchange offering
document, when added to the listed securities of the same class issued under prior
exchange offerings, do not exceed

0] the number of securities of the same class outstanding immediately
before the issuer distributes securities of the same class under the TSX Vent
exchange offering document, or '\Q

(i) the number of securities of the same class outstanding imm%ately
before a prior exchange offering, '\ 2N

when added to the gross proceeds from prior exchange offep do not exceed

0] the gross proceeds under the TSX Venture exchange @iﬂg document,
$2,000,000, é’

0) no purchaser acquires more than 20% of th@ﬂrities distributed under
the TSX Venture exchange offering document, and O

(k) no more than 50% of the securitiegdiXributed under the TSX Venture
exchange offering document are subject to sectj 5 of Regulation 45-102 respecting
Resale of Securities (chapter V-1.1, r. 20). <C)

M.O. 2009-05, s. 5.2; M.O. 2010-17, s. Z.Q

5.3.  Underwriter obligations QJ“

Policy 2.2 - Sponsorship an onsorship Requirements as amended from time to time
must sign the TSX Ventye€\M®change offering document and comply with TSX Venture
Exchange Appendix 4Aéue Diligence Report in connection with the distribution.

An underwriter thatéqﬁgﬂhes as a “sponsor’ under TSX Venture Exchange

M.O. 2009-05, s. R

PART 6 C) ORTING REQUIREMENTS

6.1. rt of exempt distribution

( Q Issuers that distribute their own securities and underwriters that distribute
rities they acquired under section 2.33 must file a report if they make the
\& tribution under one or more of the following exemptions:

(@) section 2.3 [Accredited investor] or, in Ontario, section 73.3 of the
Securities Act (R.S.0., 1990, chapter S.5) [Accredited investor];

(b) section 2.5 [Family, friends and business associates];
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(c) subsection 2.9 (1) or (2) [Offering memorandum for Alberta, B.C.,
Manitoba, New Brunswick, Nova Scotia, Newfoundland and Labrador, Northwest
Territories, Nunavut, Prince Edward Island, Québec, Saskatchewan and Yukon];

(d)  section 2.10 [Minimum amount investment];

(e)  section 2.12 [Asset acquisition]; '\QQJ
() section 2.13 [Petroleum, natural gas and mining properties]; ‘]/

\
(g)  section 2.14 [Securities for debt]; '\

(h)  section 2.19 [Additional investment in investment fun@
0] section 2.30 [Isolated distribution by issuer]; &
() section 5.2 [TSX Venture Exchange oﬁerin@

(2) The issuer or underwriter must file the %in the jurisdiction where the
distribution takes place no later than 10 days afK distribution.

M.O. 2009-05, s. 6.1; M.O. 2015-05, s. 13. ,\
6.2. When report not required (19

(1) Anissuer is not required t fi&ﬂreport under section 6.1(1)(a) [Report of exempt
distribution] for a distribution bt security of its own issue or, concurrently with the
distribution of the debt sec O%,‘an equity security of its own issue, to a Canadian
financial institution or a%fl e lll bank.

[

(2) An investmen@w s not required to file a report under section 6.1 [Report of
exempt distribug or a distribution under section 2.3 [Accredited investor],
section 2.10 [MiINdnUm amount investment] or section 2.19 [Additional investment in
investment f ], or section 73.3 of the Securities Act (R.S.0., 1990, chapter S.5) of
Ontario [Adgcrgdited investor] if the investment fund files the report not later than 30 days
after t ncial year-end of the investment fund.

\3:3 Required form of report of exempt distribution
(1)  The required form of report under section 6.1 is:

@) Form 45-106F1 in all jurisdictions except British Columbia; and
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(b) Form 45-106F6 in British Columbia

(2) Except in Manitoba, an issuer that makes a distribution under an exemption from
a prospectus requirement not provided for in this Regulation is exempt from the
requirements in securities legislation to file a report of exempt trade or exempt
distribution in the required form if the issuer files a report of exempt distribution in

accordance with Form 45-106F1 or, in British Columbia, Form 45-106F6. QQJ
M.O. 2009-05, s. 6.3. qi\
6.4. Required form of offering memorandum '\Q)ﬂ

(1) The required form of offering memorandum under sec '@2.9 [Offering
memorandum] is Form 45-106F2. %Q/

(2) Despite subsection (1), a qualifying issuer may prepar fering memorandum
in accordance with Form 45-106F3. A

M.O. 2009-05, s. 6.4; M.O. 2015-05, s. 15. \:O

6.5. Required form of risk acknowledgeme&o

(0.1) The required form of risk acknowledg@nt under subsection 2.3(6) [Accredited
investor] is Form 45-106F9. Q

(1)  The required form of risk a%o@édgement under subsection 2.9(15) [Offering
memorandum] is Form 45-106F4.

(2) In Saskatchewan, tr@ﬁired form of risk acknowledgement under section 2.6
[Family, friends and busige ssociates - Saskatchewan] is Form 45-106F5.

M.O. 2009-05, s. 6.5 . 2010-17, s. 4; M.O. 2015-05, s. 16.

6.6. Use of 'nQrgation in Form 45-106F6 Schedule | — British Columbia

A p&rsph must not, directly or indirectly, use the information in Schedule | of a
compl orm 45-106F6, in whole or in part, for any purpose other than research
con the issuer for the person’s own investment purpose.

e

\@-316, S. 2; M.O. 2015-05, s. 17.
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PART 7 EXEMPTION

7.1. Exemption

(2) The regulator or the securities regulatory authority may grant an exemption to
this Regulation, in whole or in part, subject to such conditions or restrictions as may be

imposed in the exemption. QJ

(2) In Ontario, only the regulator may grant an exemption and only from Pp{iyﬁ, in
whole or in part, subject to such conditions or restrictions as may be imposedwh the

exemption. '\ )
3) Except in Ontario, an exemption referred to in subsection (1) i ted under the
statute referred to in Appendix B of Regulation 14-101 r ing Definitions

(chapter V-1.1, r. 3), opposite the name of the local jurisdiction. §

M.O. 2009-05, s. 7.1. QQ/
O

PART 8 TRANSITIONAL, COMING INTO FOR

8.1. Additional investment —investment fu;{@exemption from prospectus
requirement <C)

fund in a security of its own issue to haser that initially acquired the security as

(1) The prospectus requirement d(;?ﬁi(} apply to a distribution by an investment
principal before September 28, 200%5“

(@) the security was $l ly acquired under any of the following provisions:

Act (R.S.A. 2000, c. S- they existed prior to their repeal by sections 9(a) and 13 of
the Securities Amen Act (Alberta), 2003 SA c.32 and sections 66.2 and 122.2 of
the Alberta SeCsz< ommission Rules (General) (Alta. Reg. 46/87);

0] in %b , sections 86(e) and 131(1)(d) of the Securities
t

s in British Columbia, sections 45(2) (5) and (22), and 74(2) (4)
and (19) @ ecurities Act (R.S.B.C. 1996, ch. 418),

(i)  in Manitoba, sections 19(3) and 58(1)(a) of the Securities
:ct .C.S.M. c. S50) and section 90 of the Securities Regulation MR 491/88R,;

(iv)  in New Brunswick, section 2.8 of Local Rule 45-501 Prospectus
and Registration Exemptions;

(V) in Newfoundland and Labrador, sections 36(1)(e) and 73(1)(d) of
the Securities Act;
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(vi)  in Nova Scotia, sections 41(1)(e) and 77(1)(d) of the Securities
Act (R.S.N.S. 1989, c. 418);

(vii)  in Northwest Territories, section 3(c) and (z) of Blanket Order No. 1;
(viii)  in Nunavut, section 3(c) and (z) of Blanket Order No. 1;

(ix)  in Ontario, sections 35(1)5 and 72(1)(d) of the Securities Act 09
section 2.12 of Ontario Securities Commission Rule 45-501 pt
Distributions ((2004) 27 OSCB 433) that came into force on January 12, 2004

(x) in Prince Edward Island, section 2(3)(d) of th'\ Securltles
Act (R.S.P.E.l. 1988, c. S-3) and Prince Edward Island Local Rul 12 - Exempt
Distributions Exemption for Purchase of Mutual Fund Securities; &/

(xi) in Queébec, section 51 and 155 of the Securities
Act (chapter V-1.1) (Québec); A

(xii) in Saskatchewan, sections 39@ and 81(1)(d) of the The
Securities Act, 1988 (S.S. 1988, c. S-42.2); O

(b)  the distribution is of a security same class or series as the initial
distribution, and ,\éj

(© the security holder, as at \@ate of the distribution, holds securities of the
investment fund that have QJ

0] an acquisiy ost of not less than the minimum amount prescribed
by securities legislation refe o in paragraph (a) under which the initial distribution
was conducted, or

(i) @s asset value of not less than the minimum amount prescribed
by securities legj referred to in paragraph (a) under which the initial distribution

was conducted.
M.O. 200 Qsj% 8.1
Ny
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8.1.1. Repealed

In British Columbia section 8.1.1 was repealed by B.C. Reg. 227/2009. In
Québec, section 8.1.1 will be repealed by Regulation to amend Regulation 45-
106 respecting Prospectus and Registration Exemptions (M.O. 2015-05, 2015
G.0O. 2, 745). All other jurisdictions will repeal section 8.1.1 in these QJ
amendments. This text box does not form part of this Regulation and has n Q
official status. e

v
NO*

M.O. 2009-05, s. 8.1.1; M.O. 2015-05, s. 18. 2

8.2. Definition of “accredited investor” —investment fund %

An investment fund that distributed its securities to @s pursuant to any of
the following provisions is an investment fund under parag@n)(ii) of the definition of

“accredited investor”: O

(@) in Alberta, sections 86(e) and 131(l)(MN of the Securities Act as they
existed prior to their repeal by sections 9(a) ag% of the Securities Amendment Act
and sections 66.2 and 122.2 of the Albertg, Sesurities Commission Rules (General)
(Alta. Reg. 46/87); %

(b) in British Columbia, secti&}gS(Z) (5) and (22), and 74(2) (4) and (19) of
the Securities Act (R.S.B.C. 1996, c%l@ ;

(c) in Manitoba, s .'B\hs 19(3) and 58(1)(a) of the Securities Act and
section 90 of the Securities@ation MR 491/88R;

(d) in New B@Swick, section 2.8 of Local Rule 45-501 Prospectus and
Registration Exempgi@;

(e) i Qewfoundland and Labrador, sections 36(1)(e) and 73(1)(d) of the
Securities A¢§

in Nova Scotia, sections 41(1)(e) and 77(1)(d) of the Securities
Act .S. 1989, c. 418);

\é (9) in Northwest Territories, section 3(c) and (z) of Blanket Order No. 2;
(h) in Nunavut, section 3(c) and (z) of Blanket Order No. 3;
0] in Ontario, sections 35(1)5 and 72(1)(d) of the Securities Act and

section 2.12 of Ontario  Securites Commission Rule 45-501 Exempt
Distributions ((2004) 27 OSCB 433) that came into force on January 12, 2004;
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() in Prince Edward Island, section 2(3)(d) of the Securities
Act (R.S.P.E.I. 1988, c. S-3(Prince Edward Island) and Prince Edward Island Local
Rule 45-512 -Exempt Distributions - Exemption for Purchase of Mutual Fund Securities;

(k) in Québec, former section 51 and former paragraph 155.1(2) of the
Securities Act (chapter V-1.1) as it read prior to September 28, 2009; QJ

0] in Saskatchewan, sections 39(1)(e) and 81(1)(d) of the The S@i?itles
Act (S.S. 1988., c. S-42.2) (b
\ 4

8.3. Transition — Closely-held issuer — exemption from pros%%vs requirement

M.O. 2009-05, s. 8.2.

(1) In this section, “2001 OSC Rule 45-501" mean @ Ontario Securities

Commission Rule 45-501 Exempt Distributions th ame into force on
November 30, 2001; “2004 OSC Rule 45-501" m the Ontario Securities
Commission Rule 45-501 Exempt Distribution t came into force on

January 12, 2004; “closely-held issuer” has the sa6 aning as in 2004 OSC Rule 45-

501, &

(2)  The prospectus requirement does (@pply to a distribution of a security that
was previously distributed by a closel I issuer under section 2.1 of 2001 OSC
Rule 45-501, or under section 2.1 c}lgtm OSC Rule 45-501, to a person who
purchases the security as principal @g is

(@ adirector, officer§~ loyee, founder or control person of the issuer,

(b) a spouse, Q‘[ grandparent, brother, sister or child of a director,
executive officer, foundév control person of the issuer,

O

(© ap grandparent, brother, sister or child of the spouse of a director,
executive oﬁice&o nder or control person of the issuer,

(d% C)i close personal friend of a director, executive officer, founder or control

person issuer,

Q (e) a close business associate of a director, executive officer, founder or

@trol person of the issuer,

0] a spouse, parent, grandparent, brother, sister or child of the selling
security holder or of the selling security holder’s spouse,

(g)  asecurity holder of the issuer,

Regulation 45-106 May 5, 2015 PAGE 71



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM MAY 5, 2015 TO NOVEMBER 16, 2015

(h)  an accredited investor,

(1) a person of which a majority of the voting securities are beneficially owned
by, or a majority of the directors are, persons described in paragraphs (a) to (h),

() a trust or estate of which all of the beneficiaries or a majority of the

trustees or executors are persons described in paragraphs (a) to (h), or QQJ
(K) a person that is not the public. (i\
M.O. 2009-05, s. 8.3. '\(b«

831 R led
epeale AQ/Q‘

In British Columbia section 8.3.1 was repealed by B.C 27/2009. In
Québec, section 8.3.1 will be repealed by Regulatio end Regulation 45-
106 respecting Prospectus and Registration Exe, ns (M.O. 2015-05, 2015
G.O. 2, 745). All other jurisdictions will repeal on 8.3.1 in these
amendments. This text box does not forrrll@ef this Regulation and has no

official status.
%)

Q\

M.O. 2009-05, s. 8.3.1; M.O. 2015-%%. 9.

8.4. Transition — relnvest lan

before September 28, and provides for the distribution of a security that is of a

Despite subsecti % 5) if an issuer’'s reinvestment plan was established
different class or serti an the class or series of the security to which the dividend or

distribution is attyt , the issuer or the trustee, custodian or administrator of the
plan must provit¢ t each person who is already a participant the description of the
material attri and characteristics of the securities traded under the plan or notice of

a source hich the participant can obtain the information not later than 140 days
after th financial year end of the issuer ending on or after September 28, 2009.

09-05, s. 8.4; M.O. 2015-05, s. 20.

N
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8.5. Repealed

In British Columbia section 8.5 was repealed by B.C. Reg. 227/2009. In Québec,
section 8.5 will be repealed by Regulation to amend Regulation 45-106
respecting Prospectus and Registration Exemptions (M.O. 2015-05, 2015 G.O.

2, 745). All other jurisdictions will repeal section 8.5 in these amendments. ThisQJ
text box does not form part of this Regulation and has no official status. '\Q

0

v
NO*

M.O. 2009-05, s. 8.5; M.O. 2015-05, s. 21. 2
8.6. Repeal of former regulation %Q/

This Regulation replaces Regulation 45-106 respecti spectus Exemptions
(M.O. 2005-20, 05-08-12). Q/

M.O. 2009-05, s. 8.6. %O

8.7. Effective date &O
(Omitted) ,\<0
M.O. 2009-05, s. 8.7. (19

Q
<<‘*O
&
&
<
Ny
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APPENDIX A

VARIABLE INSURANCE CONTRACT EXEMPTION (section 2.39)

JURISDICTION

LEGISLATION REFERENCE

ALBERTA

“contract of insurance”, “group insurance”, “life insurance”, and
“policy” have the respective meanings assigned to them un
the Insurance Act (R.S.A. 2000, c. I-3) and the regula

under that Act. '\

“insurance company” means an insurer as defineglﬂ the

Insurance Act that is licensed under that Act. N
BRITISH COLUMBIA “contract”, “group insurance”, and “policy” e the respective

meanings assigned to them under nsurance Act

(R.S.B.C. 1996, c. 226) and the regulay

“life insurance” has the respective %q g assigned to it under
the Financial Institutions Act ( . 1996, c. 141) and the
regulations under that Act.

“insurance company” me an insurance company, or an
extraprovincial insura oration, authorized to carry on
insurance businesgo UNder the Financial Institutions Act
(R.S.B.C. 1996,;:(

MANITOBA

“contract of i%aﬁ:e”, “group insurance”, “life insurance”, and
“policy” ha respective meanings assigned to them under
the Ins e Act (C.C.S.M. c.I-40) and the regulations under
that Ath/

“i ance company” means an insurer as defined in the

__t]s ance Act that is licensed under that Act.

NEW BRUNSWICK

&

-

)

contract of insurance”, “group insurance”, “life insurance”, and
“policy” have the respective meanings assigned to them under
the Insurance Act (R.S.N.B. 1973, c. I-12) and the regulations
under that Act.

“insurance company” means an insurer as defined in the
Insurance Act that is licensed under that Act.

.
NORTHWES&)@RITORIES

Q~
<

”ou

“contract”, “group insurance”, “life insurance”, and “policy” have
the respective meanings assigned to them under the Insurance
Act (R.S.N.W.T. 188, c.I-4).

“insurance company” means an insurer as defined in the
Insurance Act that is licensed under that Act.

@A SCOTIA

“contract”, “group insurance”, “life insurance”, and “policy” have
the respective meanings assigned to them under the Insurance
Act (R.S.N.S. 1989, c. 231) and the regulations under that Act.

“insurance company” has the same meaning as in
section 3(1)(a) of the General Securities Rules (N.S.
Reg. 51/96).
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JURISDICTION LEGISLATION REFERENCE

ONTARIO “contract”, “group insurance”, and “policy” have the respective
meanings assigned to them in section 1 and 171 of the
Insurance Act (R.S.0. 1990, c. I-8).

“life insurance” has the respective meaning assigned to it in
Schedule 1 by Order of the Superintendent of Finan%
Services.

“insurance company” has the same meaning as in se '\1(2)
of the General Regulation (R.R.O. 1990, Reg. 1015)

QUEBEC “contract of insurance”, “group insurance”, “life \che” and
“policy” have the respective meanings ass d to them under
the Civil Code of Québec (1991, chapter%q =

“insurance company” means an insur
the Act respecting insurance (chap

ng a license under

PRINCE EDWARD ISLAND “contract”, “group msuranc : rer" “life insurance” and

“policy” have the respec anings assigned to them in
sections 1 and 174 o nsurance Act (R.S.P.E.l. 1988,
C.1-4). é

“insurance comp eans an insurance company licensed
under the Insur ct.

SASKATCHEWAN “contract” Ye-)nsurance” and “policy” have the respective
meamz&agned to them in section 2 of The Saskatchewan

Insura ct (S.S. 1978, c. S-26).

“g%w’nsurance” has the respective meaning assigned to it in
ectfbn 133 of The Saskatchewan Insurance Act.

N‘Insurance company” means an issuer licensed under The

& Saskatchewan Insurance Act.

.
YUKON @ “contract”, “group”, ‘life insurance” and “policy” have the

respective meanings assigned to them under the Insurance Act
(R.S.Y. 2002, c. 119) and the regulations made under that Act.

“insurance company” means an insurer as defined in the
Insurance Act that is licensed under that Act.
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APPENDIX B

CONTROL BLOCK DISTRIBUTIONS (Part 4)

JURISDICTION

SECURITIES LEGISLATION REFERENCE

ALBERTA

Section 1(p)(iii) of the Securities Act

BRITISH COLUMBIA

Paragraph (c) of the definition of “distribution” contained in
section 1 of the Securities Act ,

MANITOBA

NEW BRUNSWICK

Paragraph (c) of the definition of “distribution” congayn
section 1(1) of the Securities Act (S.N.B. 2004, c. S-S.ga/

Section 1(b) of the definition of “primary distribution to
public” contained in subsection 1(1) of the Securities Act
eN in

NEWFOUNDLAND AND LABRADOR

Section 2(1)(1)(iii) of the Securities Act <

NORTHWEST TERRITORIES

Paragraph (c) of the definition of ution” in
subsection 1(1) of the Securities Act (R.S.)§yAY.T. 1988, c. S-5)

NOVA SCOTIA

Section 2(1)(1)(ii)) of the Securities Act £,

ONTARIO

PRINCE EDWARD ISLAND

Paragraph (c) of the definition of “gh ion” contained in
subsection 1(1) of the Securities Ac
Section 1(f)(iii) of the Securities A

QUEBEC Paragraph 9 of the definiti W‘distribution" contained in
section 5 of the Securities hapter V-1.1)

SASKATCHEWAN Section 2(1)(r)(iii) of The,&ecyrities Act, 1988

YUKON Paragraph (c) of \__definition of “distribution” in

subsection 1(1) of yag S&curities Act (R.S.Y. 2002, ¢.201)

M.O. 2009-05, Sch. B.

Q
<<‘*O
&
&
<
Ny
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FORM 45-106F1
REPORT OF EXEMPT DISTRIBUTION

Except in British Columbia, this is the form required under section 6.1 of
Regulation 45-106 respecting Prospectus Exemptions (chapter V-1.1, r. 21) for a report
of exempt distribution. In British Columbia, the required form is Form 45-106F6.

N

Item 1: State the full name of the issuer of the security distributed and the a#iress
and telephone number of its head office. If the issuer of the security di @ted IS an
investment fund, state the name of the fund as the issuer, and provideghe Il name of

Issuer/underwriter information

the manager of the investment fund and the address and telephone r of the head

office of the manager. Include the former name of the issuer if i e has changed
since last report. If an underwriter is completing this form, also s e full name of the
underwriter and the address and telephone number of head office of the
underwriter. A

Item 2: State whether the issuer is or is not a@ing issuer and, if reporting,
each of the jurisdictions in which it is reporting.

Item 3: Indicate the industry of the issu r’t&checking the appropriate box next to
one of the industries listed below. ,\80

] Bio-tech (19 Mining

QJ N ] exploration/development
\\ [ ]  production

Financial Services v [] Oilandgas

[] investment goNP¥anies and funds

] mortgageééstment companies ] Real estate

[] securiti@ roducts issuers
[] Fores%Q E []  Utilities
[] H'-@ [] Other (describe)

DQCD ustrial
%&ails of distribution
N\

Item 4: Complete Schedule | to this report. Schedule | is designed to assist in
completing the remainder of this report.

Item 5: State the distribution date. If the report is being filed for securities
distributed on more than one distribution date, state all distribution dates.
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Item 6: For each security distributed:

(@)  describe the type of security,

(b)  state the total number of securities distributed. If the security is convertible
or exchangeable, describe the type of underlying security, the terms of exercise%
conversion and any expiry date; and '\Q

(]/

“

Complete the following table for each Canadian and fo ié?bjurisdiction
éeurities issued

(c) state the exemption(s) relied on.

ltem 7:

where purchasers of the securities reside. Do not include in this tablg,

as payment for commissions or finder’s fees disclosed under item W.
N

Number of
purchasers

Each jurisdiction where purchasers
reside

jurisdiction

(Canadian $)

Price per securj &N‘otal dollar value raised
(Canadian ' from purchasers in the

N

<

Total number of Purchasers

Total dollar value of distribution in all
jurisdictions (Canadian $)

Note 1: If securities are issued at different prices list th% and lowest price the securities were sold for.

Commissions and finder’s fees

b
Item 8: Complete the followhg table by providing information for each person who
has received or will receiye\pwompensation in connection with the distribution(s).
Compensation includes co sions, discounts or other fees or payments of a similar

nature. Do not include ents for services incidental to the distribution, such as
clerical, printing, leg counting services.

If the s% les being issued as compensation are or include convertible
securities, s warrants or options, please add a footnote describing the terms of
the conver, '%ecurities, including the term and exercise price. Do not include the
exercise& of any convertible security in the total dollar value of the compensation

unles securities have been converted.
Il Mme and Compensation paid or to be paid (cash and/or securities)
ess of the Cash Securities Total dollar
\Jerson being (Canadian $) Number and Price per Exemption value of

compensated type of security relied on and | compensation

securities date of (Canadian $)
issued distribution
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Item 9: If a distribution is made in Ontario, please include the attached
“Authorization of Indirect Collection of Personal Information for Distributions in Ontario”.
The “Authorization of Indirect Collection of Personal Information for Distributions in
Ontario” is only required to be filed with the Ontario Securities Commission.

Certificate
Q‘o

On behalf of the [issuer/underwriter], | certify that the statements made in this rqukare
true.

Date:

Name of [issuer/underwriter] (please print) \&%

Print name, title and telephone number of person signin@
Signature &G_
INSTRUCTION ,\<Q

The person filing the form must(&plete the bracketed information by deleting
the inappropriate word. QJ N

contacted with respect to an estions regarding the contents of this report, if different
than the person signing tiqe WXtificate.

Item 10: State the nar@ﬂ'&and telephone number of the person who may be
IT IS AN OFFENCE @ AKE A MISREPRESENTATION IN THIS REPORT.
Qot ce - Collection and use of personal information
Th @&nal information required under this form is collected on behalf of and

used b securities regulatory authorities or, where applicable, the regulators under
the& ity granted in securities legislation for the purposes of the administration and

es cement of the securities legislation.

\ If you have any questions about the collection and use of this information,
contact the securities regulatory authority or, where applicable, the regulator in the
jurisdiction(s) where the form is filed, at the address(es) listed at the end of this report.
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Authorization of Indirect Collection of Personal Information
for Distributions in Ontario

The attached Schedule I contains personal information of purchasers and details
of the distribution(s). The issuer/underwriter hereby confirms that each purchaser listed
in Schedule | of this report who is resident in Ontario

(@) has been notified by the issuer/underwriter QQJ

0] of the delivery to the Ontario Securities Commission‘lﬂ the
information pertaining to the person as set out in Schedule I, '\Q)‘s

(i) that this information is being collected indirec goy the Ontario
Securities Commission under the authority granted to it in securitie% jslation,

(i) that this information is being collecte @ne purposes of the
administration and enforcement of the securities legislation tario, and

(iv)  of the title, business address and@ess telephone number of the
public official of the local jurisdiction, as set out in this \eport, who can answer questions
about the Ontario Securities Commission’s indir& llection of the information, and

(b) has authorized the indirect Cfé@tion of the information by the Ontario
Securities Commission. Q

QJSZ:kedule I
Complete the following @A

For reports filed u ub-section 6.1(1)(j) (TSX Venture Exchange offering) of
Regulation 45-106 res g Prospectus Exemptions (the following table only needs to
list the total numb purchasers by jurisdiction instead of including the name,
residential addre telephone number of each purchaser.

Do no@clude in this table, securities issued as payment of commissions or
iISclosed under item 8 of this report.

finder’s f
®§ information in this schedule will not be placed on the public file of any
S ities regulatory authority or, where applicable, regulator. However, freedom
éﬂformaﬁon legislation in certain jurisdictions may require the securities regulatory
thority or, where applicable, regulator to make this information available if requested.
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Full name,
residential
address and
telephone number
of purchaser

Number and type
of securities
purchased

Total purchase
price (Canadian $)

Exemption relied
on

Date of distribution

Instructions:

Q‘o
‘L\

1. References to a purchaser in this report are to the beneficial Kﬁyﬁ of the

securities.

2. Except in British Columbia, file this report and the ap :e fee in each
jurisdiction in which a distribution is made at the addresses i

report. If the distribution is made in more than one jurisdictj

must complete a single report identifying all purchasers angNj
the jurisdictions in which the distribution is made. Filing
the report are not affected by identifying all purchasers %

2.1 In British Columbia, file Form 45-106
distribution is made in British Columbia a
Form 45-106F6 in British Columbia and file £

applicable jurisdictions.

Q

&

at the end of this

e issuer/underwriter

that report in each of

ssociated with the filing of
ingle report.

F @d pay the applicable fee. If the
e or more other jurisdictions, file
orm, following instruction 2, in the other

3. If the space provided for ary/_anSwer is insufficient, additional sheets may be

used and must be cross-refere
signed by the person whose si

each other provided th

Y

o the relevant part and properly identified and
re appears on the report.

report is filed on or before the 10th day following the first of

4. One report may §e$d for multiple distributions occurring within 10 days of

such distributions.

O

5. The infor%g(;n in items 5, 6, and 7 must reconcile with the information in

Schedule | o

6. I
juris @

This

report

must

be filed

in English or

in  French.

m 45-106F1. All dollar amounts must be in Canadian dollars.

er to determine the applicable fee, consult the securities legislation of each
in which a distribution is made.

In Québec, the

\iuerlunderwriter must comply with linguistic obligations and rights prescribed by

Québec law.
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Securities Regulatory Authorities and Regulators

Alberta Securities Commission
Suite 600, 250 — 5th Street SW
Calgary, Alberta T2P OR4
Telephone: 403-297-6454

Facsimile: 403-297-6156 QJ
P

Saskatchewan Financial Services Commission

Suite 601 - 1919 Saskatchewan Drive ©*
Regina, Saskatchewan S4P 4H2 '\
Telephone: 306-787-5879

Facsimile: 306-787-5899 %Q/

The Manitoba Securities Commission

500 — 400 St Mary Avenue A
Winnipeg, Manitoba R3C 4K5 O
Telephone: 204-945-2548 %
Toll free in Manitoba 1-800-655-5244

Facsimile: 204-945-0330 &O

Ontario Securities Commission ,\<C)
Suite 1903, Box 55 Q

20 Queen Street West q/

Toronto, Ontario M5H 3S8 QJ“

Telephone: (416) 593- 8314

Toll free in Canada: 1-877-78

Facsimile: 416-593-8122 5§~

Public official contact reggr indirect collection of information:
Administrative Support%«

Telephone: 416-593-

Autorité des m&hés financiers
800, Square {Jejoria, 22e étage
C.P. 246 '@ de la Bourse

Montrégxebec H4Z 1G3

TelepQo)&: 514-395-0337 Or 1-877-525-0337
Facmile: 514-873-6155 (For filing purposes only)
\éssimile: 514-864-6381 (For privacy requests only)
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New Brunswick Securities Commission
85 Charlotte Street, Suite 300

Saint John, New Brunswick E2L 2J2
Telephone: 506-658-3060

Toll Free in New Brunswick 1-866-933-2222
Facsimile: 506-658-3059

Suite 400, 5251 Duke Street

Halifax, Nova Scotia B3J 1P3

Telephone: 902-424-7768 Q)ﬂ
Facsimile: 902-424-4625 N

Nova Scotia Securities Commission '\QQJ

Prince Edward Island Securities Office &
95 Rochford Street, 4th Floor Shaw Building %

P.O. Box 2000 @
Charlottetown, Prince Edward Island C1A 7N8 AQ/
Telephone: 902-368-4569 O

Facsimile: 902-368-5283

Government of Newfoundland and Labrador O
Financial Services Regulation Division &
P.O. Box 8700 <C)
Confederation Building 2nd Floor, West B@%

Prince Philip Drive

St. John’s, NFLD A1B 4J6 QJ“

Attention: Director of Securities \\

Telephone: 709-729-4189

Facsimile: 709-729-6187 g?‘

Government of Yukor@
Office of the Yukon intendent of Securities
Government of Y,

Department of unity Services

307 Black St&et, 1% Floor

PO Box -6)

Whitehd ukon Y1A 2C6
Tel . 867-667-5466

F mile: 867-393-6251
é/lwww.communitv.qov.vk.ca/corp/securities about.html

Government of Northwest Territories
Government of the Northwest Territories
Office of the Superintendent of Securities
P.O. Box 1320

Yellowknife, NT X1A 2L9
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Attention: Deputy Superintendent, Legal & Enforcement
Telephone: 867-920-8984
Facsimile: 867-873-0243

Government of Nunavut

Department of Justice

Legal Registries Division <O
P.O. Box 1000, Station 570 Q
1st Floor, Brown Building '\
Igaluit, Nunavut X0A OHO ‘]/
Telephone: 867-975-6590 O
Facsimile: 867-975-6594 '\

M.O. 2009-05, Sch. 45-106F1; M.O. 2015-05, s. 23; M.O. 2015-06@@

&
O
X
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FORM 45-106F2
OFFERING MEMORANDUM FOR NON-QUALIFYING ISSUERS

Date: [Insert the date from the certificate page.]

The Issuer

Name: '\QQJ
Head office: Address: ‘]/

Phone #: '\Q)‘s

E-mail address:

Fax #: %Q*

Currently listed or quoted? [If no, state in bold type: “These sec s do not trade on
any exchange or market”. If yes, state where, e.g., TSX/TS ture Exchange.]
Reporting issuer? [Yes/No. If yes, state where.] A

é
&:
\:
Q
(L

Price per security: QJ .

SEDAR filer? [Yes/No]
The Offering
Securities offered:

Minimum/Maximum offering: [ TF}tre iS no minimum, state in bold type: “There is no
minimum.” and also state inWXd type: “You may be the only purchaser.”]

State in bold type: Fu%* available under the offering may not be sufficient to
accomplish our pro@ d objectives.

or state “Th IS N0 Minimum subscription amount an investor must invest.”

O

Paym&&ms:

Péo sed closing date(s):
\ﬂ ome tax consequences: There are important tax consequences to these securities.
See item 6. [If income tax consequences are not material, delete this item.]

Minimum subgc&tign amount: [State the minimum amount each investor must invest,

Selling agent? [Yes/No. If yes, state “See item 7”. The name of the selling agent may
also be stated.]
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Resale restrictions

State: “You will be restricted from selling your securities for [4 months and a day/an
indefinite period]. See item 10.”

Purchaser's rights

State: “You have 2 business days to cancel your agreement to purchase t
securities. If there is a misrepresentation in this offering memorandum, you W the
right to sue either for damages or to cancel the agreement. See item 11.”

O
State in bold type: '\

“No securities regulatory authority or regulator has assessed t rits of these
securities or reviewed this offering memorandum. Any re ntation to the
contrary is an offence. This is a risky investment. See item 8§

[All of the above information must appear on a single cove@z
Item 1 Use of Available Funds \:O

1.1. Funds - Using the following table, disclo,@s funds available as a result of the
offering. If the issuer plans to combine additipnaNsources of funding with the available
funds from the offering to achieve its prinx‘,@capital-raising purpose, please provide
details about each additional source of g. If there is no minimum offering, state
“$0” as the minimum.

fworking capital deficiency, if any, of the issuer
prior to the date of the offering memorandum. If the
t be eliminated by the use of available funds, state how
r manage the deficiency.

Disclose also the amount ¢f
as at a date not more than 30
working capital deficiency wi
the issuer intends to eli&

N Assuming min. offering | Assuming max. offering
A. Amount to be A<M by this offering $ $
B. Selling cor{gaissions and fees $ $
C Estima ffering costs (e.g., legal, | $ $
accg, audit.)
D. AyaNpk funds: D = A - (B+C) $ $
E. fonal sources of funding required $ $
F. , %/r)orking capital deficiency $ $
G. 8| Total: G = (D+E) - F $ $

S
1.2. Use of Available Funds - Using the following table, provide a detailed
breakdown of how the issuer will use the available funds. If any of the available funds
will be paid to a related party, disclose in a note to the table the name of the related
party, the relationship to the issuer, and the amount. If the issuer has a working capital

deficiency, disclose the portion, if any, of the available funds to be applied against the
working capital deficiency. If more than 10% of the available funds will be used by the

Regulation 45-106 May 5, 2015 PAGE 86



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM MAY 5, 2015 TO NOVEMBER 16, 2015

issuer to pay debt and the issuer incurred the debt within the 2 preceding financial
years, describe why the debt was incurred.

Description of intended use of available funds listed | Assuming min. offering | Assuming max. offering
in order or priority

$ $
$ $ P>
$ $ AN

1.3. Reallocation — The available funds must be used for the purposes discﬂ}g& in
the offering memorandum. The board of directors can reallocate the proce%sjt other
uses only for sound business reasons. If the available funds may be reallo& T‘include
the following statement: Q‘

“We intend to spend the available funds as stated. We WiI@ﬁcate funds only
for sound business reasons.”

Item 2 Business of [name of issuer or other termd.&to refer to issuer]

2.1. Structure — State the business structure (e.g.@ership, corporation or trust),
the statute and the province, state or other jupgrsdiction under which the issuer is
incorporated, continued or organized, and the& of incorporation, continuance or

organization. (c)

2.2.  Our Business — Describe the }s@r's business. The disclosure must provide
sufficient information to enable a prpspective purchaser to make an informed
investment decision. For a non-re§gyrce issuer this disclosure may include principal
products or services, operatiaQp, Mmarket, marketing plans and strategies and a
discussion of the issuer’s cyr and prospective competitors. For a resource issuer
this will require a descrip%s f principal properties (including interest held) and a
summary of material in tion including, if applicable: the stage of development,
reserves, geology, o ns, production and mineral reserves or mineral resources
being explored o loped. A resource issuer disclosing scientific or technical
information for neral project must follow General Instruction A.8 of this Form. A
resource issyer Nisclosing information about its oil and gas activities must follow
General Inﬁ) pon A.9 of this Form.

2.3. &\opment of Business — Describe (generally, in 1 or 2 paragraphs) the
gerﬁ evelopment of the issuer's business over at least its 2 most recently completed
figarsial years and any subsequent period. Include the major events that have occurred
%onditions that have influenced (favourably or unfavourably) the development of the

I8suer.
2.4. Long Term Objectives — Describe each significant event that must occur to

accomplish the issuer’s long term objectives, state the specific time period in which
each event is expected to occur, and the costs related to each event.
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2.5. Short Term Objectives and How We Intend to Achieve Them
(@) Disclose the issuer's objectives for the next 12 months.

(b) Using the following table, disclose how the issuer intends to meet those
objectives for the next 12 months.

L=
What we must do and how we will do | Target completion date or, if | Our cost to complete GJ
it not known, number of months '\
to complete q,
$ Co o
$ ANO

2.6. Insufficient Funds Q/Q )

If applicable, disclose that the funds available as a regu the offering either
may not or will not be sufficient to accomplish all of the issue posed objectives and
there is no assurance that alternative financing will be ava . If alternative financing
has been arranged, disclose the amount, source and@ outstanding conditions that
must be satisfied.

2.7. Material Agreements — Disclose the ke;&@ of all material agreements

(@) towhich the issuer is currently@rty, or
(b)  with a related party (1/

A
including the following infg,&ua on:

0] if the &ent is with a related party, the name of the related
party and the reIationshi@

(i) scription of any asset, property or interest acquired, disposed
of, leased, undeQ , etc.,

C)%}' a description of any service provided,

Q ~ (iv)  purchase price and payment terms (e.g., paid in instalments, cash,
sec@ or work commitments),

(v) the principal amount of any debenture or loan, the repayment
t®rms, security, due date and interest rate,

(vi)  the date of the agreement,

(vii)  the amount of any finder's fee or commission paid or payable to a
related party in connection with the agreement,
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(vii)

(ix)

Iltem 3

3.1.

any material outstanding obligations under the agreement, and

for any transaction involving the purchase of assets by or sale of
assets to the issuer from a related party, state the cost of the assets to the related party,
and the cost of the assets to the issuer.

person who, directly or indirectly, beneficially owns or controls 10% or
of voting securities of the issuer (a “principal holder”). If the princip

individual, state in a note to the table the name of any person tha

beneficially owns or controls more than 50% of the voting rights’§&C

the issuer has not completed its first financial year, then i
since inception. Compensation includes any form of re

shares and options.

Interests of Directors, Management, Promoters and Principal Ho;@?

Compensation and Securities Held — Using the following table, providt the
specified information about each director, officer and promoter of the iss é

& md each
re®f any class
der is not an

{octly or indirectly,

principal holder. If
compensation paid
ration including cash,

Compensation paid %umber, type and
issuer or related percentage of

Name and Positions held Number, type and
municipality of (e.g., director, ) percentage of
principal officer, in the most rec& securities of the securities of the
residence promoter completed figlapcia issuer held after issuer held after
and/or year ar'\ completion of min. completion of
principal com ation offering max. offering
holder) and the | antici 0 be paid
date of in e cuMent financial
obtaining that e) S year
position 4‘

3.2.

\‘
Management&ﬂence — Using the following table, disclose the principal
occupations of the g{Nctors and executive officers over the past 5 years. In addition, for
each individual, Q rTbe any relevant experience in a business similar to the issuer's.
Z,

Name Principal occupation and related experience

~

AN

=

&P

3.3 enalties, Sanctions and Bankruptcy

\é (@) Disclose any penalty or sanction (including the reason for it and whether it
is currently in effect) that has been in effect during the last 10 years, or any cease trade
order that has been in effect for a period of more than 30 consecutive days during the
past 10 years against

0] a director, executive officer or control person of the issuer, or
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(i) an issuer of which a person referred to in (i) above was a director,
executive officer or control person at the time.

(b) Disclose any declaration of bankruptcy, voluntary assignment in
bankruptcy, proposal under any bankruptcy or insolvency legislation, proceedings,
arrangement or compromise with creditors or appointment of a receiver, rece
manager or trustee to hold assets, that has been in effect during the last 10 year, @
regard to any

(1) director, executive officer or control person of the issug\l{'@ﬂ
(i) issuer of which a person referred to in (i) aongvas a director,

executive officer or control person at that time.

terms, security, due date and interest rate due to or from irectors, management,
promoters and principal holders as at a date not more t 0 days prior to the date of
the offering memorandum. é

3.4. Loans - Disclose the principal amount of any debentFQIoan the repayment

ltem 4 Capital Structure &O

4.1. Share Capital — Using the following ;g?]} provide the required information about
outstanding securities of the issuer (in g options, warrants and other securities
convertible into shares). If necessary, K@ to the table may be added to describe the
material terms of the securities. QJ“

Description Number Number Number Number
of security authorized to %ﬁnty outstanding as at outstanding outstanding
be issued @ [a date not more after min. after max.
than 30 days prior offering offering
to the offering

memorandum date]

g_~

el

L&

42. L gjerm Debt Securities — Using the following table, provide the required
inforn&about outstanding long term debt of the issuer. Disclose the portion of the

de within 12 months of the date of the offering memorandum. If the securities
lQoffered are debt securities, add a column to the table disclosing the amount of
that will be outstanding after both the minimum and maximum offering. If the debt

\ owed to a related party, indicate that in a note to the table and identify the related

party.
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Description of long term debt Interest rate Repayment terms Amount outstanding at [a
(including whether secured) date not more than 30 days
prior to the offering
memorandum date]

Z
\®)
4.3. Prior Sales — If the issuer has issued any securities of the class bein cﬂ&d
under the offering memorandum (or convertible or exchangeable into the claiaf)eing
offered under the offering memorandum) within the last 12 months, use t{@ @pllowing
table to provide the information specified. If securities were issued in éx ange for
assets or services, describe in a note to the table the assets or s@iges that were
provided.

Date of issuance Type of security Number of Price per(s/& Total funds received

issued securities issued . ‘
Qv

L

$

Item 5 Securities Offered O

5.1. Terms of Securities — Describe th%naterial terms of the securities being
offered, including:

A
(b)  conversion or exem’ke price and date of expiry,

(@)  voting rights or restrictie)ns(lﬁ voting,

(c) rights of rede n or retraction, and

(d) interest@)r dividend rates.

5.2. Subscrip(TegProcedure

@) C%scribe how a purchaser can subscribe for the securities and the method
of pay )

% State that the consideration will be held in trust and the period that it will
b%h d (refer at least to the mandatory 2 day period).

(c) Disclose any conditions to closing, e.g., receipt of additional funds from
other sources. If there is a minimum offering, disclose when consideration will be
returned to purchasers if the minimum is not met, and whether the issuer will pay the
purchasers interest on consideration.
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Item 6 Income Tax Consequences and RRSP Eligibility

6.1. State: “You should consult your own professional advisers to obtain advice on
the income tax consequences that apply to you.”

6.2. If income tax consequences are a material aspect of the securities being offered
(e.g., flow-through shares), provide QJ

(@) a summary of the significant income tax consequences to C‘a@dlan
residents, and

©°
(b)  the name of the person providing the income tax disclosur(i irhﬁ).

6.3. Provide advice regarding the RRSP eligibility of the securi nd the name of
the person providing the advice or state “Not all securities are ef for investment in
a registered retirement savings plan (RRSP). You should co ur own professional
advisers to obtain advice on the RRSP eligibility of these se

es.”
Item 7 Compensation Paid to Sellers and Fir@g

If any person has or will receive any co @ation (e.g., commission, corporate
finance fee or finder's fee) in connection ,witth the offering, provide the following
information to the extent applicable: ,\

(@) a description of each typé'&ompensation and the estimated amount to
be paid for each type, QJ“

(b) if a commission '“Leing paid, the percentage that the commission will
represent of the gross pro®&¥ds of the offering (assuming both the minimum and
maximum offering),

(c) details ®a§y broker's warrants or agent's option (including number of
securities under @n exercise price and expiry date), and

(d) %ﬂy portion of the compensation will be paid in securities, details of the
securities @ ding number, type and, if options or warrants, the exercise price and

expiry 6@)-
Iter@ Risk Factors

\E Describe in order of importance, starting with the most important, the risk factors
material to the issuer that a reasonable investor would consider important in deciding
whether to buy the issuer's securities.

Risk factors will generally fall into the following 3 categories:
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€)) Investment Risk - risks that are specific to the securities being offered.
Some examples include

- arbitrary determination of price,

- no market or an illiquid market for the securities,

- resale restrictions, and '\QQJ
- subordination of debt securities. ‘]/

\
(b) Issuer Risk - risks that are specific to the issuer. Some exgmpds include

- insufficient funds to accomplish the issuer's ess objectives,
- no history or a limited history of revenLQ&profits,

- lack of specific management or t@l expertise,

- management's regulatory a;{ iness track record,

- dependence on key enK@ees, suppliers or agreements,

- dependence on fin&?&l viability of guarantor,

- pending and\w@a‘ﬁding litigation, and

- political factors.

(© Industry @ risks faced by the issuer because of the industry in which it
operates. Some exa include

- Q nvironmental and industry regulation,

C) product obsolescence, and

QO - competition.
\@m 9 Reporting Obligations

9.1. Disclose the documents, including any financial information required by the
issuer’s corporate legislation, constating documents, or other documents under which
the issuer is organized, that will be sent to purchasers on an annual or on-going basis.
If the issuer is not required to send any documents to the purchasers on an annual or
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on-going basis, state in bold type: “We are not required to send you any documents
on an annual or ongoing basis.”

9.2. If corporate or securities information about the issuer is available from a
government, securities regulatory authority or regulator, SRO or quotation and trade
reporting system, disclose where that information can be located (including website

address). QQJ

ltem 10 Resale Restrictions (i\

10.1. General Statement — For trades in Alberta, British Columbia, Ne@nnswick,
Newfoundland and Labrador, Northwest Territories, Nova Scotia, Nunawut, Prince
Edward Island, Québec, Saskatchewan and Yukon, state:

“These securities will be subject to a number of resale %ctions, including a
restriction on trading. Until the restriction on trading expires, ill not be able to trade
the securities unless you comply with an exemption the prospectus and
registration requirements under securities legislation.” O

Newfoundland and Labrador, Northwest Terrj .@, Nova Scotia, Nunavut, Prince
Edward Island, Québec, Saskatchewan an% Nkon state one of the following, as

applicable: ,\

10.2. Restricted Period — For trades in Albertui ﬁsh Columbia, New Brunswick,

(@) If the issuer is not a reporﬁ&ssuer in a jurisdiction at the distribution date

o}
“Unless permitt der securities legislation, you cannot trade the

securities before the date t IS 4 months and a day after the date [insert name of
issuer or other term usgd refer to the issuer] becomes a reporting issuer in any
province or territory of @da !

state:

(b) If t uer is a reporting issuer in a jurisdiction at the distribution date
state:
Q&Iess permitted under securities legislation, you cannot trade the

securitj ore the date that is 4 months and a day after the distribution date.”

porting issuer in a jurisdiction at the time the security is acquired by the purchaser

1§Q Manitoba Resale Restrictions — For trades in Manitoba, if the issuer will not be
te:

“Unless permitted under securities legislation, you must not trade the securities
without the prior written consent of the regulator in Manitoba unless
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(@) [name of issuer or other term used to refer to issuer] has filed a
prospectus with the regulator in Manitoba with respect to the securities you have
purchased and the regulator in Manitoba has issued a receipt for that prospectus, or

(b)  you have held the securities for at least 12 months.

The regulator in Manitoba will consent to your trade if the regulator is of tQﬁ
opinion that to do so is not prejudicial to the public interest.” '\Q

Item 11 Purchasers' Rights ‘]/

NO*

“If you purchase these securities you will have certain righ;g%me of which are

State the following:

described below. For information about your rights you should co a lawyer.

(1) 2 Day Cancellation Right — You can cancel\;@lagreement to purchase
these securities. To do so, you must send a ' to us by midnight on
the 2nd business day after you sign the agreement to e securities.

(2) Statutory Rights of Action in Qvent of a Misrepresentation —
[Insert this section only if the securities legis|atioN of the jurisdiction in which the trade
occurs provides purchasers with statutory pﬁ} in the event of a misrepresentation in
an offering memorandum. Modify the lan , if necessary, to conform to the statutory
rights.] If there is a misrepresentation irf@offering memorandum, you have a statutory

right to sue: QJ“

(@) [name of i TL' or other term used to refer to issuer] to cancel your
agreement to buy these secufN %s, or

(b) for%ages against [state the name of issuer or other term used to
refer to issuer and th@l of any other person against whom the rights are available].

Th&s tutory right to sue is available to you whether or not you relied on
the misrepre@ation. However, there are various defences available to the persons or
companieg\that you have a right to sue. In particular, they have a defence if you knew of
the mi sentation when you purchased the securities.

If you intend to rely on the rights described in (a) or (b) above, you must

@so within strict time limitations. You must commence your action to cancel the

reement within [state time period provided by the securities legislation]. You must

commence your action for damages within [state time period provided by the securities
legislation.]

(3) Contractual Rights of Action in the Event of a Misrepresentation —
[Insert this section only if the securities legislation of the jurisdiction in which the
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purchaser is resident does not provide purchasers with statutory rights in the event of a
misrepresentation in an offering memorandum.] If there is a misrepresentation in this
offering memorandum, you have a contractual right to sue [name of issuer or other term
used to refer to issuer]:

(@) to cancel your agreement to buy these securities, or

This contractual right to sue is available to you whether or not yolelied
on the misrepresentation. However, in an action for damages, the am you may
recover will not exceed the price that you paid for your securities and wil€ot include
any part of the damages that [name of issuer or other term used \é-efer to issuer]
proves does not represent the depreciation in value of the securig’ 2sulting from the

(b)  for damages.

misrepresentation. [Name of issuer or other term used to refer t er] has a defence
if it proves that you knew of the misrepresentation when you % sed the securities.

If you intend to rely on the rights describ a) or (b) above, you must
do so within strict time limitations. You must com your action to cancel the
agreement within 180 days after you signed the ednent to purchase the securities.
You must commence your action for damage a@nin the earlier of 180 days after
learning of the misrepresentation and 3 years\after you signed the agreement to
purchase the securities.” ,\

ltem 12 Financial Statements (19

Include in the offering megorndum immediately before the certificate page of
the offering memorandum all r@ d financial statements as set out in the Instructions.

Item 13 Date and@ate
State the foIIo@ on the certificate page of the offering memorandum:

“Dated [iQe the date the certificate page of the offering memorandum is

signed]. C)Q/

&offering memorandum does not contain a misrepresentation.”

<
\}
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Instructions for Completing
Form 45-106F2 Offering Memorandum for Non-Qualifying Issuers

A. General Instructions

1. Draft the offering memorandum so that it is easy to read and understand. Be
concise and use clear, plain language. Avoid technical terms. If technical terms
necessary, provide definitions. '\Q

2. Address the items required by the form in the order set out in the form. Hgdever,
it Is not necessary to provide disclosure about an item that does not apply.'\Q)ﬂ

3. The issuer may include additional information in the offering andum other
than that specifically required by the form. An offering memora 1S generally not
required to contain the level of detail and extent of disclosure re by a prospectus.
Generally, this description should not exceed 2 page%r. wever, an offering

memorandum must provide a prospective purchaser with s gnt information to make
an informed investment decision. O

4. The issuer may wrap the offering memora lﬁround a prospectus or similar
document. However, all matters required to be/§‘n sed by the offering memorandum
must be addressed and the offering memorgnd must provide a cross-reference to
the page number or heading in the wrappe g@ument where the relevant information is
contained. The certificate to the offering randum must be modified to indicate that
the offering memorandum, including th ument around which it is wrapped, does not
contain a misrepresentation. QJ“

5. It is an offence to mak Exmsrepresentation in the offering memorandum. This
applies both to information t s required by the form and to additional information that
is provided. Include party ﬁ of any material facts, which have not been disclosed
under any of the Item bers and for which failure to disclose would constitute a
misrepresentation in@ offering memorandum. Refer also to section 3.8(3) of Policy
Statement to R on 45-106 respecting Prospectus Exemptions (Decision 2009-
PDG-0119, 2009009204) for additional information.

6. W term “related party” is used in this form, it refers to:
@ a director, officer, promoter or control person of the issuer,

(b) in regard to a person referred to in (a), a child, parent, grandparent or
\s ling, or other relative living in the same residence,

(c) in regard to a person referred to in (a) or (b), his or her spouse or a person
with whom he or she is living in a marriage-like relationship,

(d) an insider of the issuer,
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(e) a company controlled by one or more individuals referred to in (a) to (d),
and

() in the case of an insider, promoter or control person that is not an
individual, any person that controls that insider, promoter or control person.

(If the issuer is not a reporting issuer, the reference to “insider” includes per
or companies who would be insiders of the issuer if that issuer were a reporting @éer )
7. Disclosure is required in item 3.1 of compensation paid directly o @rectly by

the issuer or a related party to a director, officer, promoter and/or princjpal Wolder if the
issuer receives a direct benefit from such compensation paid. @

8. Refer to Regulation 43-101 respecting Standards of osure for Mineral
Projects (chapter V-1.1, r. 15) (Regulation 43-101) wh closing scientific or
technical information for a mineral project of the issuer. GQ/

9. If an oil and gas issuer is disclosing informatio&t its oil and gas activities, it
must ensure that the information is disclosed in ance with Part 4 and Part 5 of
Regulation 51-101 respecting Standards of @sure for Oil and Gas Activities
(chapter V-1.1, r. 23) (Regulation 51-101). r section 5.3 of Regulation 51-101
disclosure of reserves or resources must b S|stent with the reserves and resources
terminology and categories set out in t adian Oil and Gas Evaluation Handbook.
For the purposes of this instruction, refé’@es to reporting issuer in Part 4 and Part 5 of
Regulation 51-101 will be deemed t@snc&lude all issuers.

10.  Securities Ieglslatlon r s what can be told to investors about the issuer's
intent to list or quote securit n an exchange or market. Refer to applicable securities
legislation before maklr§ uch statements.

11.  If an issuer udes)this form in connection with a distribution under an exemption
other than sectj~2.9 (offering memorandum) of Regulation 45-106 respecting
Prospectus ExeRQtibns (chapter V-1.1, r. 21), the issuer must modify the disclosure in

item 11 to @ectly describe the purchaser's rights. If a purchaser does not have
statutory @ tractual rights of action in the event of a misrepresentation in the offering
memor§vm, that fact must be stated in bold on the face page.
Q During the course of a distribution of securities, any material forward-looking
mation disseminated must only be that which is set out in the offering
\a morandum. If an extract of FOFI, as defined in Regulation 51-102 respecting
Continuous Disclosure Obligations (chapter V-1.1, r. 24) (Regulation 51-102), is
disseminated, the extract or summary must be reasonably balanced and have a

cautionary note in boldface stating that the information presented is not complete and
that complete FOFI is included in the offering memorandum.
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B. Financial Statements - General

1. All financial statements, operating statements for an oil and gas property that is
an acquired business or a business to be acquired and summarized financial
information as to the aggregated amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and profit or loss
of an acquired business or business to be acquired that is, or will be, an investment
accounted for by the issuer using the equity method included in the offer
memorandum must comply with Regulation 52-107 respecting Acceptable Acco Ioé
Principles and Auditing Standards (chapter V-1.1, r. 25, regardless of whether t uer
is a reporting issuer or not.

Under Regulation 52-107 respecting Acceptable Accounting Pﬁ‘hciples and
Auditing Standards, financial statements are generally required prepared in
accordance with Canadian GAAP applicable to publicly account nterprises. An
issuer using this form cannot use Canadian GAAP applicable rivate enterprises,
except, subject to the requirements of Regulation 52-1 pecting Acceptable
Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards, certain issue y use Canadian GAAP
applicable to private enterprises for financial statemen a business referred to in
C.1. An issuer that is not a reporting issuer may e acquisition statements in
accordance with the requirements of Regulatj -107 respecting Acceptable
Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards @e issuer were a venture issuer as
defined in Regulation 51-102 respecting Cq ous Disclosure Obligations. For the
purposes of Form 45-106F2, the “appllcablg\ " in the definition of a venture issuer is
the acquisition date.

2. Include all financial statemﬁ(}quwed by these instructions in the offering
memorandum immediately beforegth ertlflcate page of the offering memorandum.

3. If the issuer has not ¢ eted one financial year or its first financial year end is
less than 120 days fromgh®¥ate of the offering memorandum, include in the offering
memorandum financial ments of the issuer consisting of:

(@ as nt of comprehensive income, a statement of changes in equity
and a statemen ash flows for the period from inception to a date not more than 90
days before (@date of the offering memorandum,

a statement of financial position as at the end of the period referred to in
(@), and

\é (c) notes to the financial statements.

4. If the issuer has completed one or more financial years, include in the offering
memorandum annual financial statements of the issuer consisting of:

(@) a statement of comprehensive income, a statement of changes in equity
and a statement of cash flows for
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0] the most recently completed financial year that ended more
than 120 days before the date of the offering memorandum, and

(i) the financial year immediately preceding the financial year in
clause (i), if any,

(b) a statement of financial position as at the end of each of the p&@??
referred to in paragraph (a), ‘]/

(© a statement of financial position as at the beginning o\@qyﬂearliest
comparative period for which financial statements that are included.in $he offering
memorandum comply with IFRS in the case of an issuer that

(1) discloses in its annual financial stat@ an unreserved

statement of compliance with IFRS, and Q/
(i) does any of the following: &

(A) applies an accounting o%’ y retrospectively in its annual
financial statements; &

(B) makes a retrospémve restatement of items in its annual
financial statements; Q

(C) reclassif i{e]ﬁs in its annual financial statements,

Regulation 51-102, the opeNY0 IFRS statement of financial position at the date of
transition to IFRS as defige Regulation 51-102, and

(d) in the case c@ugr's first IFRS financial statements as defined in
(e) notes tc@e financial statements.
4.1 If an issQ ;resents the components of profit or loss in a separate income
statement, t@eparate income statement must be displayed immediately before the
mprehensive income filed under Item 4 above.

statemen; f
5. ® e issuer has completed one or more financial years, include in the offering
ge%randum an interim financial report of the issuer comprised of:

(@) a statement of comprehensive income, a statement of changes in equity
and a statement of cash flows for the most recently completed interim period that ended

(1) more than 60 days before the date of the offering memorandum,
and
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(i) after the year-end date of the financial statements required
under B.4(a)(i),

(b)  a statement of comprehensive income, a statement of changes in equity
and a statement of cash flows for the corresponding period in the immediately
preceding financial year, if any,

(c) a statement of financial position as at the end of the period require@?
paragraph (a) and the end of the immediately preceding financial year, qi\

(d) a statement of financial position as at the beginning o\@qyﬂearliest
comparative period for which financial statements that are included.in $he offering
memorandum comply with IFRS in the case of an issuer that

0] discloses in its interim financial report an u rved statement of
compliance with International Accounting Standard 34 Interi cial Reporting, and
(i) does any of the following: &

(A) applies an accounting o%’ y retrospectively in its interim
financial report; &

(B) makes a retrospémve restatement of items in its interim
financial report; Q

(C) reclassify i{e]ﬁs in its interim financial report,

(e) in the case of thqJirs interim financial report in the year of adopting IFRS,
the opening IFRS statemerg\ nancial position at the date of transition to IFRS,

) for an iss@ﬂhat IS not a reporting issuer in at least one jurisdiction of
Canada immediatel e filing the offering memorandum, if the issuer is including an
interim financial 1, of the issuer for the second or third interim period in the year of
adopting IFRS ingude

QI the issuer's first interim financial report in the year of adopting

IFRS, 6Q~
Q (i)  both

\E (A)  the opening IFRS statement of financial position at the date
of transition to IFRS, and

(B) the annual and date of transition to IFRS reconciliations
required by IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards to
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explain how the transition from previous GAAP to IFRS affected the issuer's reported
financial position, financial performance and cash flows, and

(9) notes to the financial statements.

5.1 If an issuer presents the components of profit or loss in a separate income
statement, the separate income statement must be displayed immediately before th
statement of comprehensive income filed under item 5 above. '\Q

6. An issuer is not required to include the comparative financial information ¥r the
period in B.4.(@)(i) in an offering memorandum if the issuer inclu %ﬁnancial
statements for a financial year ended less than 120 days before the dajg 0\he offering
memorandum. @

7. For an issuer that is not an investment fund, the term “ @m period” has the
meaning set out in Regulation 51-102. In most cases, an j period is a period
ending 9, 6, or 3 months before the end of a financial ye Q}or an issuer that is an
investment fund, the term “interim period” has the meanj t out in Regulation 81-106
respecting Investment Fund Continuous Discl@ (chapter V-1.1, r. 42)
(Regulation 81-106).

8. The comparative financial informatio |red under B.5(b) and (c) may be
omitted if the issuer has not previously prep % financial statements in accordance with
its current or, if applicable, its previous G@\

9. The financial statements reqif (k/ B.3 and the financial statements of the most
recently completed financial peri d «€éferred to in B.4 must be audited. The financial
statements required under B. and the comparative financial information required
by B.4 may be unaudlted ever, if any of those financial statements have been
audited, the auditor’s repgrt st be included in the offering memorandum.

10. Refer to 52-108 respecting Auditor Oversight approved
(chapter V-1.1, r. or requirements relating to reporting issuers and public
accounting firms

11. Al dited financial statements and unaudited comparatives must be clearly
|abe||<6Q-unaudited.

1 Q If the offering memorandum does not contain audited financial statements for the
éer's most recently completed financial year, and if the distribution is ongoing, update
\h offering memorandum to include the annual audited financial statements and the
accompanying auditor’s report as soon as the issuer has approved the audited financial
statements, but in any event no later than the 120th day following the financial year end.

13. The offering memorandum does not have to be updated to include interim
financial reports for periods completed after the date that is 60 days before the date of
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the offering memorandum unless it is necessary to prevent the offering memorandum
from containing a misrepresentation.

14. Forward looking information, as defined in Regulation 51-102, included in an
offering memorandum must comply with section 4A.2 of Regulation 51-102 and must
include the disclosure described in section 4A.3 of Regulation 51-102. In addition to the
foregoing, FOFI or a financial outlook, each as defined in Regulation 51-102, include

an offering memorandum must comply with Part 4B of Regulation 51-102. For an |

that is not a reporting issuer, references to “reporting issuer” in secti 2,
section 4A.3 and Part 4B of Regulation 51-102 should be read as referenco‘g'fo an
“issuer”. Additional guidance may be found in the Policy S’\O ent to
Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure bligations
(Decision 2006-PDG-0223, 2006-12-12). Q~

15. If the issuer is a limited partnership, in addition to t %ancial statements
required for the issuer, include in the offering memorandum ancial statements in
accordance with Part B for the general partner and, if them partnership has active
operations, for the limited partnership.

16. Despite section B.5, an issuer may include m%parative interim financial report
of the issuer for the most recent interim period, u@ended

(@) subsequent to the most receggganmal year in respect of which annual
financial statements of the issuer are incl in the offering memorandum, and
(b) more than 90 days be%(k date of the offering memorandum.

This section does not a@nnless
t@

(@ the compar, interim financial report is the first interim financial report
required to be filed in t)é&ar of adopting IFRS, and the issuer is disclosing, for the first
time, a statement o pliance with International Accounting Standard 34 Interim
Financial Reporti

(b) %issuer is a reporting issuer in the local jurisdiction immediately before
hg Off

the date 5f€9 ering memorandum, and

the offering memorandum is dated before June 29, 2012.
@ Financial Statements - Business Acquisitions
1. If the issuer
(@) has acquired a business during the past 2 years and the audited financial

statements of the issuer included in the offering memorandum do not include the results
of the acquired business for 9 consecutive months, or
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(b) is proposing to acquire a business and the acquisition has progressed to a
state where a reasonable person would believe that the likelihood of the acquisition
being completed is high,

include the financial statements specified in C.4 for the business if either of the
tests in C.2 is met, irrespective of how the issuer accounts, or will account, for th

acquisition.
,\Q

2. Include the financial statements specified in C.4 for a business referred towh C.1
if either: '\ S

(@) the issuer's proportionate share of the consolidated ass the business
exceeds 40% of the consolidated assets of the issuer calcula ing the annual
financial statements of each of the issuer and the business the most recently
completed financial year of each that ended before the iSition date or, for a
proposed acquisition, the date of the offering memorandum

(b) the issuer's consolidated investments ir@dvames to the business as
at the acquisition date or the proposed date quisition exceeds 40% of the
consolidated assets of the issuer, excluding bvestments in or advances to the
business, as at the last day of the issuer's mostecently completed financial year that
ended before the acquisition date or thqr\%e of the offering memorandum for a
proposed acquisition. For information ab ow to perform the investment test in this
paragraph, please refer to subsectlffP 3(4.1) and (4.2) of Regulation 51-102.
Additional guidance may be found i olicy Statement to Regulation 51-102.

2.1. (paragraph revoked). “\

3. If an issuer or a, @ss has not yet completed a financial year, or its first
financial year ended wi 20 days of the offering memorandum date, use the financial

statements referred t@ .3 to make the calculations in C.2.

4. If under Q you must include in an offering memorandum financial statements
for a busines@e financial statements must include:

% If the business has not completed one financial year or its first financial
yearQ IS less than 120 days from the date of the offering memorandum

0] a statement of comprehensive income, a statement of changes in
uity and a statement of cash flows

(A)  for the period from inception to a date not more than 90 days
before the date of the offering memorandum, or

Regulation 45-106 May 5, 2015 PAGE 104



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM MAY 5, 2015 TO NOVEMBER 16, 2015

(B) if the acquisition date precedes the ending date of the period
referred to in (A), for the period from inception to the acquisition date or a date not more
than 45 days before the acquisition date,

(i) a statement of financial position dated as at the end of the period
referred to in clause (i), and

(i)  notes to the financial statements. '\QQJ
(b) If the business has completed one or more financial years include ‘]/
\
0] annual financial statements comprised of: '\
(A) a statement of comprehensive |nc statement of

changes in equity and a statement of cash flows for the following @ al perlods

I. the most recently complet anC|aI year that ended
before the acquisition date and more than 120 days the date of the offering

memorandum, and

il. the financial)@lmmedlately preceding the most
recently completed financial year specified in% i, if any,

(B) a statemento '%ncial position as at the end of each of the
periods specified in (A),

notes;g@ ?inancial statements, and

(i) an inter @ ancial report comprised of

6 ither

% 0] a statement of comprehensive income, a statement of
changes in equi d a statement of cash flows for the most recently completed year-
to-date interi@nod ending on the last date of the interim period that ended before the
acquisitiopld and more than 60 days before the date of the offering memorandum
and e éd- after the date of the financial statements required under subclause
(b)(i ), and a statement of comprehensive income and a statement of changes in
egUN for the 3 month period ending on the last date of the interim period that ended
re the acquisition date and more than 60 days before the date of the offering
\a morandum and ended after the date of the financial statements required under
subclause (b)(i))(A)(i), or

(i) a statement of comprehensive income, a statement of
changes in equity and a statement of cash flows for the period from the first day after
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the financial year referred to in subparagraph (b)(i) to a date before the acquisition date
and after the period end in subclause (b)(ii)(A)(i),

B) a statement of comprehensive income, a statement of
changes in equity and a statement of cash flows for the corresponding period in the
immediately preceding financial year, if any,

C) a statement of financial position as at the end of the B@
required by clause (A) and the end of the immediately preceding financial year, @1/

D) notes to the financial statements. '\Q) A
Refer to Instruction B.7 for the meaning of “interim period”. Q~
5. The information for the most recently completed financi riod referred to in

C.4(b)(i) must be audited and accompanied by an audi eport. The financial
statements required under C.4(a), C.4(b)(ii) and the com %e financial information
required by C.4(b)(i) may be unaudited; however, if@e financial statements or
comparative financial information have been audit e auditor's report must be
included in the offering memorandum.

6. If the offering memorandum does not cﬁain audited financial statements for a
business referred to in C.1 for the busine% most recently completed financial year
that ended before the acquisition date@ the distribution is ongoing, update the
offering memorandum to include th({% inancial statements accompanied by an
auditor’s report when they are avag bLe, but in any event no later than the date 120
days following the year-end. \\

7. The term “business’@ be evaluated in light of the facts and circumstances
involved. Generally, a sgpN¥te entity or a subsidiary or division of an entity is a
business and, in certaRg\drcumstances, a lesser component of an entity may also
constitute a busines ether or not the subject of the acquisition previously prepared
financial statem =~ he subject of an acquisition should be considered a business
where there is, 0the issuer expects there will be, continuity of operations. The issuer
should consi@

whether the nature of the revenue producing activity or potential revenue
pro activity will remain generally the same after the acquisition, and

@ (b)  whether any of the physical facilities, employees, marketing systems,
les forces, customers, operating rights, production techniques or trade names are
acquired by the issuer instead of remaining with the vendor after the acquisition.

8. If a transaction or a proposed transaction for which the likelihood of the

transaction being completed is high has been or will be a reverse take-over as defined
in Regulation 51-102, include financial statements for the legal subsidiary in the offering
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memorandum in accordance with Part A. The legal parent is considered to be the
business acquired. C.1 may also require financial statements of the legal parent.

9. An issuer satisfies the requirements in C.4 if the issuer includes in the offering
memorandum the financial statements required in a business acquisition report under

Regulation51-102.
N5

1. An issuer will satisfy the financial statement requirements of this for#f if it
includes the financial statements required by securities legislation for a pro;@}tﬁs.

D. Financial Statement - Exemptions

ation 52-107
auditor's report
contained in an
alification of opinion

2. Notwithstanding the requirements in section 3.3(1)(a)(i) of
respecting Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standar
that accompanies financial statements of an issuer or a bust
offering memorandum of a non-reporting issuer may expres

relating to inventory if A

(@) the issuer includes in the offering men&um a statement of financial
position that is for a date that is subsequent tc@ ate to which the qualification

relates, and &

(b) the statement of financial s@ion referred to in paragraph (a) is
accompanied by an auditor's report tha@o S not express a qualification of opinion
relating to closing inventory, and

: NS L : : :
(© the issuer has not ﬂg@usly filed financial statements for the same entity
accompanied by an auditor's rt for a prior year that expressed a qualification of
opinion relating to inventory.

3. If an issuer has il account for a business referred to in C.1 using the equity
method, then financi tements for a business required by Part C are not required to

be included if:
&

(@) offering memorandum includes disclosure for the periods for which
financial it tegrients are otherwise required under Part C that:
O 0] summarizes information as to the aggregated amounts of assets,
Iiébﬁes, revenue and profit or loss of the business, and
\ (i) describes the issuer's proportionate interest in the business and

any contingent issuance of securities by the business that might significantly affect the
issuer's share of profit or loss;
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(b) the financial information provided under D.3(a) for the most recently
completed financial year has been audited, or has been derived from audited financial
statements of the business; and

(© the offering memorandum discloses that:

financial year has been audited, or identifies the audited financial statements from

(1) the financial information provided under D.3(a) for any come\l@
the financial information provided under D.3(a) has been derived; and qi\

(i) the audit opinion with respect to the financial irif\QDmtion or
financial statements referred to in D.3(c)(i) was an unmodified opinion.

4. Financial statements relating to the acquisition or prop
business that is an interest in an oil and gas property are not re
an offering memorandum if the acquisition is significant base

cquisition of a
to be included in
on the asset test or:

(@  the issuer is unable to provide the financj tements in respect of the
significant acquisition otherwise required because financial statements do not
exist or the issuer does not have access to those fi@n jal statements,

(b)  the acquisition was not or will n'&sbe reverse take-over as defined in
Regulation 51-102, and ,\<C)

(c)  (paragraph revoked); (19

. A . . . .
(d)  the offering memo@gfa}n contains alternative disclosure for the business
which includes: ?“

each of the financial Qs for which financial statements would, but for this section,
be required under( 3.4 prepared in accordance with subsection 3.11(5) of
Regulation 52-1Q specting Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing
Standards. The rating statement for the most recently completed financial period
referred to in@(b)(i) must be audited.

0] an o§$g statement for the business or related businesses for

Q~ (i) a description of the property or properties and the interest acquired
by t uer,

(i) information with respect to the estimated reserves and related

\M ure net revenue attributable to the business, the material assumptions used in

preparing the estimates and the identity and relationship to the issuer or to the seller of
the person who prepared the estimates,

(iv)  actual production volumes of the property for the most recently
completed year, and
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(v) estimated production volumes of the property for the first year
reflected in the estimate disclosed under D.4(d)(iv).

5. Financial statements for a business that is an interest in an oil and gas property,
or for the acquisition or proposed acquisition by an issuer of a property, are not required
to be audited if during the 12 months preceding the acquisition date or the propo
acquisition date, the daily average production of the property on a barrel &
equivalent basis (with gas converted to oil in the ratio of 6,000 ft* of gas qubst e
equivalent of one barrel of oil) is less than 20% of the total daily average produd#fon of
the seller for the same or similar periods and: '\ S

was prohibited from including in the purchase agreement the right tain an audited
operating statement of the property, §

(i) the purchase agreement includes representa;\t% and warranties by the

(1) despite reasonable efforts during the purchase nego;@ns, the issuer

seller that the amounts presented in the operating state gree to the seller's books

and records, and é

(i) the offering memorandum disclose&o

1. that the issuer was ,\&j)ble to obtain an audited operating
statement, Q

2. the reasons for :l/ability,

3. the fact t ~}rse purchase agreement includes the representations
and warranties referred to in (), and

4. tha@e results presented in the operating statements may have
been materially differ@l the statements had been audited.

Vi
M.O. 2009-05@5%. 5-106F2; M.O. 2010-17, s. 6; M.O. 2015-05, s. 23.

<
\}
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FORM 45-106F3
OFFERING MEMORANDUM FOR QUALIFYING ISSUERS

Date: [Insert the date from the certificate page.]

The Issuer

Name: QJ
N
Head office: Address: ‘]/

Phone #: '\Q)‘s

E-mail address:
Fax #: &

Where currently listed or quoted? [e.g., TSX/TSX Venture Exch@

Jurisdictions in which the issuer is a reporting issuer: AQ/

The Offering %
Securities offered: &O

Price per security: y\<(.)

Minimum/Maximum offering: [If there(}guo minimum state in bold: “There is no

minimum.” and also state in bold ty ., You may be the only purchaser.”]

State in bold type: Funds a TI'XbIe under the offering may not be sufficient to
accomplish our propose@ﬁtives.

Minimum subscription %ﬂnt: [State the minimum amount each investor must invest,
or state “There is nQ IMum subscription amount an investor must invest.”]

Payment terrzf E
Propose @l g date(s):
Inc%@ X consequences: “There are important tax consequences to these securities.

SeeNem 6.” [If income tax consequences are not material, delete this item.]

\Sglling agent? [Yes/No. If yes, state “See item 7”. The name of the selling agent may
also be stated.]
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Resale restrictions

State: “You will be restricted from selling your securities for 4 months and a day. See
item 10",

Purchaser’s rights

State: “You have 2 business days to cancel your agreement to purchase t
securities. If there is a misrepresentation in this offering memorandum, you W the
right to sue either for damages or to cancel the agreement. See item 11.” Q)

'\ )

“No securities regulatory authority or regulator has assesse @merits of these
securities or reviewed this offering memorandum. Any sentation to the
contrary is an offence. This is a risky investment. See iteQ/.

State in bold type:

[All of the above information must appear on a single co@ge.]

ltem 1 Use of Available Funds s

1.1. Available Funds — Using the followin /t§ble, disclose the funds available as a
result of the offering. If the issuer plans to cé@bine additional sources of funding with
the available funds from the offering t '}?ieve its principal capital-raising purpose,
please provide details about each addfiﬁ source of funding. If there is ho minimum
offering, state “$0” as the minimum.o)ﬂ

as at a date not more than 3 ys prior to the date of the offering memorandum. If the

Disclose also the amo \& any working capital deficiency, if any, of the issuer
working capital deficienc§ \&be eliminated by the use of available funds, state how

the issuer intends to elinglyate or manage the deficiency.
KO Ny Assuming min. offering | Assuming max. offering
A Amount t%:\aised by this offering $ $
B Selliﬁgo issions and fees $ $
C Esjf offering costs (e.g., legal, | $ $
ting, audit)

D AX@able funds: D = A - (B+C) $ $
E. » dditional sources of funding required $ $
F. \¢ | Working capital deficiency $ $

$ $

\% " | Total: G = (D+E) - F

1.2. Use of Available Funds - Using the following table, provide a detailed
breakdown of how the issuer will use the available funds. If any of the available funds
will be paid to an insider, associate or affiliate of the issuer, disclose in a note to the
table the name of the insider, associate or affiliate, the relationship to the issuer, and the
amount. If the issuer has a working capital deficiency, disclose the portion, if any, of the
available funds to be applied against the working capital deficiency. If more than 10% of
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the available funds will be used by the issuer to pay debt and the issuer incurred the
debt within the 2 preceding financial years, describe why the debt was incurred.

Description of intended use of available funds listed | Assuming min. offering | Assuming max. offering
in order of priority.

$ $
$ $ s
Total: Equal to G in the Funds table above $ $ ,\V)

1.3. Reallocation — The available funds must be used for the purposes discﬂ}g}d in
the offering memorandum. The board of directors can reallocate the proce%sjt other
uses only for sound business reasons. If the available funds may be reallo& Yinclude
the following statement: Q‘

“We intend to spend the available funds as stated. We WiI@ﬁcate funds only
for sound business reasons.”

1.4. Insufficient Funds — If applicable, disclose that th %g available as a result of
the offering either may not or will not be sufficiencomplish all of the issuer’s
proposed objectives and that there is no assurance<It alternative financing will be
available. If alternative financing has been arran disclose the amount, source and
any outstanding conditions that must be satisfieal&

Item 2 Information About [name oftegaer or other term used to refer to
issuer]

2.1. Business Summary — Bri {in 1 or 2 paragraphs) describe the business
intended to be carried on by th.%rs er over the next 12 months. State whether this
represents a change of busin he disclosure must provide sufficient information to
enable a prospective purc@ make an informed investment decision. If the issuer
is a non-resource issuer,Weseribe the products that the issuer is or will be developing or
producing and the s@f development of each of the products. If the issuer is a
resource issuer, S hether the issuer’s principal properties are primarily in the
exploration or i&development or production stage; what resources the issuer is
engaged in gxpNring, developing or producing; and the locations of the issuer’s

principal pr, tes. A resource issuer who discloses information about its oil and gas
activitie follow General Instruction A-9 of this Form.

2.2 @isting Documents Incorporated by Reference — State:

é “Information has been incorporated by reference into this offering memorandum

m documents listed in the table below, which have been filed with securities
regulatory authorities or regulators in Canada. The documents incorporated by
reference are available for viewing on the SEDAR website at www.sedar.com. In
addition, copies of the documents may be obtained on request without charge from
[insert complete address and telephone and the name of a contact person].
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Documents listed in the table and information provided in those documents are
not incorporated by reference to the extent that their contents are modified or
superseded by a statement in this offering memorandum or in any other subsequently
filed document that is also incorporated by reference in this offering memorandum.”

Using the following table, list all of the documents incorporated by reference (as
required by Instruction D.1): QJ

|

-

Description of document (In the case of material change reports, | Date of document
provide a brief description of the nature of the material change) q/

CAo
NV

g

2.3. Existing Documents Not Incorporated by Reference — Sta%Q

“Other documents available on the SEDAR website ample, most press
releases, take-over bid circulars, prospectuses and right Ing circulars) are not
incorporated by reference into this offering memorandu ss they are specifically
referenced in the table above. Your rights as descr' in item 11 of this offering
memorandum apply only in respect of inform% contained in this offering
memorandum and documents or information incor@t d by reference.”

2.4. Existing Information Not Incorporgigd by Reference — Certain specified
information (as outlined in Instruction D.2 N ined in the documents incorporated by
reference may be, but is not required t. incorporated by reference into the offering
memorandum. If the issuer does not ish to incorporate that information into the
offering memorandum, the issuer n@state that and include a statement in the offering
memorandum identifying:

(@  the informati t is not being incorporated by reference, and
(b) the doc@in which the information is contained.
2.5. FutureD ents Not Incorporated by Reference — State:

“Do ts filed after the date of this offering memorandum are not deemed to

md into this offering memorandum. However, if you subscribe for securities
ent occurs, or there is a change in our business or affairs, that makes the
to this offering memorandum no longer true, we will provide you with an
urdase of this offering memorandum, including a newly dated and signed certificate, and
@not accept your subscription until you have re-signed the agreement to purchase the
securities.”
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Item 3 Interests of Directors, Executive Officers, Promoters and Principal
Holders

3.1. Using the following table, provide information about each director, executive
officer, promoter and each person who, directly or indirectly, beneficially owns or
controls 10% or more of any class of voting securities of the issuer (a “principal holder”).
If the principal holder is not an individual, state in a note to the table the name of
person that, directly or indirectly, beneficially owns or controls more than 50% K@

voting rights of the principal holder. (]/
Name and municipality of principal residence Position(s) with the issuer R (b )
(A.'\
\
3.2. State: “You can obtain further information about directors xecutive officers
from [insert the name and date of the document(s) with the current information,
e.g., management information circular, annual informatio or material change
report].”

3.3. State: “Current information regarding the sec@s held by directors, executive
officers and principal holders can be obtaine [refer to the SEDI website at
www.sedi.ca or, if information cannot be obtai om the SEDI website, refer to the
securities regulatory authority(ies) or regulafeg(s) from which the information can be
obtained, including any website(s)]. [N é\ issuer or other term used to refer to
issuer] can not guarantee the accuracy@s information.”

3.4. Loans - Disclose the prin irﬁ])amount of any debenture or loan, the repayment
terms, security, due date and is&rest rate due to or from the directors, management,
promoters and principal hold &as at a date not more than 30 days prior to the date of
the offering memorandum. &

Item 4 Capital@[ure

Using th?5 owing table, provide the required information about outstanding
securities of Idsuer (including options, warrants and other securities convertible into
shares). If sary, notes to the table may be added to describe the material terms of

the se(c'@~ /

D fon of Number Price per Number Number Number
curity authorized to security outstanding as at outstanding outstanding
\é be issued [a date not more after min. after max.
N than 30 days prior offering offering
to the offering
memorandum
date]
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ltem 5 Securities Offered

5.1. Terms of Securities — Describe the material terms of the securities being
offered, including:

(@)  voting rights or restrictions on voting,
(b)  conversion or exercise price and date of expiry, QQJ

(c) rights of redemption or retraction, and ‘]/

NO*
(8*

@) Describe how a purchaser can subscribe for th@ities and the method

of payment. A

(b) State that the consideration will be hel(jé@lst and the period that it will
be held (refer at least to the mandatory 2 day peric@

(d) interest rates or dividend rates.

5.2. Subscription Procedure

(c) Disclose any conditions to clo 'n’g‘e.g., receipt of additional funds from
other sources. If there is a minimum offpi@, disclose when consideration will be
returned to purchasers if the minimum is et.

Item 6 Income Tax Conseqn@sq‘es and RRSP Eligibility

6.1. State: “You should co "I')\your own professional advisers to obtain advice on
the income tax consequencef\Xat apply to you”.

6.2. If income tax co uences are a material aspect of the securities being offered
(e.g., flow-through s , provide

@ a Qm ary of the significant income tax consequences to Canadian
residents, a

the name of the person providing the income tax disclosure in (a).
6 3Q Provide advice regarding the RRSP eligibility of the securities and the name of
erson providing the advice or state “Not all securities are eligible for investment in

\ egistered retirement savings plan (RRSP). You should consult your own professional
advisers to obtain advice on the RRSP eligibility of these securities.”
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Item 7 Compensation Paid to Sellers and Finders

If any person has or will receive any compensation (e.g., commission, corporate
finance fee or finder’s fee) in connection with the offering, provide the following
information to the extent applicable:

(@) a description of each type of compensation and the estimated amount@s
be paid for each type, '\Q

(b) if a commission is being paid, the percentage that the commls% will
represent of the gross proceeds of the offering (assuming both the rR m and
maximum offering),

(c) details of any broker’s warrants or agent’s option ' ing number of
securities under option, exercise price and expiry date), and

(d) if any portion of the compensation will be pai ecurltles details of the
securities (including number, type and, if options or w s, the exercise price and
expiry date).

Item 8 Risk Factors &

Describe in order of importance, sta@wnh the most important, the risk factors
material to the issuer that a reasonable tor would consider important in deciding
whether to buy the issuer’s securities.

: : \ : :

Risk factors will generally fgll isto the following 3 categories:

(@) Investment R@sks that are specific to the securities being offered.

Some examples include
- @%y determination of price,

- Q o market or an illiquid market for the securities,

\é (b) Issuer Risk - risks that are specific to the issuer. Some examples include

resale restrictions, and

subordination of debt securities.

- insufficient funds to accomplish the issuer’s business objectives,
- no history or a limited history of revenue or profits,

- lack of specific management or technical expertise,
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- management’s regulatory and business track record,

- dependence on key employees, suppliers or agreements,

- dependence on financial viability of guarantor,

- pending and outstanding litigation, and '\QQJ
Q/

- political risk factors.

(c) Industry Risk - risks faced by the issuer because of the in us'ﬁy inﬂwhich it
operates. Some examples include Q/@
- environmental and industry regulation, &
- product obsolescence, and AQ/
- competition. %O
Item 9 Reporting Obligations &O

9.1. Disclose the documents that will be ;é@to purchasers on an annual or on-going

basis. Q

9.2. If corporate or securities %{: ation about the issuer is available from a
government, securities regulatoré awority or regulator, SRO or quotation and trade
reporting system, disclose whkgresthat information can be located (including website

address). §

ltem 10 Resale R yctions

For trade ngerta, British Columbia, New Brunswick, Newfoundland and
Labrador, Northingst Territories, Nova Scotia, Nunavut, Prince Edward Island, Québec,
Saskatchew d Yukon, state:

“Qese securities will be subject to a number of resale restrictions, including a
rest ' on trading. Until the restriction on trading expires, you will not be able to trade
theNgecurities unless you comply with an exemption from the prospectus and

éstration requirements under securities legislation.

Unless permitted under securities legislation, you cannot trade the securities
before the date that is 4 months and a day after the distribution date.”
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Item 11 Purchasers’ Rights
State the following:

“If you purchase these securities you will have certain rights, some of which are
described below. For information about your rights you should consult a lawyer.

these securities. To do so, you must send a notice to us by midqﬂ/
the 2nd business day after you sign the agreement to buy the securities.

(1) 2-Day Cancellation Right — You can cancel your agreement to pur&\
on

“

(2)  Statutory Rights of Action in the Event of a Misrepredentation —
[Insert this section only if the securities legislation of the jurisdiction ich the trade
occurs provides purchasers with statutory rights in the event of @epresentaﬁon in
an offering memorandum. Modify the language, if necessary, to rm to the statutory
rights.] If there is a misrepresentation in this offering memora@you have a statutory

right to sue: A

(@) [name of issuer or other term us@)efer to issuer] to cancel your
agreement to buy these securities, or O

(b)  for damages against [sta ﬁ name of issuer or other term used to
refer to issuer and the title of any other pers& ainst whom the rights are available].

This statutory right to sue{i}g/ailable to you whether or not you relied on
the misrepresentation. However, thgusg e various defences available to the persons or
companies that you have a right tg si#€. In particular, they have a defence if you knew of
the misrepresentation when yo§E chased the securities.

If you intens &Iy on the rights described in (a) or (b) above, you must

do so within strict ti itations. You must commence your action to cancel the
agreement within [s ime period provided by the securities legislation]. You must
commence your for damages within [state time period provided by the securities
legislation].

3 ntractual Rights of Action in the Event of a Misrepresentation -

[Insert section only if the securities legislation of the jurisdiction in which the

pur r'is resident does not provide purchasers with statutory rights in the event of a

is%presentation in an offering memorandum.] If there is a misrepresentation in this

\i&ring memorandum, you have a contractual right to sue [name of issuer or other term
ed to refer to issuer]:

(@) to cancel your agreement to buy these securities, or

(b)  for damages.
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This contractual right to sue is available to you whether or not you relied
on the misrepresentation. However, in an action for damages, the amount you may
recover will not exceed the price that you paid for your securities and will not include
any part of the damages that [name of issuer or other term used to refer to issuer]
proves does not represent the depreciation in value of the securities resulting from the
misrepresentation. [Name of issuer or other term used to refer to issuer] has a defence
if it proves that you knew of the misrepresentation when you purchased the securitiesQJ

If you intend to rely on the rights described in (a) or (b) above, ypﬁvust
do so within strict time limitations. You must commence your action to candél the
agreement within 180 days after you signed the agreement to purchase ecurities
You must commence your action for damages within the earlier o days after
learning of the misrepresentation and 3 years after you signed Ql'ﬁgreement to
purchase the securities.”

ltem 12 Date and Certificate @

State the following on the certificate page of th |ng memorandum: “Dated
[insert the date the certificate page of the offering me um is signed].

This offering memorandum does not contain @representation.”
\%&
(19
%‘1
4
@?‘
S
&
&

X

<
N\
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Instructions for Completing Form 45-106F3
Offering Memorandum for Qualifying Issuers

A. General Instructions
1. Only a “qualifying issuer” may use this form.

2. An issuer using this form to draft an offering memorandum must incorpor
reference certain parts of its existing continuous disclosure base. An issuer t es
not want to do this must use Form 45-106F2 Offering Memorandum for Non-Qu#ifying
Issuers. '\ A

3. Draft the offering memorandum so that it is easy to read a deerstand. Be
concise and use clear, plain language. Avoid technical terms. | hical terms are
necessary, provide definitions.

4. Address the items required by the form in the order s %ﬂt in the form. However,
it is not necessary to provide disclosure about an item th s not apply.

than that specifically required by the form. The ing memorandum is generally not
required to contain the level of detail and extgnt 0% disclosure required by a prospectus.
However, an offering memorandum must pr, g@ a prospective purchaser with sufficient

5. The issuer may include additional informati’ Q ﬁle offering memorandum other

information to make an informed investm cision.
6. The issuer may wrap the of% memorandum around a prospectus or similar
#ied to be disclosed by the offering memorandum

document. However, all matters neq

must be addressed and the (@79 memorandum must provide a cross-reference to
the page number or headin e wrapped document where the relevant information is
contained. The certificat t% offering memorandum must be modified to indicate that
the offering memorand%mcluding the document around which it is wrapped, does not
contain a misreprese@l n

7. It is an o%n e to make a misrepresentation in the offering memorandum. This

applies both @formation that is required by the form and to additional information that

is provid((lfw lude particulars of any material facts, which have not been disclosed

under gg~ef the Item numbers and for which failure to disclose would constitute a

mist, ntation in the offering memorandum. Refer also to section 3.8(3) of Policy

Stadment to Regulation 45-106 respecting Prospectus Exemptions (Decision 2009-
\ -0119, 2009-09-04) for additional information.

8. Refer to Regulation 43-101 respecting Standards of Disclosure for Mineral

Projects (chapter V-1.1, r. 15) (Regulation 43-101) when disclosing scientific or
technical information for a mineral project of the issuer.

Regulation 45-106 May 5, 2015 PAGE 120



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM MAY 5, 2015 TO NOVEMBER 16, 2015

9. If an oil and gas issuer is disclosing information about its oil and gas activities, it
must ensure that the information is disclosed in accordance with Part 4 and Part 5 of
Regulation 51-101 respecting Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities
(chapter V-1.1, r. 23) (Regulation 51-101). Under section 5.3 of Regulation 51-101
disclosure of reserves or resources must be consistent with the reserves and resources
terminology and categories set out in the Canadian Oil and Gas Evaluation Handbook.
For the purposes of this instruction, references to reporting issuer in Part 4 and Part 5@:‘)
Regulation 51-101 will be deemed to include all issuers. '\Q

10.  Securities legislation restricts what can be told to investors about the i$6uer’s
intent to list or quote securities on an exchange or market. Refer to applic ®curities
legislation before making any such statements.

11. If an issuer uses this form in connection with a distributio
other than section 2.9 (offering memorandum) of Regulati
Prospectus Exemptions (chapter V-1.1, r. 21), the issuer mugt ify the disclosure in
item 12 to correctly describe the purchaser’s rights. If a;%chaser does not have

r an exemption
5-106 respecting

statutory or contractual rights of action in the event of a resentation in the offering
memorandum, that fact must be stated in bold on thejé age.

12. During the course of a distribution of @ies, any material forward-looking
information disseminated must only be thatN\which is set out in the offering
memorandum. If an extract of FOFI, as %ined in Regulation 51-102 respecting
Continuous Disclosure Obligations (ch 'é' V-1.1, r. 24) (Regulation 51-102), is
disseminated, the extract or summaﬂ?ist be reasonably balanced and have a
cautionary note in boldface stating¢hat the information presented is not complete and
that complete FOFI is included in\&h fering memorandum.

B. Financial Statemen@

1. All financial stat ts incorporated by reference into the offering memorandum
must comply with ation 51-102 and Regulation 52-107 respecting Acceptable
Accounting Princj nd Auditing Standards (chapter V-1.1, r. 25).

2. Forwa@oking information included in an offering memorandum must comply
with sect] .2 of Regulation 51-102 and must include the disclosure described in
sectio =3 of Regulation 51-102. In addition to the foregoing, FOFI or a financial
outl ach as defined in Regulation 51-102, included in an offering memorandum

uN{comply with Part 4B of Regulation 51-102. Additional guidance may be found in
\% Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure

ligations (Decision 2006-PDG-0223, 2006-12-12).
C. Required Updates to the Offering Memorandum
1. If the offering memorandum does not incorporate by reference the issuer's AlF,
and audited financial statements for its most recently completed financial year, update

Regulation 45-106 May 5, 2015 PAGE 121



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM MAY 5, 2015 TO NOVEMBER 16, 2015

the offering memorandum for any financial statements that are required to be filed prior
to the distribution to incorporate by reference the documents as soon as the documents
are filed on SEDAR.

2. Except for documents referred to in C.1, the offering memorandum does not
have to be updated to incorporate by reference interim financial reports or other
documents referred to in D.1 unless it is necessary to do so to prevent the offeri
memorandum from containing a misrepresentation. '\Q

D. Information about the Issuer q/

4
1. Existing Documents Incorporated by Reference - In additi '?6 any other
document that an issuer may choose to incorporate by referenc é; issuer must
incorporate the following documents:

(@) the issuer’s AlF for the issuer’'s most recently ¢ ed financial year for
which annual financial statements are either required to be f r have been filed,

(b) material change reports, except confide@aterial change reports, filed
since the end of the financial year in respect of whigly t\e Issuer’s AlF is filed,

(c) the interim financial report for th fsguer’s most recently completed interim
period for which the issuer prepares an inte 'ﬁnancial report that is required to be filed
or have been filed and which ends aftqt\\h® most recently completed financial year
referred to in (d),

(d)  the comparative ﬁ%z%? statements, together with the accompanying
auditor’s report, for the issuer’ t recently completed financial year for which annual
financial statements are re@o be filed or have been filed,

(e) if, before ffering memorandum is filed, financial information about the
issuer for a financial (Q€ybd more recent than the period for which financial statements
are required undg€B=L(c) and (d) is publicly disseminated by, or on behalf of, the issuer
through news ease or otherwise, the content of the news release or public
communica&i)@

management’s discussion and analysis (MD&A) as required under
Re 51-102 for the period specified in D.1(c) and D.1(d),

(g0 each business acquisition report required to be filed under

\ gulation 51-102 for acquisitions completed since the beginning of the financial year in

respect of which the issuer’'s AIF is filed, unless the issuer incorporated the business

acquisition report by reference into its AIF for its most recently completed financial year

for which annual financial statements are either required to be filed or have been filed,

or incorporated at least 9 months of the acquired business or related businesses
operations into the issuer’s most recent audited financial statements,
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(h)  any information circular filed by the issuer since the beginning of the
financial year in respect of which the issuer's most recent AIF is filed, other than an
information circular prepared in connection with an annual general meeting if the issuer
has filed and incorporated by reference an information circular for a subsequent annual
general meeting,

0] if the issuer has oil and gas activities, as defined in Regulation Srlé‘
respecting Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities, the mosq(g ent
Form 51-101F1, Form 51-101F2 and Form 51-101F3, filed by an SEC issuer, unldgs

\
0] the issuer's current AlF is in the form of Form 51-1Q F%,)r

(i) the issuer is otherwise exempted from Q)equirements of
Regulation 51-101,

()] any other disclosure document which the iss
undertaking to a provincial and territorial securities r
since the beginning of the financial year in respect of
is filed, and

as filed pursuant to an
ory authority or regulator
the issuer’'s most recent AlF

(k) any other disclosure document f’tﬁs type listed above that the issuer has
filed pursuant to an exemption from any rq& ment under securities legislation since
the beginning of the financial year in re%c of which the issuer’'s most recent AlF is
filed.

2. Mineral Property — If aqf;lt QI part of the funds available as a result of the
distribution is to be expendedQn W particular mineral property and if the issuer's most
recent AIF does not contai@sclosure required under section 5.4 of Form 51-102F2
for the property or that issure is inadequate or incorrect due to changes, disclose
the information require%ﬁer section 5.4 of Form 51-102F2.

An issuer ncorporate any additional document provided that the document
is available for g on the SEDAR website and that, on request by a purchaser, the
issuer provid@ copy of the document to the purchaser, without charge.

M.O. 2 , Sch. 45-106F3; M.O. 2010-17, s. 7; M.O. 2015-05, s. 23.

<
\}
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FORM 45-106F4

WARNING
Risk Acknowledgement
| acknowledge that this is a risky investment.
- lam investing entirely at my own risk. QJ

- No securities regulatory authority or regulator has evaluated or endorsed the meri '&\
these securities or the disclosure in the offering memorandum.

- The person selling me these securities is not registered with a SECUI’ItIESN latory
authority or regulator and has no duty to tell me whether this investment is syRable” for me.
[Instruction: Delete if sold by registrant]

- 1 will not be able to sell these securities except in very limited circu @ces. | may never
be able to sell these securities. [Instruction: Delete if issuer is reporting] &

- The securities are redeemable, but | may only be abl Qéjeem them in limited
circumstances. [Instruction: Delete if securities are not redeemableO

- | will not be able to sell these securities for 4 months.&truction: Delete if issuer is not
reporting or if the purchaser is a Manitoba resident]

-l could lose all the money | invest. c
| am investing $ [total considerat@ total; this includes any amount | am obliged
to pay in future. [name of€i r] will pay $ [amount of fee or
commission ] of this to , ame of person selling the securities] as a fee or

commission. QD .

I acknowledge that this is a risky ¢ayeStment and that | could lose all the money | invest.
N
Date Signature of Ptm%er

N

Print name of Purchz@) S
Sign 2 copies of t&do ument. Keep one copy for your records.
&
v

You ha usiness days to cancel your purchase [Instruction: The issuer must
corz@ is section before giving the form to the purchaser.]

$ To do so, send a notice to [name of issuer] stating that you want to cancel your

\ rchase. You must send the notice before midnight on the 2nd business day after you
sign the agreement to purchase the securities. You can send the notice by fax or email
or deliver it in person to [name of issuer] at its business address. Keep a copy of the
notice for your records.

Issuer Name and Address:
Fax: E-mail:
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You are buying Exempt Market Securities

They are called exempt market securities because 2 parts of securities law do
not apply to them. If an issuer wants to sell exempt market securities to you:

- the issuer does not have to give you a prospectus (a document tl%
describes the investment in detail and gives you some legal protections), and '\Q

- the securities do not have to be sold by an investment dealer regi€tered
with a securities regulatory authority or regulator. '\ S

There are restrictions on your ability to resell exempt market ities. Exempt
market securities are more risky than other securities.

You will receive an offering memorandum Read the offerj morandum carefully
because it has important information about the issuer aR&Ms securities. Keep the
offering memorandum because you have rights based alk to a lawyer for details

about these rights. s

You will not receive advice [Instruction: Deleteg @d by registrant]

You will not get professional advice & t whether the investment is suitable for
you. But you can still seek that advice frqa“registered adviser or registered dealer. In
Alberta, Manitoba, Northwest Territo Nunavut, Prince Edward Island, Québec,
Saskatchewan and Yukon to qual%q‘s an eligible investor, you may be required to
obtain that advice. \\

The securities you are bu are not listed [Instruction: Delete if securities are listed
or quoted]

The securitie E; are buying are not listed on any stock exchange, and they
may never be lis u may never be able to sell these securities.

The issuer o@ur securities is a non-reporting issuer [Instruction: Delete if issuer is
reporting

on-reporting issuer does not have to publish financial information or notify the
p lﬂ of changes in its business. You may not receive ongoing information about this
\é‘er

For more information on the exempt market, call your local securities regulatory
authority or regulator. [Instruction: Insert the name, telephone number and website
address of the securities regulatory authority or regulator in the jurisdiction in which you
are selling these securities.]
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[Instruction: The purchaser must sign 2 copies of this form. The purchaser and the
issuer must each receive a signed copy.]

M.O. 2009-05, Sch. 45-106F4.
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FORM 45-106F5

WARNING

Risk Acknowledgement Saskatchewan Close Personal Friends and Close Business
Associates

| acknowledge that this is a risky investment:

-l am investing entirely at my own risk.

- No securities regulatory authority or regulator has evaluated or endorsed the mer&f
these securities. Q) N

- The person selling me these securities is not registered with a securj#es reégulatory
authority or regulator and has no duty to tell me whether this investment is le for me.
[Instruction: Delete if sold by registrant] @

- I'will not be able to sell these securities except in very limited cir; nces. | may never
be able to sell these securities. [Instruction: Delete if issuer is reportir%
redeem them in limited

- The securities are redeemable, but I may only be
circumstances. [Instruction: Delete if securities are not redeemab

- 1 will not be able to sell these securities for 4 mo@. [Instruction: Delete if issuer is not
reporting]

-l could lose all the money | invest. '\Q,)

- | do not have a 2-day right to cancel r@l( chase of these securities or the statutory rights
of action for misrepresentation | would have if | Were purchasing the securities under a prospectus.
| do have a 2-day right to cancel my pur & of these securities if | receive an amended offering
document.

| am investing $ @nsideraﬂon] in total; this includes any amount | am obliged

to pay in future.

| am a close personal frj close business associate of [state name], who is a
[state i ounder, director, executive officer or control person] of

[state name of iss its affiliate — if an affiliate state “an affiliate of the issuer” and give the

issuer’'s namel.

I acknowlecegg%&t | am purchasing based on my close relationship with [state
name of r, director, executive officer or control person] whom | know well enough and for a
suffici erfod of time to be able to assess her/his capabilities and trustworthiness.

I a%owledge that this is a risky investment and that | could lose all the money I invest.
I

Date Signature of Purchaser

Print name of Purchaser

Sign 2 copies of this document. Keep one copy for your records.
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You are buying Exempt Market Securities

They are called exempt market securities because 2 parts of securities law do
not apply to them. If an issuer wants to sell exempt market securities to you:

- the issuer does not have to give you a prospectus (a document tl%
describes the investment in detail and gives you some legal protections), and '\Q

- the securities do not have to be sold by an investment dealer regi€tered
with a securities regulatory authority or regulator. '\ S

There are restrictions on your ability to resell exempt market ities. Exempt
market securities are more risky than other securities. Q

You may not receive any written information about the is @r its business

If you have any questions about the issuer op~X3Sbusiness, ask for written
clarification before you purchase the securities. should consult your own
professional advisers before investing in the securijigs.
You will not receive advice [Instruction: Delgtoe'ﬁ%old by registrant]

Unless you consult your own prof %nal advisers, you will not get professional
advice about whether the investment is ble for you.

The issuer of your securities |iﬁ$@h-report|ng issuer [Instruction: Delete if issuer is
reporting]

public of changes in it iness. You may not receive ongoing information about this
issuer. You can on the securities of a non-reporting issuer in very limited
circumstances. Y, y never be able to sell these securities.

A non-reporting isgue¥oes not have to publish financial information or notify the
§II

The securiti@ou are buying are not listed [Instruction: Delete if securities are listed

or quotegg
® securities you are buying are not listed on any stock exchange, and they
awever be listed. There may be no market for these securities. You may never be
\% to sell these securities.

For more information on the exempt market, refer to the Saskatchewan Financial
Services Commission’s website at http://www.sfsc.gov.sk.ca.
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[Instruction: The purchaser must sign 2 copies of this form. The purchaser and the
issuer must each receive a signed copy.]

M.O. 2009-05, Sch. 45-106F5.
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FORM 45-106F6
BRITISH COLUMBIA REPORT OF EXEMPT DISTRIBUTION

This is the form required under section 6.1 of Regulation 45-106 respecting Prospectus
Exemptions for a report of exempt distribution in British Columbia.

Iltem 1: Issuer/underwriter name and contact information ‘]/

NO*
e the full name of the issuer of the security distributed. Incluiﬁ%;ormer name of

Issuer/underwriter information

A. State the following:

the issuer if its name has changed since this report was | d;
e the issuer’s website address; and
e the address, telephone number and email address Issuer’s head office.

B. If an underwriter is completing this report, state th@ing:

e the full name of the underwriter; &O
e the underwriter's website address; anckQ.I
e the address, telephone number ant}\

office. (19

Item 2: Reporting issuer status QJ«

ail address of the underwriter's head

A. State whether the issuer is@ not a reporting issuer and, if reporting, each of the
jurisdictions in which itis r g.

B. If the issuer is estment fund managed by an investment fund manager
registered in a juri '@n of Canada, name the investment fund manager and state the
jurisdiction(s) w ITis registered.

Item 3: Isséyi ndustry

Indica§e‘industry of the issuer by checking the appropriate box below.

Q [ ] Bio-tech Mining
\é Financial Services [ ] exploration/development
[ ] investment companies and funds [_] production
[] mortgage investment companies [ | Oil and gas
[] securitized products issuers

[ ] Forestry [ ] Real estate
[ ] Hi-tech [ ] Utilities
[ ] Industrial [ ] Other (describe)
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Item 4: Insiders and promoters of non-reporting issuers

If the issuer is an investment fund managed by an investment fund manager registered
in a jurisdiction of Canada, do not complete this table.

If the issuer is not a reporting issuer in any jurisdiction of Canada, comghlgé%e
following table by providing information about each insider and promoter of the
If the insider or promoter is not an individual, complete the table for

officers of the insider or promoter.

suer.

K@mrs and

Information about insiders and promoters

Vo~

Full name, municipality
and country of principal
residence

All positions held (e.g.,
director, officer, promoter
and/or holder of more
than 10% of voting
securities)

Number and type of o8¢

securities of the i

controlled irécted,

on the di ion

date, in ng any

s s purchased
he distribution

‘Otal price paid for all
securities beneficially
owned or, directly or
indirectly controlled or
directed, on the
distribution date,
including any
securities purchased
under the distribution
(Canadian $)

NV

Details of distribution

Iltem 5: Distribution date

Item 6: Numberﬁ'{y

&

State the distribution datey I™Mhis report is being filed for securities distributed on more
than one distribution tate all distribution

pe of securities

For each St) distributed:

\J

dates.

&ibe the type of security;
Q te the total number of securities distributed. If the security is convertible or
exchangeable, describe the type of underlying security, the terms of exercise or
conversion and any expiry date; and
if the issuer is an investment fund managed by an investment fund manager

registered in a jurisdiction of Canada, state the exemption(s) relied on. If more
than one exemption is relied on, state the amount raised using each exemption.
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Item 7: Geographical information about purchasers

Complete the following table for each Canadian and foreign jurisdiction where
purchasers of the securities reside. Do not include in this table information about
securities issued as payment of commissions or finder’s fees disclosed under item 9 of
this report. The information provided in this table must reconcile with the information

provided in item 8 and Schedules | and II. QJ
| 4
Each Canadian and foreign jurisdiction | Number of Price per security Total dollarpsdid
where purchasers reside purchasers (Canadian $)* raised from
purch s4n the
juris
(per%an $)

&S

Total number of Purchasers

\

Total dollar value of distribution in all —

pitcatas (Carasion & G

Note 1: If securities are issued at different prices, list the highest and IONE= price for which the securities were sold.

Item 8: Information about purchasers &O

Instructions y\<(.)
QO

A. If the issuer is an investment furﬁa/managed by an investment fund manager
registered in a jurisdiction of Cangdayl6 not complete this table.

B. Information about the pur rs of securities under the distribution is required to be
disclosed in different tablesgQ\¥is report. Complete

e the following t@ each purchaser that is not an individual, and
e the tables Q~ edules | and Il of this report for each purchaser who is an
individua
Do not in in the tables information about securities issued as payment of
commis or finder’s fees disclosed under item 9 of this report.
C. gguer or underwriter completing this table in connection with a distribution using
emption in subparagraph 6.1(1)(j) of Regulation 45-106 respecting Prospectus
emptions may choose to replace the information in the first column with the total
number of purchasers, whether individuals or not, by jurisdiction. If the issuer or

underwriter chooses to do so, then the issuer or underwriter is not required to complete
the second column or the tables in Schedules | and II.
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Information about non-individual purchasers

Full name and address | Indicate if the Number and Total purchase | Exemption | Date of

of purchaser and name | purchaser is an | type of price relied on distribution
and telephone number | insider (I) of the | securities (Canadian $) (yyyy-mm-dd)
of a contact person issuer or a purchased

registrant (R)

&

a,

v
Commissions and finder's fees \Q)“

ltem 9: Commissions and finder’s fees Q/Q
Instructions &

A. Complete the following table by providing informati %eaeh person who has
received or will receive compensation in conne with the distribution(s).
Compensation includes commissions, discounts or ees or payments of a similar
nature. Do not include information about pay ts* for services incidental to the
distribution, such as clerical, printing, legal or aoQ Ing services.

B. If the securities being issued as compe %)n are or include convertible securities,
such as warrants or options, add a f te describing the terms of the convertible
securities, including the term and exercige price. Do not include the exercise price of
any convertible security in the t(ﬁﬁodollar value of the compensation unless the
securities have been converted.

O
Indicate if the Compensation paid or to be paid (cash and/or securities)
Full name person being
and address | compensated Securities
of the person | iS an insider Number and | Price per Exemption Total dollar
being (1) of the Cash type of security relied on and | value of
compensated | ISSuerora (Canadian $) | securities (Canadian $) | date of compensation
registrant (R) issued distribution (Canadian $)
(yyyy-mm-dd)
,L "
N — 4

~
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Certificate

On behalf of the [issuer/underwriter], | certify that the statements made in this report are
true.

Date:
Name of [issuer/underwriter] (please print) qi\
Print name, title and telephone number of person signing '\Q)‘s

Signature Q~
&

Instruction §

The person certifying this report must complete the inforr@(in the square brackets
by deleting the inapplicable word. For electronic fi@ 3 substitute a typewritten
signature for a manual signature. é

Item 10: Contact information &O

State the name, title and telephone numbq@the person who may be contacted with
respect to any questions regarding the@ ents of this report, if different than the
person signing the certificate.

IT IS AN OFFENCE TO MAKE m \EPRESENTATION IN THIS REPORT.
Notice — Collection and U@Bersonal information

The British Columbia S ities Commission collects and uses the personal information
required to be incIu in this report for the administration and enforcement of the
Securities Act. have any questions about the collection and use of this
information, coN@ct the British Columbia Securities Commission at the following
address:

Britis Qumbia Securities Commission
P.0,K0) 10142, Pacific Centre
7 est Georgia Street
écouver, British Columbia V7Y 1L2
lephone: (604) 899-6500

Toll free across Canada: 1-800-373-6393
Facsimile: (604) 899-6581
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Schedule |
Public information about purchasers who are individuals

A. If the issuer is an investment fund managed by an investment fund manager
registered in a jurisdiction of Canada, do not complete the following table or the table in
Schedule II.

B. Information about the purchasers of securities under the distribution is requirec&\l@b
disclosed in different tables in this report. Complete (]/

e the following table and the table in Schedule Il for each purchag@ho is an
individual, and
e the table in item 8 for each purchaser that is not an individual.Qg‘

Do not include in the tables information about securities i d as payment of
commissions or finder’s fees disclosed under item 9 of this re

exemption in subparagraph 6.1(1)(j) of Regulatio 106 respecting Prospectus
Exemptions may choose to replace the informatigg, it the first column of the table in
item 8 with the total number of purchasers, wh dividuals or not, by jurisdiction. If
the issuer or underwriter chooses to do so, thgn tMe issuer or underwriter is not required
to complete the following table or the table i& edule II.

D. The information in the following tabﬂjgavailable for public inspection at the British
Columbia Securities Commission dt@g‘ normal business hours.

C. An issuer or underwriter filing this report in conn(@th a distribution using the

N
Public info §|on about purchasers who are individuals

-

Unless exempted by the B+ olumbia Securities Commission, a person must not, directly or indirectly,
use the information in ble, in whole or in part, for any purpose other than research concerning the
Q issuer for the person’s own investment purpose.
Full name of @ ™ Indicate if the Number and type Total purchase | Date of distribution
purchaser C) purchaser is an of securities price (yyyy-mm-dd)
Q~ insider (1) of the purchased (Canadian $)
issuer or a
/ O registrant (R)

N
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Schedule Il
Confidential information about purchasers who are individuals

A. Complete the following table for each purchaser who is an individual. The information
in this table must reconcile with the table in Schedule I.

B. The information in the following table will not be placed on the public file of the Brit§5
Columbia Securities Commission. Q
aN

v
Confidential information about purchasers who are individuals '\Q)“

Full name, residential address and telephone number of purchaser éﬁption relied on
Va

A\

\&\

N11-316. s. 2: M.O. 2015-05. s. 23: M.O. 2015-06, s.@o

Q
<<‘*O
&
&
<
Ny
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FORM 45-106F7
INFORMATION MEMORANDUM FOR SHORT-TERM SECURITIZED PRODUCTS
DISTRIBUTED UNDER SECTION 2.35.1

Instructions

(2) Using language that is plain and easy to understand by the type of purchaser%
whom the issuer’s short-term securitized products are offered, provide the infor@
required by this form. No reference need be made to inapplicable items and(t SS
otherwise required by this form, negative answers may be omitted.

(2)  An information memorandum may be used to disclose inform 'orﬁ\about more
than one series or class of short-term securitized product. If so, the ure required
by this form must be provided for each series or class of short-ter %zuritized product
distributed under the information memorandum. %

3) This form requires disclosure of certain items, m %& or other information
referred to as “material”. Information is “material” if kno of it could reasonably be
expected to affect a reasonable investor’s decision w, to buy, sell or hold a short-
term securitized product.

4) Include a glossary that defines all te h’n%al terms, and includes the following
definition: ,\%

“sponsor’ means a person or(@p of affiliated persons that organizes or
initiates the formation of a conduit.

Item 1 Significant Parties “\

1.1. Provide the conduj sﬁ%al name.

1.2. Disclose the c@ it’s jurisdiction and form of organization.
1.3. Identify e ponsor of the conduit and disclose

(a ether or not it is a Canadian bank, Schedule Il foreign bank subsidiary
Il bank, and

or Sch

(b) if it is not a financial institution referred to in paragraph (a), whether there

government department or regulatory authority responsible for overseeing it and, if
plicable, the name of the government department or regulatory authority.

1.4. Briefly describe the conduit's structure, business and operations and the key
documents that establish the conduit and govern its business and operations.
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1.5. Identify each other party, excluding any liquidity provider or any credit
enhancement provider for whom disclosure is not required under item 4, that is primarily
responsible under the terms of the key documents referred to in section 1.4 for a
significant role in the conduit’s structure or operations and briefly describe that party’s
role.

Item 2 Structure QJ

Include one or more diagrams or descriptions that provide the q@iio\wng
information in summary form: Q)
N

@) how the conduit acquires assets and issues securitized p@ﬂ 3
(b) liquidity facilities available to the conduit as disclosed N 4;

(c) credit enhancements available to the conduit a%&sed in item 4;
(d) material agreements as disclosed in item 9 A

(e) the structure of one or more com %/pes of asset transactions into
which the conduit may enter. @

Item 3 Eligible assets and asset transac,@bs

3.1. Briefly describe the types of assé@nsactions into which the conduit expects to
enter. If applicable, state that the cﬁgi expects to finance the acquisition, origination
or refinancing of asset pools fyomwthe proceeds of issuing short-term securitized
products. Describe any other ods the conduit expects to employ to finance the
acquisition, origination or refiRNQ¥cing of asset pools.

3.2. Briefly describe% types of asset eligibility criteria the conduit applies or
entering into asset transactions.

anticipates applying
3.3. Briefly d&rl e the types of due diligence or verification procedures that the
conduit appli@r anticipates applying to asset transactions and asset pools.

3.4. describe the conduit’s approach to concentration limits, liquidity support
and t'enhancement in respect of its asset transactions and asset pools.

§ Disclose the types of assets that the conduit is permitted to hold in its asset
ols

3.6. Briefly describe how the conduit uses or anticipates using derivatives for the
purpose of hedging.
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Item 4 Interest alignment, program-wide liquidity support and program-wide
credit enhancement

4.1. Briefly describe how the interests of investors are aligned with the interests of the
conduit, the sponsor and the parties to asset transactions entered into by the conduit,
including any requirement of law that the conduit or the sponsor retain an interest in one
or more of the conduit’'s asset pools or be exposed to the credit risk of assets in one@s
more of the conduit’s asset pools.

4.2. Briefly describe any standard liquidity support arrangements the cond has
entered into or anticipates entering into, excluding liquidity support arra Qgents that
are particular to an asset transaction or asset pool. Include the following IMformation in
the description: @

(@) the name of each existing liquidity provider, s

(b) any minimum credit rating a liquidity prowde@n have under the terms
of the key documents referred to in section 1.4;

(c) the nature of the liquidity support; s

(d) a summary of the material term 6&ach liquidity agreement, including all
material conditions to or limitations on the'\ ation of a liquidity provider to provide

liquidity support; Q

(e) any limitations on the Iig}ﬁon of a liquidity provider to provide same-day

funding. \\

4.3. Briefly describe anyﬁgard credit enhancement arrangements that the conduit
has entered into or pates entering into, excluding credit enhancement
arrangements that are@ticular to an asset transaction or asset pool. Include the
following mformatlon description:

é a e of each existing credit enhancement provider;

minimum credit rating a credit enhancement provider must have under
the ter the key documents referred to in section 1.4;

Q (© the form of the credit enhancement;
\E (d) asummary of the material terms of each credit enhancement agreement,

including all material conditions to or limitations on the obligation of a credit
enhancement provider to provide credit support.
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Item 5 Ownership or security interests in asset pool and priority of payments

5.1. Disclose the ownership or security interest a holder of a short-term securitized
product will have in the conduit’s asset pools.

5.2. If any other party other than the conduit has or is anticipated to have an

ownership or security interest in one or more of the conduit’'s asset pools, brieQ:)S

describe the following: '\Q
(@) the party’s role in the conduit’s structure or operations; ‘]/

NO*

(c) the priority of its claims in the event of the conduit’s i%%ncy.

(b)  the nature of its interest in the asset pool;

Iltem 6 Compliance or termination events &

6.1. Briefly describe any events or circumstances that , pursuant to the terms of
the conduit’'s governing documents or material agrégts in item 9, constitute an
event of default or require the conduit to cease iss@; ort-term securitized products.

6.2. Briefly describe the types of methogls We conduit will use to monitor the
performance of or identify adverse chaq{ to an asset pool, such as portfolio
performance tests. Q
6.3. Briefly describe any other stglssl:r]ﬁ features that are intended to reduce the risk
of loss for a holder of the series g Clefss of short-term securitized products or to protect
the holder from material deteri n in respect of either or both of the following:

(@) the credit qgaMy*or performance of assets in an asset pool;

(b) the abil@ a party in Item 4 to perform its obligations to the conduit.

Item 7 %f@r;tion of short-term securitized product and offering
Des\r

@ the short-term securitized products to be distributed and the distribution
proced d include the following information:

(@) whether short-term securitized products will be issued in certificated
@istered or bearer) form or book-entry form and the delivery procedures;

(b)  whether short-term securitized products will be sold on a discount basis or
on an interest-bearing basis;

(c) the denominations in which short-term securitized products may be
issued;
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(d)  the permitted maturity period for the short-term securitized products, and
the ability of the conduit to extend maturity;

(e) the ability of either an investor to redeem prior to maturity or of the conduit
to repay prior to maturity;

() the maximum aggregate principal amount of short-term secu |Q§9
products permitted to be outstanding at any one time, or a statement that th ;Ts no
limit on the maximum aggregate principal amount of short-term securitized Egifilucts
outstanding at any one time; '\ )

(@) the key risks related to the conduit that could cause Qekay in or non-
payment of principal or interest on the short-term securitized prodn@

ltem 8 Additional information about the conduit &

8.1. Disclose if the conduit has issued and outstand'ﬁI r anticipates issuing, any
securities other than the series or class of short-terrﬁ ritized product to which the
information memorandum relates. If the conduj S issued and outstanding, or
anticipates issuing, any security other than the or class of short-term securitized
product to which the information memoranduyn rNates, describe that other security, its
credit rating, if applicable, and how it will raqR¢ I the event of insolvency of the conduit,

relative to the series or class of the condyf®s Short-term securitized product to which the
information memorandum relates.

. : A : .

8.2. Disclose how a potential u%aser can obtain access to disclosure that the
conduit is required to provi make reasonably available in connection with a
purchase of a short-term sec®Q¥zed product of the conduit.

8.3. Disclose how a er of a short-term securitized product of the conduit can
obtain access to the osure the conduit is required to provide or make reasonably
available to a holg€#e¥ a short-term securitized product of the conduit.

Item 9 Maé)@l agreements

9.1. t disclosed elsewhere in the information memorandum, identify and
su each agreement to which the conduit is a party and that is material to the
cgn it's business and operations, excluding agreements that are particular to an asset

action or asset pool.
9.2. If material and not disclosed elsewhere in the information memorandum,

describe the ability of a person to waive or modify the requirements, activities or
standards that would apply under an agreement referred to in section 9.1.
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Item 10 Date of information memorandum
State the date of the information memorandum.
Item 11 Representation that no misrepresentation
State the following in the information memorandum: Q<O

“This information memorandum does not contain a misrepresentation reié\hng
the conduit, its structure, or operations.

M.O. 2015-06, s. 11.
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FORM 45-106F8
MONTHLY DISCLOSURE REPORT FOR SHORT-TERM SECURITIZED PRODUCTS
DISTRIBUTED UNDER SECTION 2.35.1

Instructions

(2) Using language that is plain and easy to understand by the type of purchaser%
whom the issuer’s short-term securitized products are offered, provide the infor@
required by this form. No reference need be made to inapplicable items and(t SS
otherwise required by this form, negative answers may be omitted.
4

(2) A monthly disclosure report may be used to disclose information gbOX more than
one series or class of short-term securitized product. If so, the dis Qym required by
this form must be provided for each series or class of short-term itized product to
which the monthly disclosure report relates.

3) This form requires disclosure of certain items, m %& or other information
referred to as “material”. Information is “material” if kno of it could reasonably be
expected to affect a reasonable investor’s decision w, to buy, sell or hold a short-
term securitized product.

4) Include or incorporate by reference a gf&sary that defines all technical terms,
and includes each of the following definition <C)

“seller” means, in connection \l\ft}%ﬂ asset transaction, a person or group of
affiliated persons that originates Oﬁg Ires cash-flow generating assets and sells or

otherwise transfers, either directl irectly, an ownership or security interest in such
assets to a conduit, which ass$~ rm one or more asset pools of the conduit.

“sponsor’ means a%son or group of affiliated persons that organizes or
initiates the formation o@onduit.
Item 1 Summa y@uzonduit operations and asset pools

Provid%summary of the conduit’s operations and asset pools as at the last day
of the mog@ which the monthly disclosure report applies that includes the following:

@ the total face value of securitized product outstanding;
\é (b)  the aggregate outstanding asset balance of the asset pools;

(© the number of asset pools in which the conduit has an ownership or
security interest;
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(d) the number and dollar amount of new asset pools added during the
month or other information that in conjunction with information in the report for the prior
monthly period will permit an investor to easily calculate such amounts;

(e)  the number and dollar amount of asset pools repaid during the month or
other information that in conjunction with information in the report for the prior monthly
period will permit an investor to easily calculate such amounts; QJ

() each type of asset in the conduit's asset pools, expresse@I/ a
percentage of the total assets of the conduit’s asset pools. Q)
\ 4

Provide the following information regarding each of the co /s asset pools in
one or more tables or diagrams as at the last day of the mont hich the monthly
disclosure report applies:

ltem 2 Asset transaction information

(@) the type of assets in the asset pool, in:@% whether the assets are
revolving or amortizing; é

(b) an identifier such as an asset pool)ﬁ t transaction or seller number;

(© the industry of the person or q@) of affiliated persons that originated the

assets; Q
(1/

(d)  whether each seller I applicable performance guarantor has an
investment grade rating; \\

(e) the amount o@onduit commitment to acquire assets from a seller for

the asset pool; ;
the bal

() @3 outstanding on the asset pool;
(9) &:(@I;ble, the number of assets or obligors in the asset pool.
Item 3 @ ransaction credit enhancement
ide the following information regarding each of the conduit's asset
tr ctions in one or more tables as at the last day of the month to which the monthly
élosure report applies:

(@) the form of each credit enhancement;

(b)  the amount of credit enhancement expressed in either of the following
forms:
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0] a dollar amount;
(i) a percentage, including the basis of presentation.
Item 4 Asset transaction performance

Provide the following information regarding each of the conduit's as
transactions in one or more tables as at the last day of the month to which the m

disclosure report applies: ‘]/
(@) the default or loss ratio for the month, including the basis of p@mation;
(b) information with respect to default experience both f most recent
period and over an extended period of time in the form of ratios rwise, provided

on a consistent basis for that asset transaction in each monthly d@ ure report;

(© defaults for the month relative to available crtﬂ@ﬁhancement.
Item 5 Compliance and termination events \:O

Disclose the occurrence of any events (@umstances that the conduit would
reasonably expect to have a significant adverseNeffect on the payment of principal or
interest on the series or class of short-term %’eritized product or require the conduit to
cease issuing short-term securitized prod@s.
Item 6 Report Information QJ“

State each of the follow \\

(@) date of the ;

(b) period @ ed by the report;

(c) co%c: information, including name, phone number and email address of
a contact pel@for the conduit.
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FORM 45-106F9
FORM FOR INDIVIDUAL ACCREDITED INVESTORS

WARNING!

the money you pay for this investment.

This investment is risky. Don’t invest unless you can afford to lose all

AN

S

SECTION 1 TO BE COMPLETED BY THE ISSUER OR SELLING SECURITY HOLDER

1. About your investment

Type of securities: [Instruction: Include a short description, Issuer:

N\
e.g., common shares.] &%
Z,

Purchased from: [Instruction: Indicate whether securities are purchase@%'fhe issuer or a selling

security holder.]

O

N
SECTIONS 2 TO 4 TO BE COMPLETED BY THE PURCHA@
V4

2. Risk acknowledgement

'\J

This investment is risky. Initial that you underst t:

Your
initials

Risk of loss — You could lose your entire i@astment of $ . [Instruction: Insert the
total dollar amount of the investment.]

Liquidity risk — You may not be a@“ﬁell your investment quickly — or at all.

Lack of information — You mgﬁcelve little or no information about your investment.

Lack of advice — You wi eceive advice from the salesperson about whether this
investment is suitabl unless the salesperson is registered. The salesperson is the
person who meets Q} r provides information to, you about making this investment. To check
whether the sal srs n is registered, go to www.aretheyregistered.ca.

V]

3. Accredited investor status

You m@et at least one of the following criteria to be able to make this investment. Initial
the %e ent that applies to you. (You may initial more than one statement.) The person
idetified in section 6 is responsible for ensuring that you meet the definition of accredited
\\estor. That person, or the salesperson identified in section 5, can help you if you have
guestions about whether you meet these criteria.

Your
initials

e Your net income before taxes was more than $200,000 in each of the 2 most recent
calendar years, and you expect it to be more than $200,000 in the current calendar year.
(You can find your net income before taxes on your personal income tax return.)

e Your net income before taxes combined with your spouse’s was more than $300,000 in
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each of the 2 most recent calendar years, and you expect your combined net income
before taxes to be more than $300,000 in the current calendar year.

e Either alone or with your spouse, you own more than $1 million in cash and securities,
after subtracting any debt related to the cash and securities.

e Either alone or with your spouse, you have net assets worth more than $5 million. (Your

net assets are your total assets (including real estate) minus your total debt.) l
4. Your name and signature
By signing this form, you confirm that you have read this form and you understand the risks of ipg this
investment as identified in this form. G\
4 u
First and last name (please print): A '\
Signature: Date: Q X
aXy

SECTION 5 TO BE COMPLETED BY THE SALESPERSON

5. Salesperson information

v

[Instruction: The salesperson is the person who meets with, or provi \ﬁormation to, the purchaser with
respect to making this investment. That could include a representaN f the issuer or selling security
holder, a registrant or a person who is exempt from the regist}at\io requirement.]

First and last name of salesperson (please print): &U

Telephone: '\(O Email:
-

Name of firm (if registered): ﬂQ

SECTION 6 TO BE COMPLETED BY THEGS‘S}‘JER OR SELLING SECURITY HOLDER

6. For more information about this investment

For investment in a non-investmegxo?
[Insert name of issuer/selling sgc holder]
[Insert address of issuer/seléecurity holder]
[Insert contact person na applicable]
[Insert telephone nu

[Insert email addre

[Insert website @ess, if applicable]

For inves an investment fund
[Insert @ of investment fund]
[Ins e of investment fund manager]
INgerttaddress of investment fund manager]
ert telephone number of investment fund manager]
[Insert email address of investment fund manager]
[If investment is purchased from a selling security holder, also
insert name, address, telephone number and email address of selling security holder here]

For more information about prospectus exemptions, contact your local securities regulator. You
can find contact information at www.securities-administrators.ca.
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Form instructions:

1. This form does not mandate the use of a specific font size or style but the font must be legible.

2. The information in sections 1, 5 and 6 must be completed before the purchaser completes and signs
the form.

3. The purchaser must sign this form. Each of the purchaser and the issuer or selling security hol eQ
must receive a copy of this form signed by the purchaser. The issuer or selling security holdgnis
required to keep a copy of this form for 8 years after the distribution. ?1/

M.O. 2015-05, s. 22.

TRANSITIONAL PROVISIONS §@

M.O. 2015-06, 2015 G.O. 2, 755 A
12. Transitional provisions O

(1)  Aninformation memorandum that is provi @o or made reasonably available to
a purchaser pursuant to paragraph 2.35.4 15&), as enacted by section 8 of this
Regulation, need only be prepared in accordépe with Form 45-106F7 for a distribution
of a short term securitized product that ta@ ace on or after November 5, 2015.

(2) A monthly disclosure report that isYprovided to or made reasonably available to a
holder of a short-term securitizecy pYaditict pursuant to an undertaking or agreement in
writing required by paragraph 2788.4(1)(b), as enacted by section 8 of this Regulation,
need not be prepared in acc ce with Form 45-106F8 for an asset transaction that a
conduit entered into on or t&e November 5, 2015.

M.O. 2015-05, 2015 @ , 7145

24. Except inQn rio, this Regulation comes into force on May 5, 2015.

25. In YO, this Regulation comes into force on the later of the following:
@ May 5, 2015 and

\

(2) the day on which subsection 12(2) of Schedule 26 of the Budget
asures Act, 2009 is proclaimed in force.

M.O. 2010-17, 2010 G.O. 2, 3918

8. This Regulation only applies in respect of an offering memorandum or an
amendment to an offering memorandum of an issuer if that offering memorandum or
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amendment includes or incorporates by reference financial statements of the issuer in
respect of periods relating to financial years beginning on or after January 1, 2011.

However, this Regulation may be applied by an issuer to a document referred to
in the first paragraph which includes or incorporates by reference financial statements of
the issuer in respect of periods relating to a financial year that begins before
January 1, 2011 if the immediately preceding financial year ends no earlier t
December 21, 2010 and if the issuer is relying on the exemption in section %‘t
Regulation 52-107 respecting Acceptable Accounting Principles and iting
Standards.

Bulletin de I'Autorité: 2009-09-25, Vol. 6 n° 38

Decision 2009-PDG-0117, 2009-09-04 &
M.O. 2009-05, 2009 G.O. 2, 3362A ;@

Amendments A
Decision 2010-PDG-0216, 2010-11-22 \:O
Bulletin de I'Autorité: 2010-12-17, Vol. 7 n° 50

M.O. 2010-17, 2010 G.O. 2, 3918 &O

Decision 2011-PDG-070, 2011-05-30 §%

Bulletin de I'Autorité: 2011-07-01, Vol. 8
A.M. 2011-02, 2011 G.O. 2, 1418 (l/

Bulletin de I’Autorité: 2013-05- ol. 10, n° 21
M.O. 2013-09, 2013 G.O. 2 6

Decision 2015-PDG-0 015-03-17
Bulletin de I’Autorité : -04-30, Vol. 12 n° 17

M.O. 2015-05, 2 .0. 2,745

Decision 2013-PDG-0068, 201%—

Decision 201@36-0041, 2015-03-24

Bulletin d (A)l Orité : 2015-04-30, Vol. 12 n° 17
M.O. 2@@6, 2015 G.O. 2, 755

<
\}
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